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looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that will or may 
occur in the future.

Accordingly, actual results may differ materially from those set out in the forward-looking statements as a result of a variety of 
factors including, without limitation: changes in interest and exchange rates, commodity prices and other economic conditions; 
negotiations with customers relating to renewal of contracts and future volumes and prices; events affecting international 
security, including global health issues and terrorism; changes in regulatory environment; and the outcome of litigation. The 
Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise. Pages 3 to 60 inclusive consist of a directors’ report and directors’ remuneration report 
that have been drawn up and presented in accordance with and in reliance upon applicable English company law 
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such law.
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Industry acronyms

ACJ Airbus Corporate Jetliner

AWARS Authorised Warranty and Repair Station

APU Auxiliary Power Unit

BBJ Boeing Business Jet

B&GA Business and General Aviation

CRO Component Repair and Overhaul

ERO Engine Repair and Overhaul

FBO Fixed Base Operation

GSE Ground Support Equipment

MRO Maintenance Repair and Overhaul

OEM Original Equipment Manufacturer

RIR Recordable Incident Rate

RTC Regional Turbine Centre

VLJ Very Light Jet



BBA Aviation is a leading global aviation support and 
aftermarket services provider.

Our businesses are well positioned in markets with 
long-term growth prospects. They strive to continuously 
improve their service and product offerings and work to 
exceed customer expectations.

With customers, technologies, know-how and support 
services in common, our businesses consistently look 
for ways of working together for greater gain.

Our people are the foundation of our success. We aim 
to be an employer of choice, acting with integrity and 
respect, in a safe and sustainable working environment 
and empowering our employees to deliver exceptional 
performance.

This focus is core to our overarching objective of 
delivering exceptional, long-term, sustainable value 
to all our stakeholders.
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£m (other than percentage and per share amounts in pence)   2009 2008 change

Revenue   1,080.8 1,156.1 (7)% 

Underlying EBITDA**    139.3 143.3 (3)%

Underlying operating profit*    100.5 109.7 (8)%

Operating profit   82.3 104.7 (21)%

Underlying operating margin   9.3% 9.5%

Net interest   (22.3) (20.5)

Underlying profit before tax   78.2 89.2 (12)% 

Exceptional items   (18.2) (5.0) 

Profit before tax   60.0 84.2 (29)%

Profit for the period   45.5 62.9 (28)%

Earnings per ordinary share

Basic

Adjusted†    14.6p 16.1p (9)% 

Unadjusted   11.4p 15.3p (25)%

Diluted 

Adjusted†   14.4p 16.0p (10)% 

Unadjusted   11.3p 15.2p (26)%

Dividends per ordinary share   7.6p 7.6p – 

Cash generated by operations    190.4 143.0 33% 

Free cash flow***   137.5 77.2 78% 

Net debt   (391.6) (554.4)

Net debt to EBITDA****   2.8x 2.9x 

* operating profi t before exceptional items

**   underlying  operating profi t before depreciation and amortisation

***  cash generated by operations plus dividends from associates, less tax, interest, preference dividends and net capital expenditure (excluding 

expenditure on Ontic licences)

****  in 2008 net debt was translated at average exchange rates for the purpose of this calculation, in accordance with the Group’s covenant calculation 

methodology for its bank facilities

† earnings per share before exceptional items

The defi nitions as outlined above are consistently applied throughout the fi nancial statements.

Revenue

£1,080.8m
Underlying Operating Profi t* 

£100.5m
Earnings per Share†

14.6p
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Results

I am pleased to report that, as we expected, BBA Aviation has delivered a strong relative performance 

in 2009 despite the continued cyclical downturn in our major markets. We have made good 

underlying progress with market share gains, contract wins and new authorisations. We have 

managed our cost base eff ectively to improve our underlying operational effi  ciency and to limit the 

impact of volume declines on fi nancial performance. 

Revenue for 2009 fell by 7%, with our businesses impacted by the diffi  cult economic climate. However, 

we continued to outperform the market with an organic revenue decline (excluding the impact of 

exchange rates, fuel prices and acquisitions and disposals) of 10%, which contrasts with market 

reductions of 19% in US business and general aviation activity and 14% in US commercial activity.

Underlying operating profi t of £100.5 million was 8% lower (2008: £109.7 million) with the impact of 

the fall in revenue largely off set by cost reduction initiatives and movements in exchange rates.

Adjusted earnings per share were 14.6p (2008: 16.1p).

The key area of focus in 2009 was cash generation and the reduction of net debt. We have clearly 

demonstrated the strongly cash generative nature of BBA Aviation with free cash fl ow up 78% 

to £137.5 million (2008: £77.2 million) due principally to a working capital infl ow of £57.9 million 

(2008: £3.8 million) and reduced capital expenditure of £18.7 million (2008: £30.9 million). Net debt was 

reduced to £391.6 million (2008: £554.4 million), including a foreign exchange gain of £55.6 million. 

The attention to cost control and debt reduction has ensured that despite the market downturn and 

lower activity levels, the Group’s leverage ratio (net debt to EBITDA) improved in the year to 2.8 times 

(2008: 2.9 times).

As expected, BBA Aviation delivered a strong relative performance in 2009 despite 
the continued cyclical downturn in our major markets. We have made good 
underlying progress and have managed our cost base eff ectively to improve our 
underlying operational effi  ciency and to limit the impact of volume declines on 
fi nancial performance. We have clearly demonstrated the fl exibility and strongly 
cash generative nature of BBA Aviation and materially reduced our net debt.

The Group is well positioned to benefi t from a cyclical upturn and we remain 
confi dent about the outlook and attractive secular growth prospects for our markets.

Chairman’s Statement
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We took signifi cant action in the second half of 2008 and fi rst half of 2009 to address the cost base of 

the business. These cost reduction initiatives related primarily to headcount reduction, as well as the 

tight control of all discretionary spending. These actions contributed approximately £25.0 million 

of savings in 2009 and the incremental benefi t of these savings is expected to be approximately 

£5.0 million in 2010. 

Dividend

A fi nal dividend of 5.3p has been recommended by the Board (2008: 5.3p) leaving the dividend for the 

full year unchanged at 7.6p.

Board and Employees

In January 2010 it was announced that Andrew Wood will be retiring as Group Finance Director with 

eff ect from 29 April 2010. Andrew will be succeeded by Mark Hoad, currently Group Financial 

Controller. We welcome Mark to the Board and thank Andrew for his invaluable contribution to BBA 

Aviation over the last nine years. Andrew played a critical role in the evolution of the business from a 

broadly based conglomerate to a focused global aviation support and aftermarket services provider. 

We wish Andrew all the best for the future.

It was also announced that John Roques will retire as a non-executive director on 29 April 2010, having 

served as a member of the Board since 1999. John will be succeeded as Senior Independent Director 

by Nick Land and as Chairman of the Nomination Committee by me. I wish to thank John for his 

considerable contribution, in particular for his signifi cant input as the previous Chairman of the 

Audit Committee. 

BBA Aviation’s achievements this year are evidence of the unstinting eff orts of our dedicated 

employees in continuing to build long-term sustainable value for all our stakeholders and I am 

grateful to them for their contribution.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Corporate Social Responsibility is fundamental to BBA Aviation’s vision, mission and values and we 

strive to manage our impact on, and contribute positively to, society and the environment through 

the operation of our companies and the conduct of our personnel. Safety is a priority for BBA Aviation 

and we have continued to make improvements that have resulted in the Group-wide Recordable 

Incident Rate for 2009 being at its lowest rate since we started to compile statistics in 2002 and a 15% 

improvement over 2008. 

In 2009 we continued our work to embed our mission, values and behaviours at all levels of the 

organisation, which is changing how people think and act throughout BBA Aviation. We believe this 

is a key business diff erentiator and fundamental to delivering sustainable value creation for all 

stakeholders in the future.

Outlook

There were preliminary indications in the last quarter of 2009 that we are through the worst of the 

downturn in business and general aviation fl ying hours, as Signature returned to modest organic 

volume growth. This has continued in the fi rst few weeks of 2010, although the nature and profi le of 

the recovery remains unclear. Our Flight Support businesses will be the fi rst to benefi t from any 

sustained recovery in fl ight activity, but the improvement in our later-cycle Aftermarket businesses 

will take longer to be realised. We will continue to control our cost base, drive operational improvement 

and focus on debt reduction and cash generation. Management actions taken over the last two years 

have positioned the Group to benefi t from the cyclical upturn and we remain confi dent about the 

outlook, attractive secular growth prospects and consolidation opportunities in our major markets.

Michael Harper
Chairman
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Our Marketplace

BBA Aviation is a leading global aviation support and aftermarket services provider

BBA Aviation plc
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Business and General Aviation

We are focused primarily on servicing aircraft in the business and general aviation (B&GA) fl eet, which 

is impacted by the levels of fl ying activity and, in particular, the number of hours fl own. Deliveries of 

new aircraft give us an indication of future fl eet growth and demand for services, and the proportion 

of the B&GA fl eet available for sale is a medium term indicator of demand.

Following 15 years of sustained growth in traditionally cyclical B&GA fl ying hours, there was a severe 

decline in this, our major market, in 2008 and 2009. At the trough of the US market in the fi rst half of 

2009 the monthly decline in B&GA movements from the 2007 peak reached 34%. The European 

market followed a similar pattern although the peak to trough decline was marginally lower at 23%. 

The rate of decline moderated during the second half of 2009 with an overall 19% decline in US 

market activity compared to 2008. There was evidence at the end of 2009 that B&GA fl ying activity is 

beginning to recover as utilisation rates start to rise and the number of new and second hand business 

jets for sale is gradually falling.

The period from 2004 to 2008 saw unprecedented growth in the production of business aircraft. The 

economic turmoil resulted in a sharp decline in the number of business aircraft deliveries in 2009. 

External industry analysts are projecting further reductions until 2011/2012 and the peak levels of 

business aircraft sales seen in 2007 and 2008 will not be seen again until the middle of this decade. 

However, even at these reduced delivery levels the fl eet continues to grow in absolute terms, and 

analysts expect that approximately 12,000 business aircraft will be built over the next nine years, 

which represents a 28% expansion of the existing fl eet net of retirements.

Business Jet and Turboprop Deliveries
 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Turboprop 375 412 459 535 265

Turbojet 737 862 1,021 1,139 834

Total 1,112 1,274 1,480 1,674 1,099

Source: GAMA

Despite the cyclical downturn, business jet original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) such as 

Gulfstream, Bombardier, Embraer, Cessna and Hawker Beechcraft continue the development of the 

next generation of business aircraft to meet medium and long-term market demand and service 

entry for the Gulfstream G650, Learjet 85 and Embraer 450/500 is scheduled for 2012 and 2013. A small 

number of Very Light Jets (VLJs) were delivered in 2009, mainly Cessna Mustangs and Embraer 

Phenom 100s, which we believe confi rms our view that VLJs will remain an interesting but small 

segment of the fl eet.

External analysts expect that over the next 10 years in excess of 50% of new plane deliveries will be 

outside North America and the rate of growth of European, Asian and the Middle Eastern fl eets is 

likely to exceed that of North America. However, with the continued absolute growth in fl eet size and 

much higher utilisation rates compared to the rest of the world, North America will remain a growing 

market and by far the largest market for B&GA fl ying activity for the foreseeable future.
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US Business and General Aviation Hours Flown

Data provided by GAMA and company estimate
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Worldwide Fixed Wing Turbine Powered Business Aircraft
    2009 2008
 Jets Turboprops Total % %

North America 11,973 8,212 20,185 69% 70%

Europe 2,668 1,207 3,875 13% 13%

South America 824 1,364 2,188 8% 7%

Asia/ME 855 522 1,377 5% 5%

Africa 357 627 984 3% 3%

Australia/Oceania  153 332 485 2% 2%

Total  16,830 12,264 29,094 100% 100%

Source: JetNet, November 2009

The underlying drivers for B&GA usage, which is primarily a productivity tool or a necessity for 

individuals and corporations where time is a valued commodity, remain strong. Commercial aviation 

travel is increasingly challenging, with ageing infrastructure, further inconvenience and commercial 

pressures reducing fl ights to regional destinations. Investment in intermodal alternatives is limited 

and uneconomic. We therefore look forward to both cyclical recovery in B&GA fl ying hours and to the 

return of long-term growth.

Commercial Aviation

Our commercial aviation service business is focused on providing value added services to commercial 

aviation providers. Our market is driven by commercial aviation movements.

2009 was a challenging year for commercial aviation. The global economic recession has driven a 

signifi cant reduction in commercial traffi  c. Airlines have responded by mothballing a signifi cant 

proportion of the commercial fl eet and reducing fl ight capacity. They have also reduced costs through 

layoff s and downsizing. 

Military Aviation

Our military aviation service businesses focus primarily on the support of legacy military platforms.

Whilst there was some evidence of de-stocking of the aftermarket supply chain, US military spending 

remained fairly robust in 2009. The recession in the USA and its impact on tax revenues may mean 

that defence spending is no longer immune to cuts. However, given that it is anticipated that there 

will be limited change to mission requirements for the foreseeable future, it is likely that this will lead 

to legacy platforms remaining in service longer which would have a positive eff ect on those products 

which our businesses support.

BBA Aviation critical success factors 

BBA Aviation is ideally placed to exploit opportunities in these cyclical but attractive markets.

 We are market leaders in the markets in which we operate

    Signature is the world’s leading FBO network with 81 wholly-owned worldwide locations 

and 20 additional locations in which we have minority interests

 —  ASIG is t he largest independent refueller in the world

 —   Our ERO business has market-leading positions in the programmes in which it participates

 Barriers to entry include

 —   The need to have a lease from an airport authority to operate an FBO: the average unexpired 

lease term of our FBO network in the USA is 16 years

 —  The need for a licence from an OEM to service its engines: we are authorised by the OEMs for 

engine overhauls on 80% of B&GA engines now in service

 —   Intellectual property on aviation component systems and sub-systems, which we develop 

ourselves or which we licence from OEMs

 —  The need for an authorisation to provide commercial aviation services at individual airports

  We have a successful record of acquiring and integrating new businesses. In the last fi ve years BBA 

Aviation has spent £239 million on 20 businesses. The markets in which we operate are highly 

fragmented and ripe for further consolidation in the medium and long term

  We have a proven management team with many years’ relevant experience
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Anchorage
Denver
Austin
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Baltimore
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Denver
Detroit
Des Moines
Newark
Fort Lauderdale
Atlanta
Houston
White Plains
Huntsville

Hilton Head
Dulles
Wichita
Indianapolis
Kissimmee
Kansas City
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VNY
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SBEG*
SBNT*
SBPA*
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ATH
HER
SKG
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CPT

China
HKG*

* Minority interest locations
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HNL

GUM Broomfield
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Our Strategy

BBA Aviation’s vision is to be a dynamic, world class supplier to the global aerospace industry, 

continuously delivering exceptional performance. Our overriding objective is to grow exceptional, 

long-term, sustainable value for our stakeholders through:

 Exceeding customer expectations and competitor off erings

 Continuously improving market-leading and innovative businesses

 Working together for greater gain through improved co-ordination and co-operation

 Being an employer of choice for empowered individuals in a safe and sustainable environment

 Always behaving with integrity and respect

BBA Aviation’s strategy is to develop and maintain a balanced portfolio of aviation support and 

aftermarket businesses which have barriers to entry, a focus on the B&GA sector and which produce 

above average growth rates and attractive fi nancial returns. BBA Aviation has developed through a 

combination of organic growth and bolt-on acquisitions in businesses where it has leading market 

positions, generates strong cash fl ow and in businesses that are well placed to benefi t from cyclical 

and secular growth.

Flight Support will grow through further leveraging of its network and services and will develop and 

expand its locations and services globally, both organically and by way of acquisitions.

The Aftermarket Services and Systems businesses will look to secure new aftermarket OEM licences 

and engine authorisations and to develop specialised commercial aviation landing gear and hydraulic 

sub-systems. It will also continue the expansion of its component and repair capability to support 

ERO, landing gear and other aftermarket opportunities.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Approximately two-thirds of BBA Aviation’s revenue is driven by demand for B&GA travel, a quarter by 

commercial aviation movements and the balance by military aviation. In B&GA, our performance is 

primarily driven by fl ying activity, both in terms of the impact it has for Signature on movements and 

fuel consumption, and in our aftermarket businesses on resultant demand for components, repair 

and overhaul. In commercial aviation, our revenues are driven by aircraft movements rather than 

passenger miles.

The key risks that impact the level of fl ying activity are:

  General economic conditions and business and consumer confi dence which drives short-term 

demand;

  Catastrophic global events such as terrorist attacks and international confl icts and global 

pandemics which have impacted regional and international air travel;

  A very high price per barrel for crude oil and a corresponding rise in jet fuel prices for a prolonged 

period which particularly impacts the commercial market; and

 Legislation impacting air travel.

The Group has signifi cant operations in the USA with approximately 74% of pre-tax profi ts being 

denominated in US dollars. Although we are seeking to expand our operations in Europe and the rest 

of the world, the majority of all B&GA aircraft are located in North America and it will remain our most 

signifi cant market in the foreseeable future. Consequently, our fi nancial performance in sterling 

terms is subject to the eff ects of fl uctuations in foreign exchange rates, in particular the rate of 

exchange between US dollar and sterling.

The Group has a number of contingent liabilities that might impact its future performance. These are 

analysed in note 25 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Retaining our key management is of critical importance to the Group. In 2010 the Group will be 

introducing changes to its Group remuneration policy, ensuring that our compensation and benefi ts 

off erings remain competitive as well as improving the alignment and motivation of our senior 

executives to deliver the Company’s strategic objectives.
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Group Financial Summary
   Inc/  Inc/
 2009 2008 (dec)  20081  (dec)
 £m £m % £m %

Revenue 1,080.8 1,156.1 (7) 1,331.0 (19)

Underlying EBITDA 139.3 143.3 (3) 165.7 (16)

Underlying operating profi t 100.5 109.7 (8) 127.0 (21)

Operating profi t margin  9.3% 9.5%  9.5% 

Total operating profi t 82.3 104.7 (21) 121.7 (32)

Underlying profi t before tax 78.2 89.2 (12) 100.0 (22)

Adjusted earnings per share 14.6p 16.1p (9)  

Profi t for the period 45.5 62.9 (28)  

Free cash fl ow 137.5 77.2 78  

Net debt 391.6 554.4   

Net debt to EBITDA 2.8x 2.9x   

1 At constant exchange rates

The average US dollar rate for 2009 was $1.56 compared to $1.85 for 2008 and at the end of the year 

the spot rate was $1.61 (2008 year end: $1.44). This movement in exchange rates has aff ected the 

comparison with the prior year both for the income statement and the translated value of the net 

assets and debt on our balance sheet. The key data for 2008 on the table above is shown as reported 

and on a constant currency basis for ease of comparison.

Revenue for the year fell by 7%, with our businesses impacted by the diffi  cult economic climate. However, 

we continued to outperform the market across the majority of our businesses. Excluding the impact of 

exchange rates, fuel prices and acquisitions and disposals, the organic revenue decline was 10%, which 

contrasts with market reductions of 19% in US B&GA activity and 14% in US commercial activity.

Underlying operating profi t of £100.5 million was 8% lower (2008: £109.7 million) with the benefi t of 

cost reduction initiatives, exchange rates and the accelerated sale of engines in ERO (which 

contributed £4.6 million of operating profi t in 2009) largely off setting the impact of reduced activity 

levels. At constant exchange rates underlying operating profi t fell by 21%. Operating margins for the 

Group were broadly unchanged at 9.3% (2008: 9.5%), although at constant fuel prices, operating 

margins would have been 8.3%, with the decline related to the organic reduction in activity. Total 

operating profi t decreased by £22.4 million due to lower operating profi t and the increased cost of 

exceptional items which amounted to £18.2 million (2008: £5.0 million).

We took signifi cant action in the second half of 2008 and fi rst half of 2009 to address the cost base of 

the business. These cost reduction initiatives related primarily to headcount reduction, as well as the 

tight control of all discretionary spending. These actions contributed approximately £25 million of 

savings in 2009 and the incremental benefi t of these savings is expected to be approximately 

£5 million in 2010.

The key area of focus in 2009 was cash generation and the reduction of net debt. Free cash fl ow 

increased substantially to £137.5 million (2008: £77.2 million) due principally to a working capital 

infl ow of £57.9 million (2008: £3.8 million) and reduced capital expenditure of £18.7 million (2008: 

£30.9 million). The net cash infl ow of £107.2 million benefi ted from reduced dividend payments of 

£21.9 million (2008: £31.9 million) as a result of the level of take up of the scrip alternative. Net debt was 

reduced to £391.6 million (2008: £554.4 million) including a foreign exchange gain of £55.6 million. 

The attention to cost control and debt reduction has ensured that despite the market downturn and 

lower activity levels, the Group’s leverage ratio (net debt to EBITDA) improved in the year to 2.8 times 

(2008: 2.9 times).
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Our two Flight Support businesses deliver refuelling, 
ground handling and other services to the business, 
general and commercial aviation markets.

Signature Flight Support is the world’s largest and market-
leading fixed base operation (FBO) network for business 
aviation. It provides fuelling, hangar and office rentals, 
ground handling, passenger and other technical services 
in more than 80 locations at the most sought-after 
global destinations.

ASIG operates at more than 60 major airports and commercial 
airlines rely on them to carry out refuelling, baggage 
handling, equipment maintenance, cabin cleaning and 
other services safely delivered with considerable technical 
expertise by our well-trained staff.
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Flight Support
   Inc/  Inc/
 2009 2008 (dec)  20081  (dec)
Financial Summary £m £m % £m %

Revenue 643.8 705.9 (9) 817.0 (21)

Organic growth/(decline) (6%) (6%)   

Underlying operating profi t 61.8 64.8 (5) 74.1 (17)

Operating profi t margin 9.6% 9.2%  9.1% 

Operating cash fl ow 88.5 61.6 44  

Cash conversion ratio 143% 95%   

ROIC2 7.9% 9.7%   

1 At constant exchange rates

2  Including goodwill previously amortised or written off  to reserves, based on 12 months’ operating profi t and a 13-month average 

capital employed at constant currency

Revenue of £643.8 million (2008: £705.9 million) in Flight Support reduced by 9%, impacted by 

a signifi cant reduction in fuel prices (£128.2 million) and a substantial decline in market activity. 

At constant exchange rates and fuel prices, revenue declined by 6% on an organic basis. The net 

impact of acquisitions and disposals was broadly neutral. Underlying operating profi t of £61.8 million 

was down 5% as reported and by 17% on a constant currency basis, with the reduction principally 

driven by the lower level of market activity. Return on invested capital declined to 7.9% (2008: 9.7%).

Operating margins increased slightly to 9.6% (2008: 9.2%) but benefi ted from the impact of lower fuel 

costs. On a constant fuel price basis, margins would have been 8.0% with the decrease over the prior 

year due to the organic reduction in activity.

Cash generation in the division was strong with a 44% increase in operating cash fl ow to £88.5 million 

(2008: £61.6 million), representing cash conversion of 143% (2008: 95%). 
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Signature Flight Support — investing in a sustainable future

Utilising more energy and environmentally effi  cient technologies combined with green design and 

building practices, lowers BBA Aviation’s building and operating costs and reduces our impact on the 

environment in the long-term. It is also valued by our customers and employees, all of whom benefi t 

from improved facilities and a more comfortable environment.

In April 2009, Signature completed a full renovation of the executive terminal and two existing 

hangars at San Francisco International Airport, extending the footprint of the terminal by 30% and 

incorporating new, sustainable, architectural features, and using environmentally friendly materials 

and technologies. Through the use of light harvesting, a more effi  cient heating and air conditioning 

system and the installation of energy-saving lighting and occupancy sensors in the hangars, 

electricity usage at the facility has fallen signifi cantly and other protocols have successfully reduced 

waste. The project has been submitted to the US Green Building Council for certifi cation in the 

Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design – Commercial Interiors (LEED-CI) programme and 

key elements of the renovation are now standard in other renovation projects across the global 

Signature network.
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Signature San Francisco — a customer’s jet is refuelled at Signature’s newly refurbished FBO
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Signature Flight Support
   Inc/  Inc/
 2009 2008 (dec)  20081 (dec)
Revenue £m £m % £m %

USA 342.9 409.5 (16) 485.6 (29)

Europe & ROW 92.2 98.7 (7) 102.8 (10)

Total 435.1 508.2 (14) 588.4 (26)

1 At constant exchange rates

Revenue in 2009, on a constant currency basis, reduced by 26% to £435.1 million, but excluding the 

impact of lower fuel prices in 2009, which contributed £117.5 million to the revenue reduction, 

the overall organic revenue decline was 7%.

The B&GA markets in both North America and Europe experienced substantial declines in 2009. 

In North America for Signature’s served markets, the reduction from the 2007 peak reached its trough 

in the fi rst half, down 34%, before stabilising mid-year and then showing sequential monthly 

improvement over the second half of the year.

Signature consistently outperformed the market throughout 2009. Compared to a market decline in 

North America of 19%, Signature’s organic revenue declined by 8% and in Europe, revenue was fl at on 

an organic basis compared to a market contraction of 14%. For the fi rst time since the end of 2007 

Signature North America experienced modest organic volume growth of 3% in the last quarter of the 

year compared to the same period in 2008. This has continued in the fi rst few weeks of 2010.

Following a number of years in which Signature had been very successful in securing large cross-

network customers, in the second half of 2008 and throughout 2009, management focused more 

attention on other users of the network and as a result increased market share of these customers. 

Signature US signed a new fi ve-year contract with NetJets, and also secured 24 new large network-

wide customer contracts with the potential to generate 5 million additional gallons per annum.

In response to the decline in market activity, Signature reduced headcount by 142 full-time 

equivalents (FTEs) early in 2009, and in the second half of the year introduced demand based staffi  ng 

which reduced headcount by a further 203 FTEs, placing greater emphasis on part-time staff  at peak 

times to better match staff  availability, and therefore service, to customer demand.

The extension of the Signature network continued with the establishment of a commercial 

partnership with Aviapartner giving a presence in Nice, Europe’s fi fth largest airport for B&GA 

movements. The duplicate facility at Indianapolis, acquired with Hawker Beechcraft, was disposed of 

during the second half of the year as planned, generating a gain on disposal of £1.1 million which has 

been included in exceptional items. 
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ASIG — innovative and market-leading technology 

Managing the complexity of an airside business that supports hundreds of fl ights a day at over 60 

airports worldwide requires innovative ways of working and the smart use of technology as well as 

the hard work and commitment of staff . Streamlining processes and reporting accurately enhances 

ASIG’s reputation with customers and consolidates its position as an industry leader on the ramp.

In 2009, ASIG introduced a data management system to its ground equipment fuelling activities at 

three major airports in the USA: Los Angeles International (LAX), Chicago O’Hare International (ORD) 

and Philadelphia International (PHL). ASIG refuels over 2,000 pieces of its own and customers’ ground 

equipment at these locations daily, from tugs to belt loaders to hydrant trucks, often more than once. 

This mobile technology links, via a handheld device, the equipment being fuelled to ASIG’s proprietary 

fuel management system, ensuring the correct fuel is provided and accurately reporting management 

information direct to the customer via their online interface. This technology prevents the misfuelling 

of equipment, provides an indicator for technical issues with the equipment, allows for real time 

inventory management and automatically creates accounting data – meaning ASIG operators can 

just get on with the job. This data management system will be rolled out to nine more US airports 

in 2010.
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Los Angeles International Airport — ASIG ground equipment, supported by ASIG’s fuel management system





23Directors’ Report  Los Angeles International Airport — ASIG safely delivers over 985,000 gallons of jet fuel to 300 departing aircraft a day

ASIG
   Inc/  Inc/
 2009 2008 (dec)  20081 (dec)
Revenue £m £m % £m %

USA 177.4 166.5 7 197.4 (10)

Europe & ROW 31.3 31.1 1 31.2 –

Total 208.7 197.6 6 228.6 (9)

1 At constant exchange rates

Revenue of £208.7 million (2008: £197.6 million) in ASIG increased by 6% on a reported basis, but 

declined by 9% on a constant currency basis and, excluding the £10.7 million impact of lower fuel 

prices, reduced by 5% on an organic basis. De-icing revenue was slightly lower than the prior year.

The 5% organic revenue reduction represented a substantial outperformance relative to the US 

market which contracted by 14%, with the outperformance driven by a number of new contract wins 

during the year.

In addition to the normal practice of fl exing airside labour to match demand, ASIG made a structural 

headcount reduction of 236 FTEs in early 2009, as well as reducing overtime and placing restrictions 

on other discretionary expenditure.

Early in 2009, ASIG expanded its reach when it entered the Washington Dulles International Airport 

market with the award of two key aviation fuel services contracts. ASIG was selected by a consortium 

of 39 airlines to operate the jet fuel facility which supplies all of the carriers operating at the airport. 

Separately, ASIG was awarded the contract to provide aircraft refuelling services to 23 of the airport’s 

carriers, amounting to approximately 100,000 fl ights annually. In addition ASIG entered the market at 

Buff alo Niagara International Airport where the company is providing critical winter aircraft de-icing 

services for US Airways and Continental Airlines.

ASIG renewed system-wide agreements with American Airlines, Delta Air Lines and Frontier Airlines 

at numerous airports across North America, added a number of ground handling and refuelling 

contracts and added baggage system and jetway maintenance contracts at Los Angeles International 

Airport. In Europe, ASIG’s joint venture with Skytanking was successful in renewing its fuel services 

agreements at Munich International Airport for a further fi ve years. In total, net new contract wins 

should generate approximately $14 million of incremental revenue annually.

In 2008, ASIG secured a seven-year, $150 million contract to provide ground services at JFK 

International Airport’s Terminal One, one of the industry’s largest ground handling contracts. Based 

on our strong performance and the achievement of our service commitments, the contract has been 

extended by an additional two years beyond the original term.

Our into-plane refuelling business in Thailand, established in 2006, is being adversely impacted by 

the local competitive environment that is aff ecting our ability to generate appropriate margins in the 

short term. As a result of this, we incurred a non-cash accounting impairment charge of £5.5 million 

against the investment in the fi rst half of the year. We remain committed to the market and to our 

customers and continue to value the strategic importance of this foothold in the fast-growing Asia-

Pacifi c region.



In Aftermarket Services and Systems, we service, 
manufacture and support engines and aerospace 
components, sub-systems and systems.

Engine Repair and Overhaul is authorised to work on 
more than 80% of the engines powering the business 
and general aviation fleet. 

Legacy Support is the leading provider of high-quality, 
cost-effective solutions in the continuing support of 
maturing aerospace platforms to the major aerospace 
OEMs and airframe operators. 

APPH is a niche landing gear and hydraulic sub-systems 
manufacturer, designing, engineering, manufacturing 
and supplying systems and sub-systems for original 
equipment and aftermarket applications.
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Aftermarket Services and Systems
   Inc/  Inc/
 2009 2008 (dec)  20081 (dec)
Financial Summary £m £m % £m %

Revenue 437.0 450.2 (3) 513.9 (15)

Organic growth/(decline) (17%) 10%   

Underlying operating profi t 48.5 55.5 (13) 64.1 (24)

Operating profi t margin 11.1% 12.3%  12.5% 

Operating cash fl ow 105.5 56.5 87  

Cash conversion ratio 218% 102%   

ROIC2  8.9% 11.3%   

1 At constant exchange rates

2  Including goodwill previously amortised or written off  to reserves, based on 12 months’ operating profi t and 13-month average capital employed 

at constant currency

Revenue for the Aftermarket Services and Systems segment of £437.0 million was 3% lower than the 

prior year (2008: £450.2 million) with the benefi t of foreign exchange translation largely off setting 

the adverse impact of lower market volumes. On an organic basis revenue declined by 17% refl ecting 

the later cycle impact of the lower fl ying activity on engine repair events and demand for other 

services in the aftermarket businesses. 

Underlying operating profi t declined by 13% on an as reported basis to £48.5 million, and on a 

constant currency basis was down 24%. This market-led reduction was also refl ected in lower 

operating margins at 11.1% (2008: 12.3%). Engine Repair and Overhaul successfully accelerated the 

sale of a number of engines, generating cash of £17.6 million and contributing operating profi t of 

£4.6 million in the year. Return on invested capital decreased to 8.9% (2008: 11.3%).

Cash generation was strong with operating cash fl ow almost doubling to £105.5 million, representing 

cash conversion of 218% (2008: 102%). Engine Repair and Overhaul was a signifi cant contributor to 

this performance, with a near £50 million reduction in its working capital levels.
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Engine Repair and Overhaul (ERO) — exceeding customer expectations and competitor offerings

Being local to customers and able to respond quickly and eff ectively to their needs is vital in the time-

critical aviation business. Keeping planes fl ying and minimising downtime is a key priority for our 

customers, enabling them to stay on schedule and to minimise operating costs.

During 2009, ERO signifi cantly expanded its network of regional turbine centres and fi eld service 

technicians, in line with the growing international requirements of its customers. Dallas Airmotive 

now operates 12 regional turbine centres and employs more than 100 fi eld service technicians – 

some of whom are based in the emerging markets of South Africa, India and Brazil – and has plans for 

further expansion. Our fi eld service technicians are available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, providing 

fast, reliable and effi  cient on-site support to customers and their engines, wherever and whenever 

they are needed. 
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Palm Springs, California — Scott Johnson, Field Service Representative, performs an “on-wing” inspection 





29Directors’ Report  Palm Springs, California — a Honeywell TFE731 engine, inspected “on-wing”

Engine Repair and Overhaul 
   Inc/  Inc/
 2009 2008 (dec)  20081 (dec)
Revenue £m £m % £m %

USA 276.1 292.0 (5) 346.2 (20)

Europe & ROW 58.3 50.9 15 50.9 15

Total 334.4 342.9 (2) 397.1 (16)

1 At constant exchange rates

Revenue in Engine Repair and Overhaul (ERO) of £334.4 million was down 2% compared to 2008 

(£342.9 million), but down 18% on an organic basis. The organic reduction refl ected lower market 

activity across all product lines.

In response to the sharp decline in activity levels, prompt action was taken early in 2009 and again 

mid-year with headcount reduced in total by 256 FTEs, taking the workforce reduction since 2008 to 

22%. In 2009 there was a signifi cant eff ort in cross-training of the remaining workforce, so as to be 

more fl exible in matching staffi  ng levels to demand.

Despite the weaker market conditions ERO won new long-term contracts with the Brazilian Air Force 

for PW100 engines ($15 million over fi ve years), US based fractional provider Avantair for PT6 ($5 million 

over fi ve years) and a three-year service agreement with Hawker Beechcraft Services as its preferred 

engine service provider. We successfully secured the sale of a number of engines generating cash of 

£17.6 million, consistent with our aim of reducing our investment in these types of assets. 

In addition, ERO continued its structural reduction in inventory which fell by £14.3 million adding to 

the £13.0 million reduction achieved in 2008.

ERO continued to expand its locations, placing it closer to its customers, with the establishment of a 

turbine engine shop inside Cessna’s facility in Wichita, Kansas, a Mobile Response Team in Los 

Angeles, California, a regional turbine centre (RTC) in Belo Horizonte, Brazil and two fi eld technical 

support offi  ces in Johannesburg and Mumbai thus further strengthening its global service support 

capability. A number of new authorisations were signed in the year, including the PT6T (Twinpac) 

helicopter engine in Europe at a cost of £5.7 million for the licence and other assets (with payment 

deferred until 2010) which should generate annual revenues in excess of £5.0 million once fully 

adopted. Additional authorisations were secured for the Hamilton Sunstrand T40-1 APU, used on 

Sikorsky Blackhawk and Seahawk helicopters, and JT15D for the Pratt & Whitney Canada ESP 

Maintenance Programme.
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Legacy Support — working together with customers, licensors and other BBA Aviation businesses

Providing solutions for aerospace OEMs and airframe operators by taking complete responsibility for 

their non-core and legacy products and allowing them to focus on current and future programmes is 

Legacy Support’s speciality. 

Since joining the BBA Aviation group of companies in 2006, Ontic’s portfolio of licensed and acquired 

products has grown signifi cantly and now includes more than 4,000 end item assemblies plus their 

associated sub-assemblies and components. Through license or acquisition, Ontic provides all 

manufacturing, support and maintenance that these products require. In 2007, Ontic relocated its 

business to larger premises in its home town of Chatsworth, California – creating more space for 

expansion and an improved working environment for employees and, in 2009, Ontic established a 

new base in the UK. Working closely with customers, licensors and, increasingly, using the specifi c 

product expertise of other BBA Aviation aftermarket businesses, Ontic has obtained major licences in 

new areas such as landing gear, auxiliary power units and associated components. 
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Chatsworth, California — Ontic technicians applying specialist engineering capability, product knowledge and supply chain expertise





33Directors’ Report  Chatsworth, California — a landing gear upper torque arm – a component of one of Ontic’s licensed end item assemblies

Legacy Support
   Inc/  Inc/
 2009 2008 (dec) 20081 (dec)
Revenue £m £m % £m %

USA 45.3 34.0 33 40.3 12

Europe & ROW 0.6 – – – –

Total 45.9 34.0 35 40.3 14

1 At constant exchange rates

Revenue for Legacy Support at £45.9 million (2008: £34.0 million) grew by 35% over 2008 and by 14% 

on a constant currency basis, primarily as a result of new licences acquired in 2008.

For Ontic two signifi cant areas of focus in 2009 have been the adoption in the US of the Honeywell 

700 Series Auxiliary Power Unit (APU) licence and the establishment of a UK presence to support the 

Kidde Graviner Gaseous Emergency Oxygen Equipment (GEOE) licence, both signed in 2008. Both 

adoptions have proceeded in line with plan and the UK facility is now fully operational and has 

received all of the required approvals and certifi cations.

The Ontic US order book continues to grow, and at the end of 2009 stood at $56 million, a further 18% 

increase since the end of 2008. We continue to see considerable opportunities to grow this business 

via licence acquisition, particularly in the current climate as OEMs rationalise their product lines in the 

face of contracting demand for new original equipment. We are also looking to leverage our new 

footprint in the UK to extend our licensing model.
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APPH — building long-term customer relationships

Continuously improving technical capabilities and a focus on service quality and service support are 

key to long-term and loyal customers. APPH’s relationship with BAE Systems has grown signifi cantly 

over time, from the fi rst fl ight of the Hawker Siddeley Hawk in 1974, for which APPH designed and 

qualifi ed the landing gear and fl ight control system, through to support contracts for existing military 

platforms and the design, manufacture and support of landing gear on new platforms such as the 

unmanned Taranis. 

Over 700 Hawk advanced jet trainers have been sold to date and APPH provides the landing gear 

maintenance contract with BAE Systems. The Hawk is used by the British Royal Air Force (RAF) and 

other air forces around the world as either a trainer or a low cost combat aircraft but by far its most 

famous application is as a Red Arrow. The Red Arrows consists of 13 Hawks, 9 of which fl y in 

combination at displays and special events around the world. The “Blues”, the Red Arrows’ engineering 

and technical support team can accommodate the majority of fi xes required to keep the display team 

in the air but APPH landing gear service engineers are always available to provide in-fi eld service if 

needed; anywhere the fl eet happens to be. Despite being around for nearly four decades, new 

generation Hawks continue to be sold, with the RAF receiving its fi rst Hawk T2 in 2009.



35

RAF Scampton, UK — Bernie Dunbavin, APPH service engineer, on location with the Red Arrows 





37Directors’ Report  RAF Scampton, UK — a Red Arrows Hawk in action 

APPH 
   Inc/  Inc/
 2009 2008 (dec)  20081  (dec)
Revenue £m £m % £m %

USA 15.4 16.8 (8) 19.9 (23)

Europe & ROW 40.7 51.9 (22) 51.9 (22)

Total 56.1 68.7 (18) 71.8 (22)

1 At constant exchange rates

In APPH, revenue declined by 18% to £56.1 million and on an organic basis reduced by 20%. The 

reduction in activity was driven by a number of factors, which included a signifi cant reduction in 

demand for original equipment from B&GA OEMs, notably Cessna and Hawker Beechcraft. There was 

also an adverse impact on aftermarket service requirements due to the lower fl ying activity and the 

continued downturn in the US regional turboprop market aff ected demand for landing gear 

maintenance, repair and overhaul (MRO) work.

In response to these diffi  cult market conditions, APPH reduced headcount and moved a number of 

its locations to short working hours, overall reducing FTEs by 29% since 2008. We also closed a small 

wheels and brakes facility at Basingstoke early in 2009 and consolidated our Houston operations from 

two locations onto one site.

APPH continued to win new business. We received signifi cant orders for power packs and reservoirs 

for Hindustan Aeronautics and APPH supplied the fi rst prototype landing gear system for qualifi cation 

testing for Eurocopter France’s new EC175 helicopter programme.

Following a review of our aftermarket strategy it was decided that APPH Houston Inc. should be 

realigned to become part of BBA Aviation’s Legacy Support business, with eff ect from 1 January 2010. 

APPH Houston’s principal focus is legacy platform support and the maintenance, repair and overhaul 

of associated products, which is a more natural fi t with our Legacy Support business.



38

Corporate Social Responsibility

At BBA Aviation, sustainability and Corporate Social Responsibility are a 

fundamental part of our vision, mission and values and are key to achieving 

our goals. 

 

Integrity

We earn the trust and respect of our stakeholders with honesty, fairness, 

openness and by honouring our commitments.

Responsibility

We are committed to managing our impact on, and contributing positively to, 

society and the environment.

Safety

We are dedicated to safety and security, the elimination of hazards and 

protecting people, property and our environment.

Service

We strive continually to anticipate customer needs, exceeding their 

expectations.

People

We are committed to investing in and empowering our people through 

training and education and to providing them with opportunities for 

rewarding careers.

Performance

We focus on delivery of long-term and sustainable value, continuous 

improvement and reliability.

We now have in place management processes and systems that allow us to 

collect consistent sets of key data and target improvements across all of our 

facilities in a number of areas including health and safety and the use of 

resources. These, along with a new Group-wide approach to people 

development, will play an important part in our future CSR journey.

Providing CSR leadership is the responsibility of all of our managers and 

throughout 2009 each of our businesses has made concerted eff orts to 

progress in our four focus areas:

 Health and safety

 Environment

 People 

 Community

Health and Safety

Protecting the health and safety of our employees and all those aff ected by 

our business is a priority at BBA Aviation. 

  Operational management are responsible for the management of, 

and continuous improvement in, health and safety performance. They are 

supported by a dedicated team of health and safety professionals, both senior 

level managers and numerous site-based managers who assess health and 

safety risks and who regularly evaluate site performance. Performance 

statistics such as near miss reporting, recordable incident data, lost work day 

case rates and workers’ compensation claims are compiled on a continuous 

basis, monitored closely through our management processes and reported 

regularly to the Executive Management Committee and the Board. Our 

global web-based reporting, audit and training tools assist us in identifying 

trends and in developing and communicating plans to support further 

improvements in our health and safety performance.

  At 2009’s year-end we recorded a Group-wide Recordable Incident 

Rate (RIR) of 4.18, which is 15% lower than our RIR performance of 4.92 in 2008. 

This represents the lowest rate for the current portfolio of our aviation 

businesses since we started to compile statistics in 2002. Targets are set 

and approved in all our business units on an annual basis and as the safety 

improvement programmes that are now embedded in our businesses 

continue to mature we look forward to making further progress towards 

our zero incident and industry leadership goal in safety practices and 

performance, and a proactive safety culture. 

Environment

Managing the impact of our business on the environment through the 

effi  cient and safe use of resources and the reduction of waste is a key 

responsibility of our executive team and of the management teams at each of 

our facilities. For a number of years BBA Aviation has been tracking, and aiming 

to improve, the effi  cient use of the resources our businesses consume. We 

now operate an environmental reporting system for all businesses, where 

each site is required to record its own use of resources such as electricity and 

water and report regularly, using the same global web-based reporting, audit 

and training tools employed to compile health and safety performance 

statistics. Through annual self-assessments and site audits, our personnel 

develop site improvement plans, which are reviewed annually by senior 

management. In addition, we engage external consultants to conduct routine 

review and validation of environmental metrics. Further details on the process 

for review of risks, including health, safety, environmental and other operational 

risks are set out in item 1 on page 50 “Systems of Internal Control”.

  Our businesses continue to achieve and maintain external 

certifi cation of environmental practices. This autumn three ERO sites achieved 

accreditation to ISO14001: Environmental Management Systems, making a 

total of four ERO, three APPH sites and one Legacy Support site with this 

certifi cation. We believe that operating to a recognised set of best practices 

will over time yield positive results. Sites which have achieved certifi cation 

have found that drawing together environmental requirements, programmes 

and objectives into a unifi ed framework has assisted in making environmental 

matters part of the fabric of their daily business life.

  We are conscious that we service an industry that has attracted 

adverse comment relating to its impact on the environment. The industry 

continues to work to drive improvement in its environmental effi  ciency and 

we continue to support the eff ort to improve the sustainability of aviation into 

the future. For example, ASIG has signed an agreement with Rentech and 

eight airlines at Los Angeles International Airport to supply renewable 

synthetic fuel for ground service equipment, beginning in late 2012 when the 

plant producing the fuel is scheduled to go into service . 

  Two recent projects demonstrate our commitment to taking 

account of environmental concerns. The completed renovation of the 

executive terminal and two existing hangars at Signature’s operation at San 

Francisco International Airport (pictured on page 17) has been submitted for 

Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) – Commercial Interiors 

certifi cation. LEED is a rating system developed by the US Green Building 
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Council. Projects that achieve LEED certifi cation make use of environmentally 

friendly building products, energy effi  cient electrical and mechanical systems 

and environmentally sensitive construction practices to provide high building 

performance and to minimise environmental impact. ASIG, which manages 

the fuel system on behalf of a consortium of 20 airlines at Denver International 

Airport, has achieved Gold Leader status under the Colorado Department of 

Public Health and Environment’s Environmental Leadership Programme.

 

People

We value the talent that each individual brings to BBA Aviation. Investing in 

our people has been an area of focus for BBA Aviation in 2009 and it will 

continue to be important to support all our employees and help them 

develop their capabilities and realise their potential. Twenty of our most senior 

executives undertook an executive education programme at Goizueta 

Business School, Emory University Atlanta in 2009 as part of a rolling 

programme of senior management development. However development 

and training is important at a local as well as at a Group level. For example, 

ASIG launched a 17-week ESOL (English for Speakers of Other Languages) pilot 

programme at their Orlando operation, completed by 27 employees, giving 

them valued opportunities and this programme will now be rolled out to 

other locations in the USA. 

  Encouraging training and development supports the continuous 

improvement of the calibre of our people, enhances the performance of our 

businesses and can impact positively on the world around us. Satisfying the 

highest ethical standards, complying with the law and exercising appropriate 

sensitivity to the needs of our employees, the communities in which we work 

and the environment must be integrated with our business goals in a 

complementary manner. This balance cannot be achieved unless all of our 

employees are engaged in this eff ort.

  Our people form the foundation of each BBA Aviation business. To 

sustain a committed, progressive workforce, it is critical that we treat our 

employees equitably. A large part of this investment in our employees 

involves ensuring that we operate fairly at all times and do not permit 

discrimination against any employee or applicant for employment on the 

basis of race, religion or belief, colour, gender, disability, national origin, age, 

military service, veteran status, sexual orientation or marital status. This 

includes giving full and fair consideration to suitable applications from 

disabled persons for employment and making appropriate accommodations 

so that if existing employees become disabled they can continue to be 

employed, wherever practicable, in the same job or, if this is not practicable, 

making every eff ort to fi nd suitable alternative employment and to provide 

relevant training.

  We believe in instilling this commitment to fairness in our entire staff  

and require that all our employees abide by the highest standards of ethical 

conduct. The training programme on our Code of Business Ethics (which was 

updated in 2008 in conjunction with the revision of the Group Policies 

Manual) has continued to be rolled out across the USA in 2009 and in 2010 this 

training is to be supplemented in both the UK and the USA by e-learning 

modules. As well as the Code of Business Ethics, the Group Policies Manual 

includes policies on bribery and corruption, gifts and entertainments, 

disclosure of unethical conduct, equal opportunities and anti-harassment 

guidelines and competition law. Compliance with each of these policies and 

with the Group’s procedures concerning the appointment and remuneration 

of foreign agents is the subject of review as part of the ongoing BBA Aviation 

Internal Audit Programme and the eff ectiveness of these policies is monitored 

alongside the risk review process described in item 1 on page 50 “Systems of 

Internal Control”. More details on Group policies and the procedures 

supporting them, including the 24-hour “hotline” available to all employees in 

conjunction with the Group’s Disclosure of Unethical Conduct Policy, are set 

out in item 11 on page 51 “Systems of Internal Control”.

  We provide our employees with various opportunities to obtain 

information on matters of concern to them and to improve their awareness of 

the fi nancial and economic factors that aff ect the performance of the 

Company. These include “all hands briefi ngs”, staff  forums and meetings with 

trade unions that take place throughout the year.

Community

Each of our sites and businesses recognises the importance of being a good 

neighbour and contributing to the community in which it operates. BBA 

Aviation’s businesses play an active role in supporting a variety of local, 

regional and national organisations and charities. Local businesses identify 

charities and community projects in which they would like to be involved and, 

where appropriate, eff orts are co-ordinated at a local or business level to 

deliver more meaningful support to a chosen activity. 

  We recognise that we form part of the broader global community 

and it is our responsibility, as a good neighbour, to contribute to those 

locations where we are resident. In addition to providing support to our 

surrounding communities through our practices of local employment, local 

training and, where appropriate, the purchase of local goods and services, we 

are proud to play an active role in a variety of local activities and charities. One 

of the Group’s goals for 2010 is for all Group sites and facilities to have some 

community involvement. This will be an opportunity for employees to work 

together demonstrating BBA Aviation’s common values in action and help 

strengthen employee engagement and our relationships with our local 

communities. One such community involvement project undertaken in 2009 

was the garden makeover by the H+S Aviation facility in Portsmouth for a local 

not for profi t organisation, providing much appreciated time and skills as well 

as donating garden furniture, plants and other materials. 

CSR Governance and Reporting

Responsibility to the Board for relationships with all our stakeholders lies with 

the Group Chief Executive. Mark Harper, a non-executive director, is BBA 

Aviation’s CSR Responsible Director. The Group Health, Safety and 

Environment Director, Kimberly Tuyn reports directly to the Group Chief 

Executive and is responsible for delivering our Group Health, Safety and 

Environment strategy while the Group Secretary, Zillah Stone, has Group-level 

oversight of wider CSR activities through chairing the CSR Steering 

Committee. This Steering Committee includes representatives from each of 

the operating businesses and has cross-functional representation. 

  In 2009 the CSR Steering Committee examined the Group’s 

approach to CSR and, after discussion with the Executive Management 

Committee, BBA Aviation’s Approach to CSR was reviewed and approved by 

the Board in July. For 2010 the Committee has set itself a programme of 

projects, each targeting a particular area of CSR activity to improve and 

develop. 

  BBA Aviation’s 2008 Corporate Social Responsibility Report 

(including our Approach to CSR) can be found on the Company’s website 

www.bbaaviation.com. We also produced a poster version of the CSR Report 

in 2009 which was distributed to all our facilities and we plan to produce a 

report and poster again in 2010. 

  The annual Control Risk Assessment questionnaire completed by 

each operating business includes questions on CSR matters which have been 

revised to refl ect the updated Approach to CSR. The responses will be 

reviewed and collated by Group Internal Audit and will be fed into the 

development of future CSR action plans. These plans will also be informed by 

our monitoring of measures in each of our four key areas of focus (Health and 

Safety, Environment, People and Community). In 2009 these measures were 

reviewed in the quarterly operating review meetings held by senior 

management with each business, building on our long-standing programme 

of Group, business, company and location-based performance targets for 

Health and Safety and Environmental metrics. 

  We have been a member of the FTSE4Good index since BBA 

Aviation plc was renamed after the demerger in 2006 and BBA Group plc had 

been a constituent of the index since 2001. This index incorporates companies 

that meet globally recognised corporate responsibility standards. We also 

participate in the Carbon Disclosure Project. 

Board Focus

The Board welcomes the progress that has been made in 2009 in focusing on 

Corporate Social Responsibility as part of BBA Aviation’s broader business 

objectives. BBA Aviation’s “Approach to CSR” document is another step in the 

embedding of CSR into the business operations of BBA Aviation and the Board 

looks forward to the development of this approach in 2010. 
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Board of Directors

1. Michael Harper (65) Chairman
He was appointed to the Board in February 2005. An engineer by training, he 

was a director of Williams plc and on the demerger in 2000 became Chief 

Executive of Kidde plc. He is Chairman of Vitec Group plc and Ricardo plc and 

a non-executive director of Catlin Group Limited. He will become Chairman of 

the Nomination Committee on John Roques’ retirement from the Board at the 

conclusion of the AGM on 29 April 2010.

2. Simon Pryce (48) Group Chief Executive
He was appointed to the Board in June 2007. He is a chartered accountant and 

was previously with GKN plc for nine years in a variety of roles, most recently as 

Chief Executive of GKN’s Diversifi ed Businesses Group. Prior to joining 

GKN he held several senior positions at JP Morgan and Lazards in London 

and New York.

3. Andrew Wood (58) Group Finance Director
He was appointed to the Board as Group Finance Director in January 2001. A 

chartered management accountant, he was formerly Group Finance Director 

of Racal Electronics plc. He will retire from the Board at the conclusion of the 

AGM on 29 April 2010 and will be succeeded by Mark Hoad, currently Group 

Financial Controller.

4. Mark Harper (53) Non-Executive Director, 
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
He was appointed to the Board in December 2006. He is Chief Executive of 

Filtrona plc, the international speciality plastic and fi bre products supplier 

which demerged from Bunzl plc in June 2005. He joined Bunzl in 1986 where 

he held a number of general management positions. He is BBA Aviation’s 

CSR Responsible Director.

5. Nick Land (62) Non-Executive Director, 
Chairman, Audit Committee
He was appointed to the Board in August 2006. He was formerly Chairman of 

Ernst & Young LLP and a member of the Global Executive Board of Ernst & 

Young, positions which he held from 1995 to 2006. He is now a non-executive 

director of Royal Dutch Shell plc, Vodafone Group Plc, Ashmore Group plc and 

Alliance Boots GmbH. He is Chairman of the board of trustees of Farnham 

Castle, sits on the Finance and Audit Committees of the National Gallery and is 

Chairman of the board of trustees of the Vodafone Group Foundation. He will 

become the Senior Independent Director on John Roques’ retirement from 

the Board at the conclusion of the AGM on 29 April 2010.

6. Peter Ratcliffe (61) Non-Executive Director 
He was appointed to the Board in January 2009. He is also a non-executive 

director of Carnival Corporation and Carnival plc having been the Chief 

Executive Offi  cer of Carnival plc until April 2003 and Chief Executive Offi  cer of 

the P&O Princess Cruises International division of Carnival Corporation and 

Carnival plc from 2003 to 2007. He was previously an executive director of 

The Peninsular and Oriental Steam Navigation Company. In addition he 

is a non-executive director of Mead Johnson Nutrition Company and a 

trustee director of P&O Princess Cruises Pension Trustee Limited. He is a dual 

US/UK citizen. 

7. John Roques (71) Non-Executive Director, Senior Independent Director, 
Chairman, Nomination Committee
He was appointed to the Board in January 1999. He was formerly a partner at 

Deloitte & Touche, retiring in 1999 as Senior Partner. He will retire from the 

Board at the conclusion of the AGM on 29 April 2010.

8. Hansel Tookes (62) Non-Executive Director
He was appointed to the Board in February 2007. He is a non-executive 

director of Corning, Inc., FPL Group, Inc., Harris Corporation and Ryder System, 

Inc. For nearly 20 years, he held various positions at United Technologies 

Group including as President, Large Military Engines Group, Pratt & Whitney. 

He retired in 2002 from Raytheon, Inc., where he had formerly been Chairman 

and CEO of Raytheon Aircraft.

Executive Management

9.  Simon Pryce 
Group Chief Executive

10.  Andrew Wood
Group Finance Director

11.  Mike Askew 
Managing Director APPH Group 

12.  Peg Billson
President Legacy Support

13.  Martin Filippides 
Group HR Director

14.  Mark Hoad
Group Financial Controller

15.  Hugh McElroy
President Engine Repair & Overhaul

16.  Keith Ryan
President ASIG

17.  Michael Scheeringa
President Signature Flight Support

18.  Iain Simm
Group General Counsel

19.  Zillah Stone
Group Secretary

20.  Bruce Van Allen
Group Marketing Director
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Financial Matters

Exchange rates
A substantial proportion of BBA Aviation’s revenues and costs are US dollar 

denominated. The US dollar exchange rates for the last three years were:

  2009 2008 2007

US dollars — Average 1.56 1.85 2.00

 — Spot 1.61 1.44 1.99

The US dollar spot rate increased somewhat in 2009 compared with the end 

of 2008, and at the end of 2009 stood at $1.61 against $1.44 at the end of 2008. 

The average rate for 2009 of $1.56 was considerably lower than the 2008 

average rate of $1.85, and this had the eff ect of increasing the translated value 

of pre-tax earnings in the current year by £9.5 million compared to 2008. The 

increase in the spot rate reduced the value of our net debt by £55.6 million.

Central Costs
Unallocated central costs amounted to £9.8 million (2008: £10.6 million). 

The decrease was as a result of lower pension service costs associated with 

the UK pension scheme.

Exceptional Items
In 2009 exceptional items amounted to £18.2 million (2008: £5.0 million) of 

which £14.4 million was non-cash. The exceptional items include £6.0 million of 

restructuring expenses associated with the cost reduction initiatives undertaken 

to reduce the cost base of the business to address the decline in market activity 

(2008: £8.2 million). Also included in exceptional items are a £1.5 million loss on 

the closure of a small engineering business (2008: £nil), a £1.1 million gain on 

disposal of an FBO at Indianapolis (see below), a £2.3 million charge in relation to 

an onerous lease, as well as a £5.5 million non-cash impairment charge against 

our investment in ASIG Thailand (2008: £nil). Amortisation of acquired 

intangibles amounted to £3.8 million (2008: £2.1 million).

  In 2008 the Group received £5.3 million of compensation from the 

US Department of Transport following the closure of Washington Reagan 

National Airport in 2001.

Acquisitions and Disposals
The Group made no acquisitions in the year. The Group disposed of an FBO at 

Indianapolis which had been obtained as part of the Hawker Beechcraft 

acquisition. Due to an overlap with an existing Signature FBO at Indianapolis, 

the US Department of Justice required the disposal of one of the two FBOs. 

The disposal was completed on 15 September 2009 with gross proceeds of 

$5.8 million generating a gain on disposal of $1.7 million.

  In 2008, the Group acquired four businesses for a total consideration 

of £76.4 million. These included the FBO assets of the Hawker Beechcraft Line 

Service Division to add to the Signature network in the USA, FBOs at Munich 

and Gatwick increasing our European network of bases and in ASIG, the 

acquisition of Flygiene, a UK cabin grooming business. The fair market value 

of the assets acquired was £25.6 million, and the resulting goodwill was 

£53.0 million.

Interest
The net interest charge for the year totalled £22.3 million (2008: £20.5 million). 

The increase over the prior year was due to increased pension scheme interest 

costs (2009: charge £1.5 million, 2008: credit £2.4 million) and the higher 

translated value of dollar interest (circa £5.1 million) partially off set by the 

impact of a lower debt levels and interest rates. Interest cover was 4.5 times 

(2008: 5.4 times).

Tax and Dividends
The normalised tax rate reduced to 21.7% (2008: 26.1%), with the reduction 

from the prior year largely driven by the lower proportion of US earnings and 

the implementation of a new tax structure in the second half of 2008 from 

which we have received a full year’s benefi t in 2009.

The Board is recommending an unchanged fi nal dividend of 5.3p, leaving 

the total dividend also unchanged at 7.6p (2008: 7.6p). Dividend cover is 

slightly reduced at 1.9 times (2008: 2.1 times).

Pensions
The overall value of the Group’s pension scheme liabilities increased to 

£465.2 million (2008: £382.0 million) as a result of the reduction in corporate 

bond yields, which decreased the discount rate applied to the scheme’s 

liabilities, as well as an increased expectation for infl ation which impacts the 

assessment of future salary increases, and future pension payments. Asset 

values increased to £432.0 million (2008: £363.8 million), partly as a result of the 

strong recovery in fi nancial markets, and partly as a result of the increase in the 

valuation of the Legal and General insurance annuity purchased in 2008, 

which matches the increased liability associated with UK pensioner members. 

Overall, defi ned benefi t pensions showed a defi cit of £33.2 million (2008: 

£23.3 million defi cit).

  The last actuarial valuation of the scheme was undertaken during 

2007, and based on market conditions prevailing as at 31 March 2007 showed 

a small surplus. As a result of this, no defi cit recovery contributions were paid 

in 2008 and 2009. An updated valuation based on conditions as at 31 March 

2009 is currently underway and is expected to be completed during the fi rst 

half of 2010. This valuation is expected to show a defi cit.

  The UK defi ned benefi t BBA Income and Protection Plan (“IPP”) was 

closed to new members in 2002. During the second half of 2009, the Company 

consulted with the active members of the IPP with a view to changing the 

benefi ts payable to members to address the defi cit expected to arise out of 

the 2009 valuation, and also to restrict the increasing cost of providing defi ned 

benefi t pensions and thereby place the plan on a more secure fi nancial 

footing and make provision of benefi ts more sustainable in the future. 

The principal changes being adopted are the change in the basis of future 

service pension accrual from a fi nal salary defi ned benefi t pension to a career 

average revalued earnings (CARE) defi ned benefi t pension and the removal of 

the link between increases to fi nal salary benefi ts already accrued and 

increases to members’ salaries. These changes are expected to have an 

immediate impact in reducing the ongoing cost of pension provision and 

reducing BBA Aviation’s net liability to the pension plan, and will be taken into 

account in the fi nalisation of the 2009 valuation.

Cash Flow and Debt
During 2009, signifi cant focus was applied to cash generation and debt 

reduction, so as to ensure that the Group’s key banking ratios could be 

maintained well within covenant levels in the face of underlying reduction in 

trading activity. Cash fl ow from operating activities increased to £178.8 million 

(2008: £126.4 million) with a reduction in EBITDA more than off set by reduced 

capital expenditure and an improved working capital infl ow. We converted 

cash at substantially more than 100%, and free cash fl ow almost doubled to 

£137.5 million (2008: £77.2 million).

  Net debt at the end of the year was £391.6 million (2008: £554.4 

million), with a net cash infl ow of £107.2 million and the strengthening of the 

US dollar contributing to a foreign exchange gain of £55.6 million. The take up 

of the scrip dividend alternative meant that the cash payment was reduced by 

£10.0 million to £21.9 million (2008: £31.9 million). The fi nal payment of 

£9.1 million in relation to the Honeywell APU licence acquisition was made in 

the second half, and disposals net of earn out payments in relation to previous 

acquisitions generated £1.7 million.

  Gross capital expenditure was limited to £18.7 million (2008: £30.9 

million) representing 0.5 times depreciation (2008: 0.9 times).

  A signifi cant proportion of our debt is held in US dollars as a hedge 

against our US dollar assets. A profi le by currency is shown in the table below:

(Debt)/Cash Profile by Currency
   2009 2008
   £m £m

Sterling  5 4

US dollars  (404) (566)

Euros  9 10

Others  (2) (2)

Total   (392) (554)
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The Group has a syndicated multi-currency revolving credit facility for $900 

million which expires in September 2012 and a syndicated multi-currency 

revolving credit facility for $175 million which expires in August 2011.

  The Group policy with respect to cash deposits is to only have 

deposits with pre-approved banks with short-term credit ratings of A1/P1 and 

with limits on the amount deposited with each institution dependent on their 

long-term credit rating. Deposits are generally for short-term maturity (less 

than three months).

Financial Risk Management and Treasury Policies
The main fi nancial risks of the Group relate to funding and liquidity, interest 

rate fl uctuations and currency exposures. A central treasury department that 

reports directly to the Group Finance Director and operates according to 

objectives, policies and authorities approved by the Board, performs the 

management of these risks.

  The overall policy objective is to use fi nancial instruments to 

manage fi nancial risks arising from the underlying business activities and 

therefore the Group does not undertake speculative transactions for which 

there is no underlying fi nancial exposure. More details are set out in note 17 to 

the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Funding and Liquidity
The Group’s operations are fi nanced by a combination of retained profi ts, 

equity and borrowings. Borrowings are generally raised at Group level from 

banks and then lent to operating subsidiaries. The Group maintains suffi  cient 

available committed borrowing facilities to meet any forecasted funding 

requirements.

  At the end of 2009, the Group had two committed bank facilities 

totalling $1,075.0 million of which $752 million was drawn across them. These 

facilities are subject to cross-default. In the primary $900 million facility, having 

spent more than $100 million on the acquisition of Hawker Beechcraft in 2008, 

the Group exercised the option to increase the net debt to EBITDA covenant 

to 4.25 times at the 31 December 2008 testing date and to 4.0 times at the 

30 June and 31 December 2009 testing dates respectively. From 30 June 2010 

the covenant will return to 3.5 times.

  In addition, the Group maintains uncommitted facilities for daily 

working capital fl uctuation purposes. At the end of 2009, the undrawn 

amount of these uncommitted facilities totalled $31.4 million.

  The rationale for preparing the fi nancial statements on a going 

concern basis has been set out on page 60.

Interest Rate Risk Management
The interest rate exposure arising from the Group’s borrowing and deposit 

activity is managed by using a combination of fi xed and variable rate debt 

instruments and interest rate swaps. The Group’s policy with respect to 

interest rate risk management is to fi x portions of debt for varying periods 

based upon our debt maturity profi le and an assessment of interest rate 

trends. At the end of 2009, approximately 65% of the Group’s total borrowings 

were fi xed at weighted average interest rates of 3.3% for varying terms of up 

to fi ve years.

Currency Risk Management
The Group’s policy is to hedge all signifi cant transactional currency exposures 

through the use of forward currency contracts. Historically it has been the 

Group’s policy to hedge overseas capital employed, including recognised 

goodwill, between 50% and 85% by means of currency loans and currency 

swaps. During the year, the Board undertook a review of our hedging policy. 

In light of the fact that shareholders’ funds are no longer as relevant in our 

banking covenants, and so as to minimise volatility in the leverage ratio, the 

decision was made to phase out the use of cross currency swaps in hedging 

our overseas net assets, and in future net assets will be hedged using 

underlying borrowings only.
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Additional Disclosures

Group results and dividends
The results for the year ended 31 December 2009 are shown in the 

Consolidated Income Statement on page 62. 

  The directors recommend the payment of a fi nal ordinary share 

dividend for 2009 of 5.3p net per share on 21 May 2010 to shareholders on the 

register at the close of business on 5 March 2010, which together with the 

interim dividend paid on 6 November 2009 makes a total of 7.6p net per 

ordinary share for the year (2008: 7.6p). At the 2009 Annual General Meeting 

shareholders approved a scrip dividend scheme and this is being off ered for 

the fi nal dividend in 2009. Accompanying this report is a separate circular 

explaining the scrip dividend scheme together with (where applicable) a 

mandate form.

Acquisitions and disposals
There were no acquisitions during the year.

On 15 September 2009 the Group sold the FBO at Indianapolis Airport (“IND”), 

that had been acquired in the 2008 transaction with Hawker Beechcraft 

Services, for cash consideration of $5.8 million. The Group retained ownership 

of the Signature FBO at IND.

Events after the balance sheet date 
There were no post balance sheet events.

Research and development
The Group continues to devote eff ort and resources to research and 

development of new processes and products. Costs are charged against 

income as incurred.

Market value of land and buildings
The directors are of the opinion that the market values of the Group’s 

properties are not substantially diff erent from the values included in the 

Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Financial risk management and treasury policies
The fi nancial risk management and treasury policies of the Group are set out 

on page 43 and in notes 16 and 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Board of directors
The current directors of the Company at the date of this report appear on 

pages 40 and 41. Other than Peter Ratcliff e (who joined the Board on 9 January 

2009) they held offi  ce throughout the fi nancial year under review. Bruce Van 

Allen stepped down from the Board with eff ect from 8 January 2009.

Directors’ interests in shares
Directors’ interests in shares and share options are contained in the Directors’ 

Remuneration Report.

Directors’ indemnities
The Company entered into deeds of indemnity in 2006 and 2007 in favour of 

each of its then directors under which the Company agreed to indemnify 

each director against liabilities incurred by that director in respect of acts or 

omissions arising in the course of their offi  ce or otherwise by virtue of their 

offi  ce. On 19 February 2009 the Company entered into a deed of indemnity in 

identical terms in favour of Peter Ratcliff e. In addition the Company has 

entered into an indemnity deed poll in substantially similar terms dated 

19 March 2007 and supplemented by a supplemental deed poll dated 

26 September 2008 in favour of members of the Executive Management 

Committee and other members of senior management. Where such deeds 

are for the benefi t of directors they are qualifying third party indemnity 

provisions as defi ned by s309B of the Companies Act 1985 or s234 of the 

Companies Act 2006, as applicable. At the date of this report, these 

indemnities are therefore in force for the benefi t of all the current directors of 

the Company and other members of senior management.

On 1 November 2007 a subsidiary of the Company, BBA Aviation Finance, 

entered into qualifying third party indemnity provisions as defi ned by s234 of 

the Companies Act 2006 in favour of its directors under which each director is 

indemnifi ed against liabilities incurred by that director in respect of acts or 

omissions arising in the course of their offi  ce or otherwise by virtue of their 

offi  ce and such provisions remain in force as at the date of this report.

Agreements
Under s992 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company discloses that in the 

event of a change of control in the Company: (i) the Company’s $900 million 

revolving credit facility dated 7 September 2007 and its $175 million revolving 

credit facility dated 27 August 2008 could become repayable; and the Engine 

Lease Agreement dated 29 June 2009 (as amended) under which $30 million 

of aircraft engines have been leased to the ERO business could be terminated; 

and (ii) certain authorisations issued to the ERO business to carry out certain 

works on the authorising OEM’s engines could become terminable by the 

relevant OEM (OEMs include Rolls-Royce, Pratt & Whitney Canada and 

Honeywell). Under s992 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company also 

discloses (in addition to the potential release of shares awarded to Simon 

Pryce referred to in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 56) an 

employment agreement between a subsidiary company and Keith Ryan 

entered into in July 2002 which has provisions such that in certain 

circumstances relating to a change of control of the Company he could 

receive compensation upon termination of employment of up to a year’s 

remuneration, based on basic salary, bonus, benefi ts in kind and pension 

rights during the notice period.

  Under s417 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company discloses that 

certain IT systems that support the ERO, Legacy Support and APPH businesses 

and the banking facilities referred to in the paragraph above are essential to 

the business of the Company.

Management report
The management report required by the provisions of the Disclosure and 

Transparency Rules is included within this Directors’ Report and has been 

prepared in consultation with management.

Suppliers payment policy
The Company and Group’s policy is to settle terms of payment with suppliers 

when agreeing the terms of each transaction, to ensure that suppliers are made 

aware of the terms of payment and to abide by the terms of the payment.

Share capital
Details of the Company’s share capital and changes to the share capital are 

shown in note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. That note also 

contains a summary of the rights attaching to each class of shares and details 

of the number of ordinary shares held in employee benefi t trusts. The 

Company was given authority to purchase up to 14.99% of its existing ordinary 

share capital at the 2009 Annual General Meeting. That authority will expire at 

the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting in April 2010 unless renewed. 

Accordingly, a special resolution to renew the authority will be proposed at 

the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

  The existing authority for directors to allot ordinary shares will expire 

at the conclusion of the 2010 Annual General Meeting. Accordingly, an 

ordinary resolution to renew this authority will be proposed at the 

forthcoming Annual General Meeting. In addition, it will be proposed to give 

the directors further authority to allot ordinary shares in connection with a 

rights issue in favour of ordinary shareholders. This is in line with guidance 

issued by the Association of British Insurers. If the directors were to use such 

further authority in the year following the 2010 AGM, all directors wishing to 

remain in offi  ce would stand for re-election at the 2011 AGM.

  Details of these resolutions are included with the Notice of Annual 

General Meeting enclosed with this Report. 
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Substantial shareholdings
The Company has been notifi ed, as at 24 February 2010, of the following 

material interests in the voting rights of the Company under the provisions of 

the Disclosure and Transparency Rules:

    %

Aviva   9.85

Standard Life Investments Ltd Vidacos Nominees   9.080

Newton Investment Management Limited   5.08

Prudential plc group of companies   below 5

Schroders plc   4.962

Harris Associates L.P.   4.71

Jupiter Asset Management Limited   4.393

William H. Gates III   4

Legal & General Group Plc   3.95

Barclays Global Investors   3.86

Resolutions at the Annual General Meeting
The Company’s Annual General Meeting will be held on 29 April 2010. 

Accompanying this report is the Notice of Annual General Meeting which sets 

out the resolutions to be considered and approved at the meeting. As well as 

more routine matters such as the renewal of authority to allot shares, to 

disapply pre-emption rights and to purchase own shares, resolutions are 

being proposed to adopt new Articles of Association to update the 

Company’s current Articles primarily to refl ect the implementation of the 

Shareholder Rights Directive in the UK in August 2009 and the other changes 

to English company law arising from the implementation of the remaining 

provisions of the Companies Act 2006. The resolutions are explained in a letter 

from the Chairman which accompanies the Notice.

Charitable and political donations
Group donations to charities worldwide were £149,000 (2008: £157,000) with 

UK charities receiving £30,000 (2008: £26,000). No donations were made to 

any political party in either year.

Auditors
As required by s418 of the Companies Act 2006, each of the directors, at the 

date of the approval of this report, confi rms that:

a) so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 

the Company’s auditors are unaware; and

b) the director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director 

to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that 

the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

Words and phrases used in this confi rmation should be interpreted in 

accordance with s418 of the Companies Act 2006.

A resolution to reappoint Deloitte LLP as auditors of the Company will be 

proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Directors’ Report approved by the Board on 24 February 2010 and signed on 

its behalf by:

Zillah Stone
Group Secretary
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Directors’ Corporate Governance Statement

1. Compliance
2. The Board’s Role
3. The Board and Independence
4. Chairman and Group Chief Executive
5. Board Appointments
6. Information and Professional Development
7. Performance Evaluation
8. Board Committees
 a. Remuneration Committee
 b. Nomination Committee
9. Audit and Accountability
 a. Audit Committee
 b. Systems of Internal Control
10. Shareholder Relations

1. Compliance
The Board is committed to ensuring high and relevant standards of corporate 

governance are maintained at BBA Aviation plc.

  The Company applies the principles of corporate governance set 

out in Section 1 of The Combined Code on Corporate Governance 

(“Combined Code”) (adopted by the Financial Reporting Council, available at 

www.frc.org.uk/corporate and most recently revised in June 2008) through its 

own behaviour, by monitoring the evolution of corporate governance best 

practice, by reviewing and updating its procedures as required and by 

adopting, where appropriate, recommendations of relevant bodies. Board 

members have considered proposed developments in corporate governance 

during 2009 and have contributed to the debate in this area.

  The directors can confi rm compliance throughout 2009 with the 

provisions set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code.

  The auditors’ report concerning the Company’s compliance with 

the Combined Code appears on page 61.

2. The Board’s Role
The Board recognises its collective responsibility for the long-term success of 

the Company. Its role includes providing eff ective leadership and agreeing 

the Group’s strategic aims. It assesses business opportunities and seeks to 

ensure that appropriate controls are in place to assess and manage risk. It is 

responsible for reviewing management’s performance and oversees senior 

level succession planning within the Group. The Board is responsible for 

setting the Company’s values and standards, ensuring the Company’s 

obligations to its shareholders are met.

  There were eight scheduled Board meetings in 2009 which were 

attended by all the directors, other than the April meeting which Hansel 

Tookes was unable to attend. Board meetings focus on strategy and fi nancial 

and business performance. There was also an additional meeting of Board 

members focusing on the longer term strategic direction of the Group and 

looking in greater detail at the markets in which the Group operates. 

Additional meetings are called as required to deal with specifi c matters. 

The Board agenda is set by the Chairman in consultation with the Group 

Chief Executive, the Group Finance Director, other Board members and the 

Group Secretary.

  The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved to it for 

decision including approval of matters such as:

 strategy and objectives

 Group policies

 annual budgets

 dividends

 acquisitions and disposals of businesses

 expenditure over a certain limit

 fi nancial results

 appointments to the Board

This schedule of matters is reviewed by the Board on an annual basis. Matters 

outside the scope of this formal schedule are decided by management in 

accordance with delegated authorities approved by the Board and Audit 

Committee.

The Board’s policies and procedures are set out in a Directors’ File which is 

provided to all directors on appointment and which is reviewed annually and 

updated as required.

3. The Board and Independence
At the date of this report, the Board comprises a chairman, fi ve other non-

executive directors and two executive directors who contribute a wide range 

of complementary skills and experience. A short biography of each current 

director is set out on page 41.

  Peter Ratcliff e became a non-executive director with eff ect from 

9 January 2009, when he also joined the Remuneration and Audit Committees. 

Michael Harper took on the additional role of Chairman at Ricardo plc in 

November 2009. Bruce Van Allen stepped down from the Board with eff ect 

from 8 January 2009.

  The Board has determined that all its non-executive directors 

(including John Roques, who was appointed to the Board in January 1999) are 

independent in character and judgement. The renewal of John Roques’ 

appointment in 2009 was discussed by Board members in the light of the 

Board’s performance evaluations and the continuity of experience he 

provided, which the Board valued. Under the Combined Code a 

determination of independence is (after the year of appointment) not 

required for a serving Chairman. The Company has formal procedures in place 

to ensure that the Board’s powers to authorise confl icts are operated 

eff ectively. Those procedures were updated in 2008 and have been followed 

throughout 2009. 

  At the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM Andrew Wood and John 

Roques will, as previously announced, retire from the Board. At that time Mark 

Hoad will join the Board as Group Finance Director, Nick Land will become 

Senior Independent Director and Michael Harper will become Chairman of 

the Nomination Committee. As mentioned above, the Board keeps proposed 

corporate governance developments under review and, after discussing the 

Financial Reporting Council’s proposal to change the frequency of election 

for some or all Board members, the Board has decided that all Board members 

wishing to continue serving on the Board after the 2010 AGM will retire and 

stand for re-election at that AGM. The Board believes that each of the non-

executive directors should be re-elected by shareholders because, as 

evidenced by Board performance evaluations, each continues to be eff ective 

and demonstrate commitment to his role. The Board believes that each of 

them will continue to do so. 

  During the year the Chairman met the other non-executive 

directors without the attendance of the executive directors and there was a 

formal meeting of the Senior Independent Director and non-executive 

directors without the Chairman present. There were several other occasions 

during the year when discussions between various directors took place on an 

informal basis.

  Executive directors must obtain the prior consent of the Board 

before accepting a non-executive directorship in any other company. 

Executive directors may retain the fees from any such directorship. No 

executive directors held non-executive directorships during 2009. 

4. Chairman and Group Chief Executive
Throughout 2009 there has continued to be a clear division of responsibilities 

between the Chairman and the Group Chief Executive. This is reinforced by a 

written statement of the division of responsibilities between the two positions 

which was reviewed and approved by the Board in 2007. Michael Harper as 

Chairman is primarily responsible for leading the Board and ensuring its 

eff ectiveness. He is responsible for setting the Board agenda and ensuring the 

directors receive information in an accurate, clear and timely manner. He is 

responsible for promoting eff ective decision-making, ensuring the 

performance of the Board, its committees and individual directors are 

evaluated on an annual basis and that appropriate Board training and 

development occurs. Simon Pryce as Group Chief Executive is responsible for 

the development and implementation of Board strategy and policy, the 

running of the Group’s business, ensuring that the business strategy and 

activities are eff ectively communicated and promoted within and outside 

the business and for building positive relationships with the Company’s 

stakeholders.
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5. Board Appointments
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for planned and progressive 

refreshing of the Board. It believes that the necessary arrangements to 

manage succession issues promptly and eff ectively are in place. There is a 

formal and transparent procedure for the appointment of new directors to 

the Board, the prime responsibility for which is delegated to the Nomination 

Committee. The appointment process is initiated by the Board and a selection 

procedure established to identify suitable external search consultants for the 

vacancy. The process diff ers in its detail depending on whether the 

appointment is for an executive or non-executive position, but the essentials 

remain the same and was followed prior to the appointment of Peter Ratcliff e 

in January 2009 and the appointment, with eff ect from 29 April 2010, of Mark 

Hoad. Following the appointment of a suitable external consultant, details of 

the role and capabilities required for the appointment are prepared. The 

consultant then draws up a list of potential candidates and a shortlist is created 

through consultation amongst Nomination Committee members. The Board 

as a whole is also regularly updated as to the status of the appointment 

process. Meetings as appropriate are arranged with Committee members and 

the Committee aims to ensure that each Board member is given the 

opportunity to meet the short-listed candidates. The Nomination Committee 

will then meet to fi nalise a recommendation to the Board regarding the 

appointment.

  There is a written framework for the induction of new directors 

which includes site visits, meetings with senior management and advisers 

and the provision of corporate documentation. A personal induction 

programme is prepared for each new director tailored to the experience and 

needs of the individual. New directors are available to meet major 

shareholders on request.

  Appointments of non-executive directors are made by the Board for 

an initial term of three years. This term is subject to the usual regulatory 

provisions and continued satisfactory performance of duties following the 

Board’s annual performance evaluation. Re-appointment for a further term is 

not automatic but may be made by mutual agreement. In addition, in 

accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association all directors are subject 

to re-election at least every three years.

  The fees of the non-executive directors are determined by the 

Board as a whole on the recommendation of the Group Chief Executive. No 

director is involved in deciding his own remuneration or fees. Letters of 

appointment for the non-executive directors are available for inspection by 

shareholders at each AGM and during normal business hours at the 

Company’s registered offi  ce.

6. Information and Professional Development
The Chairman takes responsibility for ensuring the directors receive accurate, 

timely and clear information with Board and Committee papers being 

circulated in advance of meetings. The Board and its Committees are kept 

informed of corporate governance and relevant regulatory developments as 

they arise and receive appropriate briefi ngs. The Audit Committee is routinely 

briefed on accounting and technical matters by senior management and the 

external auditors, the Remuneration Committee receives updates on 

remuneration trends and market practices and in 2009 the Board watched 

and discussed a training video on the handling of matters arising from 

whistleblowing calls.

  In addition to formal Board meetings, the Chairman maintained 

regular contact during the year with other directors to discuss specifi c issues. 

Opportunities exist throughout the year for informal contact between Board 

members and with members of the senior management team. In addition 

there is a structured programme of presentations to the Board from each of 

the businesses within the Group and from a number of Group functional 

leaders. Site visits are arranged for Board members at which they also meet 

employees in individual operations. For example, in October 2009 Board 

members toured ASIG’s operations in Atlanta at Hartsville-Jackson 

International Airport and had an opportunity to use de-icing and towing 

training simulators when they saw a demonstration of ASIG’s computer-based 

training facilities. In 2009 Board members also met with customers.

  The Board believes that, given the experience and skills of its current 

directors, the identifi cation of individual development needs is best left to the 

individual director’s discretion. If any such needs became evident through the 

annual performance evaluation, the director would be encouraged to pursue 

the necessary development. The Company will provide the necessary 

resources for developing and updating the directors’ knowledge and skills.

  All directors have access to the advice and services of the Group 

Secretary and the Board has established a procedure whereby directors 

wishing to do so in furtherance of their duties may take independent 

professional advice at the Company’s expense.

  The Company arranges appropriate insurance cover in respect 

of legal actions against its directors. The Company has also entered into 

indemnities with its directors as described on page 44 of this Directors’ 

Report.

7. Performance Evaluation
In the autumn of 2009 the Chairman, in conjunction with the Senior 

Independent Director, led the performance evaluation and appraisal process 

for the Board, its members and its main Committees. The Chairman discussed 

with each director individually their replies to a questionnaire they had 

previously completed concerning the Board, its Committees and their 

operation; progress made on the action points agreed following the 2008 

Board performance evaluation process; and any concerns the director had 

and the director’s own performance. In addition, the Senior Independent 

Director, in consultation with the other non-executive directors and taking 

into account the views of the executive directors, reviewed the performance 

of the Chairman and the performance evaluation and appraisal process as a 

whole. Overall the conclusion from the Board evaluation and appraisal 

process was positive, with each individual director contributing actively to the 

eff ective performance of the Board and the Committees of which he is a 

member. The Board discussed the main points arising from the evaluation at 

its December meeting and it was agreed that a more formal succession and 

development planning meeting would be held in 2010. The Board benefi ted 

from customer and market analyst input prior to its annual strategy 

discussions in 2009. The more structured timetable of presentations to the 

Board from each of the businesses within the Group and the increased 

communication between Board meetings, that had been introduced in 2008, 

was continued in 2009. The positive progress against the objectives the Board 

had set itself in 2009 relating to strategy, cash forecasting, external perceptions 

of the Group, succession planning and corporate social responsibility has 

been reviewed and new objectives set for 2010.
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8. Board Committees
The Board operates a Remuneration Committee, a Nomination Committee 

and an Audit Committee. Written terms of reference for each Committee are 

available on request and are posted on the Company’s website.

a. Remuneration Committee
Composition
The composition of the Remuneration Committee during 2009 is set out in 

the table below. All committee members are non-executive directors. Mark 

Harper, Michael Harper, Nick Land, John Roques and Hansel Tookes were on 

the Committee at the time of determining remuneration for the year ended 

31 December 2009. 

   During Year

  01/01/09 Resigned Appointed 31/12/09 24/02/10

Mark Harper 

(Chairman) √ – – √ √
Michael Harper √  5/10/09 – – –
Nick Land √ – – √ √
Peter Ratcliffe – – 09/01/09 √ √
John Roques √ – – √ √
Hansel Tookes √ – – √ √

During 2009 the Remuneration Committee met formally on six occasions. 

These meetings were attended by all Committee members and minuted by 

the Group Secretary. During the year the voting advisory service RREV 

expressed concerns that Michael Harper had been, on a temporary and 

interim basis, an executive director between February 2006 and June 2007 

and was therefore not “independent”. The Board believes Michael Harper to 

be an appropriate member of the Remuneration Committee. However, to 

avoid shareholders being distracted by RREV’s concerns, Michael Harper 

resigned from the Committee on 5 October 2009. Executive directors, the 

Group HR Director and now Michael Harper may attend Remuneration 

Committee meetings by invitation.

Role
The Committee has two principal functions: fi rst, making recommendations 

to the Board on the framework or broad policy for the remuneration of 

executive directors and other designated senior executives and second, 

determining on behalf of the Board the specifi c remuneration package for 

each of the executive directors, including pension rights and any 

compensation payments.

  The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for discussing and 

agreeing a compensation policy for the Group. In conjunction with the Group 

Chief Executive and Group HR Director, the Committee is tasked with 

developing a broad compensation framework for senior management and 

for reviewing the remuneration for certain senior executives. The specifi c 

application of this policy and framework to each senior executive is the 

responsibility of the Group Chief Executive.

  Further details of the work of the Remuneration Committee appear 

in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

b. Nomination Committee
Composition
The composition of the Nomination Committee during 2009 is set out in the 

table below. The Nomination Committee comprised two executive directors 

and four non-executive directors. 

   During Year

  01/01/09 Resigned Appointed 31/12/09 24/02/10

John Roques

(Chairman) √ – –  √ √
Michael Harper √ – – √ √
Simon Pryce √ – –  √ √
Andrew Wood √ – – √ √
Mark Harper √ – – √ √
Nick Land √ – – √ √
 

Other directors may attend Nomination Committee meetings by invitation. 

The Nomination Committee meets as required. During 2009 the Committee 

had one formal meeting, following consultation with all Committee 

members. This was supplemented by informal meetings, individual briefi ngs 

and meetings between Committee members.

Role
The principal role of the Committee is to make recommendations to the Board 

on the appointment of the Company’s executive and non-executive directors. 

It is responsible for identifying and nominating candidates to fi ll Board 

vacancies. In making appointments, the Committee evaluates the balance of 

skills, knowledge and experience on the Board and in the light of this 

evaluation considers the capabilities required for the role and, in the case of a 

non-executive appointment, the time available to fulfi l the role. Use is made 

of independent search consultants and the fi nal appointment rests with the 

full Board. More information on the role of the Nomination Committee is set 

out in section 5 “Board Appointments” above.

  Details regarding the Audit Committee are set out in section 9a on 

page 49.

Directors’ Corporate Governance Statement — continuedDirectors’ Report

38  Corporate Social 
Responsibility

40  Board of Directors and 
Executive Management

42  Financial Matters

44 Additional Disclosures

46  Directors’ Corporate 46  Directors’ Corporate 
Governance StatementGovernance Statement

52  Directors’ Remuneration 
Report

60  Going Concern and 
Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities

Financial statementsFinancial statements

61  Independent auditor’s report 
to the members of BBA 
Aviation plc in respect of 
the consolidated financial 
statements

62  Consolidated income 
statement

63  Consolidated balance sheet

64  Consolidated cash flow 
statement

65  Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income

65  Consolidated statement of 
changes in equity

66  Accounting policies of 
the Group

69  Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements

95  Independent auditor’s report 
to the members of BBA 
Aviation plc in respect of the 
parent company financial 
statements

96  Company balance sheet

96  Accounting policies of 
the Company

98  Notes to the Company 
financial statements

102  Principal subsidiary 
undertakings

103  Five year summary

104  Shareholder information



49Directors’ Report

9. Audit and Accountability
a. Audit Committee
Composition
The composition of the Audit Committee during 2009 is set out in the 

following table. All members of the Audit Committee are independent non-

executive directors. Nick Land, the Committee’s Chairman, has relevant and 

recent fi nancial experience and a professional accountancy qualifi cation as 

considered desirable by the Financial Reporting Council’s Guidance on Audit 

Committees issued in October 2008 (“Guidance on Audit Committees”). In 

addition the other Committee members all have experience of corporate 

fi nancial matters and Peter Ratcliff e and John Roques have professional 

accountancy qualifi cations.

   During Year

  01/01/09 Resigned Appointed 31/12/09 24/02/10

Nick Land

(Chairman) √ – – √ √
Mark Harper √ – – √ √
Peter Ratcliffe – – 09/01/09 √ √
John Roques √ – – √ √
 

During 2009 the Audit Committee met on four occasions, generally coinciding 

with key dates in the fi nancial reporting and audit cycle. There was full 

attendance by all the Committee members. The external auditors and Head 

of Group Internal Audit regularly attend these meetings which are minuted by 

the Group Secretary. The Chairman, Group Chief Executive, Group Finance 

Director and Group Financial Controller also generally join at least part of the 

Audit Committee meetings by invitation. The Committee Chairman may call a 

meeting at the request of any director or the Company’s external auditors.

Role
The Committee may consider any matter that might have a fi nancial impact 

on the Group. However, its primary roles are: fi rst, monitoring the fi nancial 

reporting process and reviewing the scope and results of the external audit 

and the internal audit work programme; and second, reviewing the annual 

fi nancial statements and half-yearly and preliminary announcements before 

they are presented to the Board. In addition, the Committee reviews twice 

yearly reports on the Group’s key business risks and the Audit Committee 

(whose members are also members of the Remuneration Committee) is 

aware of the importance of keeping the appropriateness of incentive 

structures under review. The Committee assesses compliance with the 

directors’ responsibility statement. The Committee also reviews the Group’s 

Disclosure of Unethical Conduct Policy under which staff  may, in confi dence, 

raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of fi nancial reporting 

or other matters. In 2009 this review was incorporated into the twice yearly 

formal report to the Audit Committee on Business Ethics and Compliance. 

  The Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the 

Board regarding the remuneration and appointment of its external auditors. 

While the appointment of external auditors is considered each year, it is the 

policy of the Audit Committee to review the appointment in greater detail at 

least every fi ve years. Such a review was completed in 2008, taking into 

account a number of factors, including audit eff ectiveness at both operating 

company and Group-level; quality, continuity and depth of resources and 

expertise and competitiveness of fees. The appointment of Senior Statutory 

Auditor is also rotated every fi ve years and Nigel Mercer was appointed to this 

role for the 2008 audit.

The Audit Committee discharges its responsibilities through the review of 

written reports circulated in advance of meetings and by discussing these 

reports and any other matters with the relevant auditors and management. 

Topics covered by the Audit Committee during 2009 and to date in 2010 

included: review of any signifi cant issues from reports from both the internal 

and external audits; consideration of the audit fee and the balance between 

audit and non-audit fees; assessment of the risk of the possible withdrawal of 

Deloitte LLP from the external auditor market; annual review of the terms of 

reference of the Committee and of the schedule of the Committee’s agenda 

items for the forthcoming year and of BBA Aviation’s matrix of authority levels 

and other topics that are described in more detail in this report.

  In 2009 the Audit Committee held two confi dential sessions without 

management present with the Head of Group Internal Audit and with the 

external auditors.

Auditor Independence and Audit Effectiveness
Central to the Audit Committee’s work is the review and monitoring of the 

external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the eff ectiveness of the 

audit process. The Audit Committee carried out a formal audit service 

assessment in respect of work carried out during the year including a review 

of audit plans and the qualifi cations, expertise, resources, eff ectiveness and 

independence of the external auditors. The Audit Committee has also carried 

out a detailed performance evaluation and believes that it has satisfi ed the 

requirements of the Combined Code and the Guidance on Audit Committees. 

The Audit Committee has confi rmed that during the year it had formal and 

transparent arrangements for considering fi nancial reporting and internal 

control principles and maintaining an appropriate relationship with the 

Company’s auditors.

  A key safeguard to ensure auditor objectivity and independence is 

the Committee’s policy on the provision of non-audit services by its external 

auditors. This policy is reviewed annually. It prohibits the Group’s external 

auditors from carrying out certain additional services for the Group including 

book-keeping, internal audit, valuations, actuarial services and fi nancial 

systems design and implementation. Services which the external auditors 

may be permitted to carry out include assurance services such as reporting 

accountant work and tax services. The Committee is satisfi ed that the majority 

of the tax services supplied by Deloitte LLP are compliance-related and 

represent a small proportion of Group tax fees.

  As a matter of principle, the Company’s policy is not to use the 

external auditors for acquisition and due diligence work. However, where the 

Group considers it appropriate or where confl icts arise, suppliers other than 

the preferred supplier may be asked to tender.

  The Committee Chairman is required to pre-approve certain 

permitted services, which may exceed set fi nancial limits. Non-audit fees paid 

or due to the external auditors are regularly reviewed by the Committee and 

those paid in 2009 are set out in note 2 to the Consolidated Financial 

Statements.

  Deloitte LLP have confi rmed that all non-audit services they 

performed during the year were permitted by APB Ethical Standards and do 

not impair their independence or objectivity. On the basis of their own review 

of the services performed, the requirement of pre-approval and the auditors’ 

confi rmation, the Committee is satisfi ed that the non-audit services currently 

provided by Deloitte LLP do not impair their independence and objectivity.
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b. Systems of Internal Control 
Overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control and for 

reviewing its eff ectiveness rests with the directors. Management is 

accountable to the directors for monitoring this system and for providing 

assurance to the directors that it has done so. The system of internal control is 

essentially an ongoing process embedded in the Group’s businesses for 

identifying, evaluating and managing the signifi cant risks faced by the Group, 

including social, environmental and ethical risks. The Group considers that it 

has adequate information to identify and assess signifi cant risks and 

opportunities aff ecting its long and short-term value.

  This process has been in place for the year ended 31 December 2009 

and up to 24 February 2010 and the directors can therefore confi rm that they 

have reviewed the eff ectiveness in accordance with the internal control 

requirements of the Combined Code throughout that period.

  The Group’s internal system of control is reviewed annually by the 

directors and accords with the guidance issued by the Financial Reporting 

Council in October 2005: “Internal Control: Revised Guidance for Directors on 

the Combined Code”. The system is designed to manage rather than eliminate 

the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. It can provide reasonable but 

not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, to the extent 

that is appropriate, taking account of costs and benefi ts.

  The main features of the Group’s internal control and risk 

management systems are listed below.

1.  Detailed written self-assessment of risks by company, division and 

function carried out by the responsible executive are plotted on risk 

maps. The process to identify risks and their mitigation has been 

supplemented in 2009 by externally facilitated risk workshops carried out 

at a number of key operating units. Further workshops are planned in 

2010. Both the assessments and the risk maps are reviewed by the 

internal audit department and by senior management at quarterly 

operating review meetings held with each business. These reviews 

assess the following categories of risk:

  business;

  fi nancial;

  compliance; and

  operational and other including health, safety and environmental.

  The outcome from these reviews is then discussed twice each year at 

meetings of the Executive Management Committee, with the results 

being presented to the Audit Committee, which in turn reviews the 

eff ectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control on behalf of the 

Board. The Audit Committee receives a report at least twice a year from 

the Group Finance Director detailing the risks and the work undertaken 

in managing the risks faced by the Group. Based on this information the 

Board reviews the risks and confi rms they are satisfi ed that the risks are 

appropriately mitigated. If this is not the case they request that 

management take further action. 

2.  An organisational structure is in place at both head offi  ce and divisional 

level which clearly defi nes responsibilities for operational, accounting, 

taxation, treasury, legal, company secretarial and insurance functions.

3.  An internal audit function undertakes a programme of risk-based reviews 

of controls and business processes. The role of internal audit is defi ned in 

a “Group Internal Audit Charter” and this includes its terms of reference, 

the standards which it adheres to, the scope and coverage of its work and 

its reporting processes. The Audit Committee receives a report from 

internal audit at each meeting which includes opinions on the adequacy 

and eff ectiveness of controls by site, a summary of key issues, work 

schedules and details of any action required. In accordance with the 

Combined Code, the Audit Committee regularly monitors and reviews 

the eff ectiveness of internal audit utilising outside specialists and self-

assessment techniques. During the winter of 2008-9, in accordance with 

the standards issued by The Institute of Internal Auditors – UK and Ireland, 

an external, independent review of the eff ectiveness of the internal audit 

function was undertaken, and its positive fi ndings were reported to the 

Audit Committee, which held a meeting with the external reviewing 

team to discuss the fi ndings.

4.  A Group Finance Manual details accounting policies and fi nancial 

controls applicable to all reporting units. The Group accounting policies 

are aligned with the latest International Accounting Standards and 

International Financial Reporting Standards. Compliance with these 

policies is reviewed as part of the internal audit process.

5.  An annual budgeting exercise is carried out to set targets for each of the 

Group’s reporting units.

6.  Detailed management accounts are submitted monthly to management 

which measure actual performance against budget and forecasts. The 

monthly forecasts of sales, profi ts and operating cash are updated on a 

quarterly basis. The integrity of these management accounts with the 

underlying fi nancial records is subject to review as part of the internal 

audit process. A monthly report is provided to the Board, based on these 

management accounts, highlighting key issues and summarising the 

detailed fi nancial information provided by the operating units.

7.  Capital expenditure is controlled by means of budgets, authorisation 

levels requiring the approval of major projects by the Group directors 

and by post-investment appraisals.

8.  Defi ned procedures are laid down for investments, currency and 

commodity hedging, granting of guarantees and use of treasury 

products.

9.  A detailed matrix defi nes the levels of authority for the Group’s senior 

executives and their direct reports in relation to acquisitions, capital 

expenditure, commercial and employee contracts and treasury matters. 

This matrix is authorised by the Audit Committee on behalf of the Board 

and is reviewed on an annual basis. Compliance with the authority matrix 

is reviewed as part of the internal audit process.
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10.   All signifi cant acquisitions and disposals of companies or businesses are 

approved by the Board.

11.  A Group policies manual sets out policies and procedures concerning: 

business ethics, bribery and corruption, gifts and entertainments, equal 

opportunities and anti-harassment guidelines, competition law, legal 

policy, market disclosure and communications and share dealing. A bi-

annual review of compliance with such policies by Group companies is 

carried out and senior executives are also required to confi rm compliance 

with certain policies twice a year. Group policies are complemented by 

divisional and company-led initiatives and are supplemented by the 

Group’s Disclosure of Unethical Conduct Policy which includes a 24-hour 

“hotline” available to all employees, supported by a formal investigation 

protocol and regular reporting to the Audit Committee.

12.  A Group Safety Management System Manual details policies, standards 

and procedures which are applicable throughout the Group. Further 

details about Health, Safety and Environmental (HSE) matters are set out 

on page 38 under “Corporate Social Responsibility” and on the BBA 

Aviation website. Annual self-assessment and/or audits are carried out at 

company level against the Group standards. An executive summary HSE 

report is reviewed at each meeting of the Executive Management 

Committee. The Board also receives this summary HSE report in addition 

to updates on HSE activities. These reports cover all Group companies 

and are prepared by the internal Group HSE function. Senior managers’ 

performance and related fi nancial incentives are tied in part to their 

success against selected annual HSE improvement objectives. 

10. Shareholder Relations
The Board as a whole is routinely kept up to date on corporate governance 

developments and the views of BBA Aviation’s major shareholders. This was 

achieved in 2009 through regular meetings between the Group Chief 

Executive, the Group Finance Director and major shareholders, which are then 

reported to the Board as a whole. The Board also receives formal written 

reports from its brokers regarding the views of its principal shareholders 

following its preliminary and half yearly results announcements and at other 

times as appropriate. All non-executive directors, including the Senior 

Independent Director, are available to meet with major shareholders and in 

addition, prior to the AGM in 2009, the Chairman also contacted the principal 

shareholders at that time, formally off ering them the opportunity to raise any 

issues or questions. The Board considers that its non-executive directors, 

including its current Senior Independent Director, John Roques, have a good 

level of understanding of the issues and concerns of major shareholders, as 

required by the Combined Code.

  A programme of meetings with institutional shareholders, fund 

managers and analysts takes place each year. The directors seek to encourage 

a continuing dialogue. The Company maintains contact as required with its 

principal shareholders about directors’ remuneration in the same way as for 

other matters. The Company’s AGM is used as an opportunity to communicate 

with private investors. It is intended that notice of the AGM and related papers 

are sent to shareholders at least 20 working days before the meeting. Michael 

Harper as Chairman of the Board, John Roques as Chairman of the Nomination 

Committee (and Senior Independent Director), Nick Land as Chairman of the 

Audit Committee and Mark Harper as Chairman of the Remuneration 

Committee (and CSR Responsible Director) will each be available to answer 

questions, as appropriate, at the AGM. Shareholders are given the opportunity 

of voting separately on each proposal. The Company counts all proxy votes 

cast in respect of the AGM and makes available the proxy voting fi gures (for, 

against, at discretion and “vote withheld”) on each resolution. The voting 

results of the AGM, together with the details of proxy votes cast prior to the 

meeting, are made available on request and on the Company’s website. The 

results of the AGM are announced to the market via a Regulatory News 

Service.

Directors’ Corporate Governance Statement approved by the Board on 

24 February 2010 and signed on its behalf by:

Zillah Stone
Group Secretary



52

Directors’ Remuneration Report 

This report covers the remuneration policy for directors and includes specifi c 

disclosures relating to directors’ emoluments, their shares and other interests. 

It has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Large and 

Medium-Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 

2008 and the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority. 

  This report is being put to shareholders at the forthcoming AGM for 

an advisory vote. Information in this report is unaudited other than that which 

is required to be audited and that is stated as such in the relevant table.

1. Remuneration Committee
Although the Board considers itself ultimately responsible for both the 

framework and the cost of executive remuneration, it has delegated prime 

responsibility for executive remuneration to the Remuneration Committee.

  The Remuneration Committee is a Committee of the Board 

consisting exclusively of non-executive directors. Its meetings are minuted by 

the Group Secretary. Details of the Committee’s membership are set out on 

page 48. It is responsible for determining executive directors’ remuneration 

and reviewing proposals in respect of other senior executives. The Committee 

also determines targets for short-term incentive plans and performance-

related share schemes operated by the Company and oversees any major 

changes in employee benefi t structures throughout the Group. Further 

details of the work of the Remuneration Committee are set out on page 48.

  In 2009 the Remuneration Committee appointed Watson Wyatt 

Limited (now Towers Watson) to provide independent advice and assist the 

Committee in carrying out its responsibilities. Towers Watson advises the 

Remuneration Committee in relation to remuneration strategy and during 

2009 provided the Committee with benchmarking information about 

individuals within the remit of the Committee, background information about 

remuneration trends and calculations of total shareholder return in 

connection with the BBA 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan and the 2006 

Deferred Bonus Plan and advised on a number of alternative proposals for 

possible changes to the Company’s remuneration plans.

  Towers Watson also provides advice to the Company in respect of 

individuals outside the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee 

and on human resource policies, including benchmarking information and 

advice on healthcare and benefi ts provision and pension administration 

services and in 2009 also provided some benchmarking information 

about non-executive directors’ fees. Towers Watson is a member of the 

Remuneration Consultants Group and is committed to that Group’s voluntary 

code of practice for remuneration consultants in the UK.

  During 2009 the Committee also consulted the Group Chief 

Executive, the Group Finance Director, the Group HR Director and the Group 

Secretary in connection with the Committee’s work, although not directly in 

connection with their own remuneration, and has consulted extensively with 

Michael Harper, since 5 October 2009 when he has no longer been a member 

of the Remuneration Committee (as explained in more detail on page 48 of 

the Corporate Governance Statement). It is expected that the Committee will 

wish to continue to consult them in 2010.

2. Remuneration Policy
The Group’s remuneration policy is to ensure that executive directors’ and 

other senior executives’ remuneration properly refl ects their duties and 

responsibilities and is suffi  cient to attract, retain and motivate high calibre 

senior management capable collectively of delivering the goals of the 

Company. The Remuneration Committee believes that a signifi cant element 

of executive directors’ remuneration should be linked to performance-related 

long-term incentives and accordingly remuneration plans were developed to 

take due account of market and best practice at the time of their 

establishment in 2006 when the Company demerged. As mentioned in the 

Annual Report 2008, during 2009 a review of the structure of the total 

remuneration packages for senior executives was conducted. Shareholders 

representing over 45% of the Company’s share register were consulted about 

a number of changes designed to better align executive remuneration with 

the strategic objectives of the Group and the interests of the shareholders. As 

a result, a number of changes are being introduced in 2010 to the structure 

and balance of the key elements of the Company’s remuneration package. 

These are summarised below and are also cross referred to in the relevant 

sections of this Remuneration Report.

  The annual bonus opportunity will increase from 100% to 125% of salary for 

executive directors but with half of any bonus payable compulsorily 

deferred into shares which are forfeitable if the individual leaves prior to the 

vesting date (vesting being phased over three years). This compares with a 

compulsory bonus deferral into shares of 25% of bonus paid under the 2009 

bonus plan with no forfeiture provisions. The doubling of the amount of the 

annual bonus required to be deferred into shares reduces the cash value of 

the annual bonus, deferring the full benefi t of any annual bonus payable for 

a further three years. The 2010 annual bonus will not be fully paid out until 

2014, a year later than any share awards made in 2010 under the Long-Term 

Incentive Plan would vest.

  There will continue to be the opportunity for additional voluntary deferral of 

bonus but it will be expanded to enable up to 100% (instead of the current 

50%) of any cash bonus payable to be deferred into shares. Any voluntarily 

deferred portion of bonus would be held as shares in the Employee Benefi t 

Trust on behalf of the participants, without any forfeiture provisions.

  Bonus deferred into shares (whether compulsorily or voluntarily) will benefi t 

(as currently) from a matching award of shares up to a maximum of 1:1. The 

applicable performance condition for those awards made in 2011 in respect 

of 2010 bonus payments will be based on the more relevant Company 

fi nancial measure of return on invested capital (ROIC). Targets will be agreed 

at the time of award for the relevant three-year performance period by the 

Remuneration Committee on behalf of the Board, based on the Company’s 

strategic plan and the Company’s estimated cost of capital. Matching awards 

will continue to lapse (except in certain agreed situations, such as 

redundancy) if the individual leaves prior to the vesting date.

  The size of future awards under the Long-Term Incentive Plan will be 

reduced to a face value of half base salary for executive directors other than 

Simon Pryce for whom the award will be reduced to one times face value of 

base salary. This change is made in conjunction with the increase in bonus 

potential and increase in compulsory deferral into shares for three years. 

These awards too will continue to lapse (except in certain agreed situations, 

such as redundancy) if the individual leaves prior to the vesting date. The 

performance conditions for the three-year performance period will be solely 

earnings per share (EPS) based and will be set at the beginning of each 

performance period.

  All unvested awards to Executive Management Committee members will 

be subject to explicit provisions in the event of material fi nancial 

misstatement.

Directors’ Report

38  Corporate Social 
Responsibility

40  Board of Directors and 
Executive Management

42  Financial Matters

44 Additional Disclosures

46  Directors’ Corporate 
Governance Statement

52  Directors’ Remuneration 52  Directors’ Remuneration 
ReportReport

60  Going Concern and 
Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities

Financial statementsFinancial statements

61  Independent auditor’s report 
to the members of BBA 
Aviation plc in respect of 
the consolidated financial 
statements

62  Consolidated income 
statement

63  Consolidated balance sheet

64  Consolidated cash flow 
statement

65  Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income

65  Consolidated statement of 
changes in equity

66  Accounting policies of 
the Group

69  Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements

95  Independent auditor’s report 
to the members of BBA 
Aviation plc in respect of the 
parent company financial 
statements

96  Company balance sheet

96  Accounting policies of 
the Company

98  Notes to the Company 
financial statements

102  Principal subsidiary 
undertakings

103  Five year summary

104  Shareholder information



53Directors’ Report

The Committee feels that these changes are in the best interests of both the 

Company and its stakeholders, improving the alignment and motivation of 

senior executives to deliver against the Company’s strategic objectives, 

enabling them to be rewarded for sustainable, rather than short term, 

performance and creating more eff ective retention arrangements, thereby 

ensuring the Company gets better economic benefi t from the accounting 

costs of incentive schemes.

  The Committee recognises the need to remain competitive in the 

diff erent geographic areas in which the Company operates and places high 

importance on the need for the remuneration arrangements for senior 

executives to remain closely aligned to the creation of shareholder value and 

to the business strategy of BBA Aviation. The Committee took into 

consideration then current UK best practice for listed companies as it was 

undertaking its review in 2009 of the Company’s remuneration plans and is 

aware that what is considered to be best practice is constantly evolving and 

that diff erent market participants have diff erent views of what is best practice. 

In connection with the ABI Responsible Investment Disclosure Guidelines, the 

Remuneration Committee can confi rm that it is able to consider corporate 

performance on environmental, social and governance issues when setting 

the remuneration of executive directors. The Committee also believes that 

the incentive structure for senior management does not raise environmental, 

social or governance risks by inadvertently motivating irresponsible behaviour 

and is compatible with the Company’s risk policies and systems. 

  Total executive remuneration is structured to deliver potential 

upper quartile rewards for superior performance with a signifi cant proportion 

of variable pay subject to stretching performance targets. The Committee 

believes that the remuneration packages of the executive directors contain a 

suitable balance of directly performance-related remuneration which links 

both the short-term fi nancial performance of the Group and long-term 

shareholder returns with the executives’ total remuneration. 

3. Executive Directors’ Remuneration
There are four main components of executive directors’ remuneration: 

  salary, benefi ts and service contract; 

  annual and deferred bonus;

  long-term incentives; and 

  pension.

Both the policy and the implementation of the policy relating to these four 

main components are set out below. 

a. Salary, Benefits and Service Contract: policy 
The policy of the Committee is to provide base salaries that are positioned 

around mid-market when compared with local salary data. Salary is reviewed 

by reference to market conditions, fi nancial and individual performance. The 

base pay portion of an executive’s total remuneration is set by reference to the 

local market in which they work whereas in setting short and long-term 

incentives reference is made to the wider, global market. 

  In addition to basic salary, executive directors receive traditional 

benefi ts in kind, principally a company car allowance, private medical 

insurance and death in service benefi ts.

  The policy of the Committee is to make new executive director 

appointments with a rolling service agreement which can be terminated by 

the Company on giving 12 months’ notice.

b. Salary, Benefits and Service Contract: implementation 
Base salaries are reviewed annually by reference to comparator groups 

selected on the basis of comparable size, geographic spread and business 

focus. Individual salary decisions take into account market conditions, 

business performance, personal contribution and the level of pay awards 

elsewhere in the Group. Following a review at the end of 2009 the 

Remuneration Committee approved (with eff ect from 1 January 2010) a base 

salary of £525,300 for Simon Pryce and of £350,115 for Andrew Wood, a 2% 

increase, such percentage increases being broadly in line or below average 

salary increases across the Group. The Committee has been advised by the 

Group HR Director about pay and conditions of employees in the rest of the 

Group and these factors are taken into account when determining directors’ 

remuneration. 

  Set out below are the contractual notice periods for executive 

directors who served during the year.
    Months’ Notice
  Contract By To
  Date  Company Company

Simon Pryce 23/04/07 12 12

Andrew Wood 13/02/01 12 6

Bruce Van Allen 01/01/04 12 12

In the event of early termination, the Remuneration Committee will, within 

legal constraints, determine the approach to be taken according to the 

circumstances of each individual case, taking account of the departing 

director’s obligation to mitigate his loss. In certain circumstances, and other 

than for termination for non-performance, the executive directors may 

receive compensation upon early termination of a contract which could, 

depending on the circumstances at the relevant time, amount to up to one 

year’s remuneration based on basic salary, bonus, benefi ts in kind and pension 

rights during the notice period.

  Table 1 (page 57) sets out details of the executive directors’ salaries 

and non-executive directors’ fees. 

c. Annual and Deferred Bonus: policy
Annual cash bonuses for executive directors and senior management are 

based on stretching fi nancial performance and personal objectives which are 

set annually. 

  The structure for the 2009 bonus arrangements was that the 

maximum bonus potential for executive directors was 100% of salary, with 

85% of the maximum bonus based on fi nancial objectives (with a maximum 

of 25% for achievement of Group ROIC targets and 60% for achievement of 

Group free cash fl ow targets) and the remaining 15% based on measurable 

personal objectives. In setting the performance measures for the bonuses in 

2009 the Committee concluded that there should be a greater weighting to 

free cash fl ow than in previous years, refl ecting the changed economic 

environment. For 2009, 25% of bonus was subject to compulsory deferral into 

BBA Aviation shares and a further 25% may be voluntarily deferred under the 

BBA Deferred Bonus Plan. The Committee believes that providing a signifi cant 

proportion of variable pay subject to stretching performance targets is 

appropriate. The deferral into shares also provides a direct linkage with 

shareholders’ interests and this element is being substantially increased for 

the 2010 bonuses payable in 2011 as outlined above.

  As a result of the review of remuneration strategy in 2009, this 

structure is being varied for the 2010 bonus arrangements; bonuses in respect 

of 2010 will be structured as follows:

  the maximum bonus potential for executive directors for 2010 will be 125% 

of salary;

  the compulsory deferral into shares will be half of the 2010 bonus paid and 

this compulsorily deferred bonus is subject to forfeiture provisions for those 

who leave within the three-year performance period. In addition there is a 

further 50% voluntary deferral available; and 

  84% of the maximum bonus will be based on fi nancial objectives and the 

remaining 16% based on measurable personal objectives. 
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While the maximum potential bonus has been increased in 2010, there has 

also been an increase in the proportion of any bonus payable which must be 

deferred into shares for three years and a corresponding reduction is being 

made to the awards under the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan to re-balance 

the remuneration package without increasing the overall variable opportunity 

for meeting target. If all of the bonus targets are met and the maximum bonus 

earned is fully deferred into shares, then, if the performance conditions 

relating to the associated matching award are met so that the maximum 

number of matching shares vest, the total variable pay would increase under 

the new arrangements. The increase in the compulsorily deferred element of 

bonus extends each annual bonus scheme’s period from one to four years.

  The performance measures for the bonuses in respect of 2009 and 

2010 (detailed in the implementation section below) were chosen by the 

Committee because each measure is a factor over which the individual has a 

direct impact. There is a greater weighting to free cash fl ow in the bonus 

arrangements for these years than there was in previous years to refl ect the 

changed economic environment. The targets for the matching awards in 2011 

in respect of deferred 2010 bonuses will be based on ROIC to ensure that 

appropriate focus is placed on this key metric (with EPS continuing to be used 

as a performance condition for the Long-Term Incentive Plan as described 

below). In the Committee’s view the measures for the bonuses in respect of 

2009 and 2010 are collectively good indicators of corporate performance that 

should link to long-term shareholder reward. 

d. Annual and Deferred Bonus: implementation
2009 bonus
Bonus payments in respect of 2009 for Simon Pryce and Andrew Wood were 

calculated on the basis of Group ROIC, Group free cash fl ow and the 

achievement of measurable personal objectives.

  The bonus payments in respect of 2009 are included in Table 1 on 

page 57 and refl ect full achievement of the Group free cash fl ow target and 

partial achievement of the Group ROIC target set by the Committee in January 

2009. 25% of the bonus paid to Simon Pryce will be compulsorily deferred 

into BBA Aviation shares. A further 25% may be deferred voluntarily at his 

discretion. Matching will be provided on the deferred shares, whether 

compulsorily or voluntarily deferred, on a one to one basis subject to meeting 

TSR performance criteria over a three-year period. The performance condition 

used for the award of matching shares made in 2009 in relation to the deferred 

2008 bonus is the same total shareholder return condition that applies to the 

2007, 2008 and 2009 conditional share awards and it is intended that the same 

performance condition will also be used for the award of matching shares 

made in 2010 in relation to the deferred 2009 bonus. This is set out on page 55. 

The BBA 2006 Deferred Bonus Plan, details of which are set out below, governs 

the basis on which such deferral and matching is made. 

2010 bonus 
Bonus payments to the executive directors, Simon Pryce and Mark Hoad, who 

becomes an executive director with eff ect from 29 April 2010, in respect of 

2010 will be 84% based on fi nancial targets (based on the Group’s operating 

profi t as to two-thirds and Group free cash fl ow as to one-third) with the 

remaining 16% based on measurable personal objectives. Financial 

performance targets and appropriate personal objectives for 2010 have been 

approved by the Committee.

  After the consultation with the Company’s major shareholders 

referred to above, it is intended that the performance condition used for the 

award of matching shares made in 2011 in relation to the deferred 2010 bonus 

will be based on ROIC. The performance condition in respect of the 2011 

awards of matching shares to be made in relation to any 2010 bonus will be set 

at the time of the award and measured over a three-year performance period. 

Details of the ROIC target relating to the award of matching shares made in 

2011 in relation to the deferred 2010 bonus will be included in the 2010 Annual 

Report. The BBA 2006 Deferred Bonus Plan, details of which are set out below, 

governs the basis on which such deferral and matching is made.

e. Long-Term Incentives: policy and implementation
The Remuneration Committee believes that a signifi cant element of executive 

directors’ remuneration should be linked to performance-related long-term 

incentives. Details of the current share schemes and the changes proposed to 

the awards currently planned to be made in March 2010 are set out below. 

BBA 2006 Executive Share Option Plan,
BBA 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan and
BBA 2006 Deferred Bonus Plan (the “2006 Plans”)
The 2006 Plans permit the awards of options, conditional shares and 

matching shares.

  Under the BBA 2006 Executive Share Option Plan, the maximum 

value of options which an executive may be granted in any year is limited to 

three times basic salary, or four times basic salary if the Remuneration 

Committee determines that an executive will not receive an award under the 

2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan in that year. No options were awarded under 

the BBA 2006 Executive Share Option Plan in 2009 but it is planned to grant 

HMRC approved options under the BBA 2006 Executive Share Option Plan in 

2010 to UK taxpayers in conjunction with awards made under the Long-Term 

Incentive Plan. No participant can be granted approved options with a value 

of more than £30,000 (calculated at the date of grant) and any gain that is 

made on the approved options by a UK taxpayer will be subject to the capital 

gains tax regime rather than income tax. The gain will also be exempt from 

both employee and employer National Insurance Contributions. This does 

not aff ect the Company’s own tax bill, nor does it increase the overall size of 

the award delivered or likelihood of it vesting. The combination of the 

approved options and conditional share awards under the new arrangements 

will not exceed the economic value of that which would have been delivered 

under the previous arrangements of a conditional share award alone.

  Under the BBA 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, conditional awards 

of shares are limited in value to one times the executive’s basic salary or two 

times basic salary if the Remuneration Committee determines that the 

executive will not be granted options in that year. In 2009 conditional awards 

made to Simon Pryce were one and a half times basic salary, while those made 

to Andrew Wood were one times basic salary. As explained above the 

Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration plans in 2009 and as 

part of that review has decided that the conditional awards made to Simon 

Pryce in 2010 will be one times basic salary while those made to other senior 

executives will have a face value of half of basic salary. The Committee 

considers the proposed award levels appropriate, when considered in the 

context of the structure of the proposed total remuneration package 

including the increased element of compulsory deferral of bonus into shares 

forfeitable if the individual leaves within three years, and in line with its policy 

to reward superior performance with potential upper quartile remuneration.

  The conditional awards made in 2006 were subject to three-year 

EPS and total shareholder return (TSR) performance targets. The comparator 

group of companies chosen in 2006 for the TSR element was based on FTSE 

350 listed companies from the industrial transportation, travel and leisure and 

aerospace and defence sectors.

  The conditional awards of shares made in 2007, 2008 and 2009 are 

all also subject to two performance targets over three-year periods. One half 

of each award is subject to a performance target that measures the Company’s 

TSR against a comparator group of companies. The other half of each award is 

subject to an adjusted EPS performance target. 

  As explained above, after consultation with the Company’s major 

shareholders, it is planned that the performance target for share awards under 

the 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (and any associated share options) made 

in 2010 will be solely EPS-based. 
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The comparator group in respect of the 2006 award of conditional shares was:

Comparator Group 2006 Awards

Arriva Go-Ahead Group QinetiQ

Avis Europe Gondola Holdings Rank Group

BAE Systems Greene King Restaurant Group

BBA Aviation Intercontinental Hotels Group Rolls-Royce Group

British Airways Ladbrokes Smiths Group

Carnival Luminar Stagecoach Group

Chemring Group Meggitt Ultra Electronics 

Cobham Millennium & Copthorne Hotels Holdings

Compass Group Mitchells & Butlers VT Group

EasyJet MyTravel Group Wetherspoon JD

Enterprise Inns (now known as Thomas Cook) Whitbread

First Choice Hols (now National Express Wolverhampton & 

known as TUI Travel) Northgate Dudley

First Group PartyGaming William Hill

Forth Ports Punch Taverns

The Committee reviewed the comparator group used for the 2006 awards in 

2007 and focused the selection of comparator companies on those that 

better refl ect the markets in which BBA Aviation operates. The comparator 

group for the 2007 awards was also used for the 2008 and 2009 awards.

  The comparator group in respect of the 2007, 2008 and 2009 award 

of conditional shares is:

Comparator Group 2007, 2008 and 2009 Awards

Arriva EasyJet National Express

Avis Europe First Choice Hols  Northgate

BAE Systems (now known as TUI Travel) QinetiQ

BBA Aviation First Group Rolls-Royce Group

British Airways Forth Ports Smiths Group

Carnival Go-Ahead Group Stagecoach Group

Chemring Group Meggitt Ultra Electronics

Cobham MyTravel Group Holdings

 (now known as Thomas Cook) VT Group

If median position is not achieved in the TSR ranking, the TSR part of the award 

will lapse. TSR is measured by reference to the six months before the start of 

the three-year performance period and the three months after the end of the 

performance period and therefore the TSR element cannot usually be tested 

before April of the relevant year. If EPS growth over the performance period is 

less than the increase in the retail price index plus 3% per annum, the EPS part 

of the award will lapse. In neither case will there be retesting. In line with the 

method used to test the satisfaction of performance conditions under 

previous awards, the Remuneration Committee has chosen to have the 

benefi t of the expertise of an independent remuneration consulting fi rm, 

Watson Wyatt Limited (now Towers Watson) to calculate TSR and the external 

auditors will perform certain agreed procedures on the EPS calculation. The 

EPS growth is calculated on a constant exchange rate basis. 

  In 2009 there was a 23% vesting of the conditional share awards 

made in 2006, as 46% of the EPS condition was satisfi ed, while the TSR element 

of those awards lapsed. 

  The conditional share awards made in 2007 will be tested and if 

vesting will be released to participants in March/April 2010, while those made 

in 2008 will be tested and if vesting will be released to participants in March/

April 2011 and those made in 2009 in March/April 2012. 

  Details of awards made to the executive directors under the 

BBA 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan during the year are set out in Table 3 on 

page 57, which also shows the vesting of the 2006 awards.

  The Committee is aware that there are a variety of views about the 

use of comparative total shareholder return as a performance measure. While 

adjusted earnings per share growth and comparative total shareholder return 

can be considered to represent a reasonable long-term indication of the 

fi nancial success of the Company, the Committee believes that the two 

performance measures chosen for its long-term incentive schemes for awards 

from 2010 onwards (adjusted earnings per share and return on invested 

capital) are a more representative indication of the long-term fi nancial success 

of the Company, which operates in a range of markets with no clear 

comparator group of companies to measure TSR against.

  The Remuneration Committee is satisfi ed that the award levels 

under both the Long-Term Incentive Plan and the Deferred Bonus Plan are 

not excessive. In making these awards the Remuneration Committee took 

account of the then prevailing remuneration practice and the wish for a 

signifi cant portion of the executive remuneration to be linked to performance, 

as well as the importance of ensuring that high calibre senior management 

are retained and motivated to deliver the business strategy of BBA Aviation.

  The performance conditions in respect of the awards of conditional 

shares made in 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009 are measured over a three-year 

performance period:

 Percentage of TSR part of 
TSR ranking in comparator group award vesting

At or above 75th percentile 100%

Between median and 75th percentile Pro rata between 25% and 100%

At median 25%

Below median Nil

 Percentage of EPS part of 
EPS growth per annum award vesting  
At or above RPI increase 100%

plus 7% per annum 

Between RPI plus 3% and 7% per annum Pro rata between 33% and 100%

At RPI increase plus 3% per annum 33%

Less than RPI increase plus 3% per annum Nil

The performance condition in respect of the 2010 awards of conditional 

shares to be made in March 2010 will be set at the time of the award and 

measured over a three-year performance period. Details of the EPS 

performance condition attaching to those awards will be included in the 2010 

Annual Report. However the Committee can confi rm that the EPS vesting 

range for the 2010 award will start at no lower than RPI plus 4% per annum. 

  At present awards made under the Long-Term Incentive Plan and 

awards of matching shares made under the Deferred Bonus Plan lapse when 

an employee leaves the Company, except when the Remuneration 

Committee exercises its discretion to permit the awards to be retained and 

tested at the end of the performance period. The exercise of such discretion is 

guided by the principles (including reduction by a service factor) set out in a 

leaver matrix approved by the Remuneration Committee outlining proposed 

treatment of awards when an employee dies, is made redundant or leaves 

due to injury, disability, retirement or their employing company ceasing to be 

a part of the Group and is always subject to the rules of the relevant share 

scheme. It is intended that this practice will continue to apply to awards made 

in 2010 and beyond.

  In addition it is the intention that any 2010 bonus paid in 2011 will, to 

the extent the bonus payment is compulsorily deferred into shares under the 

Deferred Bonus Plan, be subject to forfeiture. If at any time before the third 

anniversary of the deferral into shares the employee leaves the Group (other 

than leaving due to injury, disability, retirement, redundancy, death or their 

employing company ceasing to be a part of the Group) then that part of the 

bonus compulsorily deferred into shares and still subject to restrictions would 

be forfeited, subject to the rules of the Deferred Bonus Plan. The forfeiture 

restrictions would be lifted as to a third on each anniversary of the deferral 

into shares. On the third anniversary of the deferral into shares the shares 

would be released to the employee. If an employee left before the third 

anniversary of the award any voluntarily deferred portion of the bonus would 

be retained by the individual. 
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BBA Group 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan and Share Option Schemes 
prior to 2005
The BBA Group 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”) provided for 

awards of options, conditional shares and matching shares. Some options 

granted under the 2004 Plan remain exercisable as do some executive options 

awarded by the Company prior to 2005 which were made under the BBA 

Group 1994 Executive Share Option Scheme which expired in April 2004. Prior 

to March 2002 the BBA Group 1995 Executive Share Appreciation Rights Plan 

was used to facilitate the grant of options to US executives on the same basis 

as the 1994 Executive Share Option Scheme.

BBA Group 2004 Savings-Related Share Option Scheme
Executive directors may be eligible to participate in the BBA Group 2004 

Savings-Related Share Option Scheme, which is open to all eligible UK 

employees. Options are granted under three or fi ve year SAYE contracts at a 

20% discount to the stock market price at the off er date. The maximum overall 

employee contribution is £250 per month.

Share ownership requirements
As part of its strategy to align shareholders’ and directors’ interests, the 

Remuneration Committee expects all executive directors to build and 

maintain from shares vesting under the long-term incentive plans a holding 

of shares with a value at least equal to their basic salary.

  In recognition of the forfeiture of potential bonus and other 

incentive awards from his previous employer, on Simon Pryce’s joining BBA 

Aviation plc he was made an award of 213,700 shares on 18 June 2007. This 

award (which is neither pensionable nor transferable) was made in accordance 

with the provisions of the Financial Services Authority’s Listing Rule 9.4.2 

which permits a company to enter into a bespoke long-term incentive plan 

arrangement without requiring formal shareholder approval in order to 

facilitate the recruitment, in unusual circumstances, of an individual. The 

shares subject to this award have been released in tranches to Simon Pryce, 

with the fi nal tranche, subject to Simon Pryce’s continued employment, to be 

released on 11 June 2010. No conditions other than this service condition 

apply to this award. In the event of a change of control of the Company prior 

to all shares being released, all unreleased shares will be released to him 

immediately. This award is included in the fi gures in Table 3 on page 57.

Performance Charts
The charts on this page show the Company’s total shareholder return over the 

last fi ve fi nancial years compared with the equivalent information for the FTSE 

350 Industrial Transportation sector which the Committee considers to be a 

suitable broad-based equity market index of which the Company is a 

constituent. The fi rst graph shows the annual change in total shareholder 

return for the Company and the index, while the second graph shows the 

cumulative change in total shareholder return from January 2005.

Annualised total shareholder return:
BBA Aviation vs Industrial Transportation sector

Cumulative total shareholder return:
BBA Aviation vs Industrial Transportation sector
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Table 1 – Emoluments and fees (audited)
    Basic salary Car Other  Annual Total Total
    and fees allowance emoluments Benefits1 bonus 2009 2008
    £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Michael Harper    177 – – – – 177 170

Simon Pryce    515 14 1032 4 453 1,089 818

Andrew Wood    343 14 793 1 295 732 559

Mark Harper    52 – – – – 52 50

Nick Land    51 – – – – 51 48

Peter Ratcliffe    414 – – – – 414 –
John Roques    47 – – – – 47 45

Hansel Tookes    685 – – – – 685 40

Bruce Van Allen    76 – – – – 76 371

Total     1,301 28 182 5 748 2,264 2,101

1 Benefi ts include benefi ts in kind such as life assurance and private medical insurance.

2  Amount paid by the Company into Simon Pryce’s Self Invested Personal Pension.

3  The Company’s contributions to Andrew Wood’s FURBS ceased on 5 April 2006 and following the change in UK pension law he elected to receive a cash replacement equivalent to the FURBS 

benefi t (£79,074).

4 From date of appointment 9 January 2009.

5  The non-executive director fee paid to Hansel Tookes is a US dollar-based fee of US$84,000 p.a. from 1 March 2009 (2008: US$80,000 p.a.). The sterling amount paid during 2009 has increased 

from that paid in 2008 as a result of the change in the sterling/US dollar exchange rate. An exchange rate is set at the end of March each year and an exchange rate based adjustment is made 

in the following March.

6 To date of resignation 8 January 2009.

Table 2 – Directors’ interests in share capital (includes interests held by a director’s spouse)
       Ordinary 2916/21p shares Ordinary 2916/21p shares
        1 Jan 2009  31 Dec 2009
        Beneficial  Beneficial

Michael Harper        132,675  144,397
Simon Pryce        448,247  603,333
Andrew Wood        171,772  253,925
Mark Harper        20,000  20,000
Nick Land        10,000  10,000
Peter Ratcliffe        –  –
John Roques        20,920  20,920
Hansel Tookes        30,167  30,167
Bruce Van Allen        97,917  97,917*

There were no changes in directors’ interests in share capital between 31 December 2009 and 24 February 2010.

*To date of resignation 8 January 2009.

Table 3 – Award of Ordinary, Conditional and Matching Shares (audited)
        Vested/
        Awarded lapsed
      1 Jan during during Award 31 Dec
     Award 2009 the year the year date 2009

Simon Pryce     Ordinary 117,867 – 58,9331 18/06/07 58,934
      Conditional 779,600 1,080,500 – 06/03/09 1,860,100
      Matching 68,489 133,944 – 17/03/09 202,433
Andrew Wood     Conditional 469,100 480,100 160,8002 06/03/09 788,400
      Matching 41,145 44,640 – 17/03/09 85,785
Bruce Van Allen     Conditional 402,600 – – – 402,6003

      Matching 32,604 – – – 32,6043

1  On 11 June 2009 58,933 ordinary shares were released to Simon Pryce at nil cost and on that day 24,163 shares were sold at 125p per share and 34,770 shares were transferred to him. 

This release relates to an award of shares made to Simon Pryce on 18 June 2007 under which equal 33.3% tranches will be released to him after one, two and three years of service.

2  Andrew Wood received an award of 160,800 conditional shares on 22 November 2006. On 3 March 2009 36,984 of these conditional shares vested and were released to him at nil cost. 

123,816 conditional shares lapsed. The mid-market price of a BBA Aviation plc ordinary 2916/21p share on 22 November 2006 was 292.75p and on 3 March 2009 was 70.50p.

3 As at date of resignation 8 January 2009.

Additional notes
i Conditional awards made in 2006, 2007, 2008 and made during the year are subject to the performance conditions set out on page 55.

ii  The average of the mid-market price of a BBA Aviation plc ordinary 2916/21p share on 3, 4 and 5 March 2009 was 71.5p. This was the price used to determine the number of conditional 

shares awarded on 6 March 2009. On 6 March 2009 the mid-market price of a BBA Aviation plc ordinary 2916/21p share was 73p.

iii   Matching shares awarded during the year are subject to the performance conditions set out on pages 54 and 55. The purchase price of a BBA Aviation plc ordinary 2916/21p share on 

16 March 2009 was 74.6579p. This was the price used to determine the number of matching shares awarded on 17 March 2009.
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Table 4 – Options to acquire ordinary shares (audited)
      Exercised/  Exercise
     Granted lapsed  price per 
    1 Jan during during 31 Dec share Exercisable Expiry
    2009 the year the year 2009 pence from  date

Simon Pryce

    3 8,316 – 8,316 – 202.00 01/12/10 01/06/11

    3 – 27,456 – 27,456 57.00 01/05/14 01/11/14

     8,316 27,456 8,316 27,456   

Andrew Wood

    1 107,400 – – 107,400 288.20 25/03/05 25/03/12

    1 360,000 – – 360,000 153.00 13/03/06 13/03/13

    1 271,000 – – 271,000 275.25 01/03/07 01/03/14

    2 199,900 – – 199,900 298.75 23/05/08 23/05/15

    3 3,816 – 3,816 – 245.00 01/12/08 01/06/09

     942,116 – 3,816 938,300   

Bruce Van Allen

    1 94,350 – – 94,350 288.20 25/03/05 25/03/12

    1 585,686 – – 585,686 153.00 13/03/06 13/03/13

    1 225,300 – – 225,300 275.25 01/03/07 01/03/14

    2 182,600 – – 182,600 298.75 23/05/08 23/05/15

     1,087,936 – – 1,087,936*   

1 1994 (amended 2001) Executive Share Option Scheme.

2 2004 Plan.

3 2004 Savings-Related Share Option Scheme.

* As at date of resignation 8 January 2009.

Additional notes
i BBA Aviation plc ordinary 2916/21p shares: mid-market price on 31 December 2009 was 164p. Mid-market price for 2009 was in the range 60p to 177.2p.

ii There were no changes in the directors’ options to acquire ordinary shares between 31 December 2009 and 24 February 2010.

iii  Options granted under the 1994 (amended 2001) Executive Share Option Scheme vested and became exercisable as the growth in the Company’s earnings per share, as adjusted, for any 

period of three consecutive years was at least 9% greater than the growth in inflation.

iv Options granted under the 2004 Plan became exercisable after the third anniversary of the date of grant to the extent that the performance conditions were satisfied.

v 8,316 options granted to Simon Pryce under the 2004 Savings-Related Share Option Scheme were cancelled on 1 March 2009.

vi 3,816 unexercised options held by Andrew Wood lapsed on 1 June 2009, their expiry date.

f. Pension: policy and implementation
Throughout the year under review, Andrew Wood participated in the 

Company’s UK Defi ned Benefi t Plan. It is the Committee’s policy that the 

bonus of any new director joining the Company’s UK pension plans from April 

2000 will not be pensionable and accordingly pensionable earnings for 

Andrew Wood comprise basic salary only.

  Andrew Wood’s normal retirement age under the Defi ned Benefi t 

Plan is his 62nd birthday in line with that of existing directors who were 

members of the Defi ned Benefi t Plan when he joined. In the case of death 

before retirement, a contingent widow’s pension equal to two-thirds of the 

member’s prospective pension is payable. Other dependants’ pensions may 

also be paid. The Plan Rules guarantee pension increases in retirement by RPI 

up to 5%. Further discretionary increases are possible if RPI is above 5%.

  Under the pensions legislation that was in force prior to April 2006 

Andrew Wood’s pensionable salary was further restricted by the state 

earnings cap. Prior to the changes which came into eff ect on 6 April 2006 

(under the Pensions Act 2004 and Finance Acts 2004 and 2005) the Company 

off ered directors a top up to their pension benefi ts through a Funded 

Unapproved Pension Scheme (“FURBS”). The Company’s FURBS was closely 

related to the contribution the Company made to the approved Defi ned 

Benefi ts Plan less expenses and any special funding. The rate of contribution 

for Andrew Wood was 36% per annum of pensionable earnings in excess of 

the earnings cap. On 5 April 2006 the FURBS arrangements ceased as a result 

of the “Simplifi cation” regulations under the Finance Act 2004.

  From 6 April 2006 revised arrangements applied to all the 

Company’s UK pension arrangements as a result of both the Finance Acts 

2004 and 2005 and the Pensions Act 2004. The Company and the Plan Trustee 

in respect of the Defi ned Benefi t Plan agreed that a “Notional Earnings Cap” 

should be implemented in place of the state earnings cap in order to limit the 

Company’s exposure to increases in both Defi ned Benefi t liabilities and 

additional matching Defi ned Contribution contributions. Directors and other 

employees whose earnings were above the Notional Earnings Cap were given 

a choice of receiving either a contribution to the Defi ned Contribution Plan or 

a cash replacement equivalent to the contribution that would have been paid 

to a FURBS. Andrew Wood elected to receive a cash replacement equivalent.

  All the Company’s UK Defi ned Benefi t Plans were closed to new 

entrants from April 2002; new employees from that date have the option to 

join a Company-sponsored Stakeholder-style Defi ned Contribution Plan 

provided through an external investment manager. The Company matches 

the employee’s contribution in a range of 3% to 7.5% up to the state defi ned 

Earnings Cap (or a notional equivalent).

  Simon Pryce does not participate in the Company’s Defi ned 

Contribution Plan. A sum equal to 20% of his basic salary is paid by the 

Company into his Self Invested Personal Pension.
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Table 5 – UK Defined Benefit Schemes (audited)
        Transfer value Increase
   Accrued Transfer Real   of real increase in transfer  Accrued Transfer
 Director’s Director’s pension at value at increase in Increase in in pension values less  pension at value at
 age at contribution 31 Dec 31 Dec accrued accrued  (less director’s director’s 31 Dec 31 Dec
 31 Dec during year 2008 2008 pension pension  contributions) contributions 2009 2009
 2009 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Andrew Wood 58 6 31 564 6 6 127 289 37 860

Additional notes
i The pension entitlement shown is that which would be paid annually on normal retirement based on service to and pensionable salary at the end of the year.

ii The transfer values have been calculated in accordance with legislative requirements and based on assumptions agreed by the Trustees of the Plan.

iii  The increase in transfer values between 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2009 is as a result of changes in pensionable salary, one year’s extra service, and increase in the age 

of the director.

iv The real increase in accrued pension shown has been calculated using a nil figure for inflation, although retail price inflation was negative from September 2008 to September 2009.

USA
Bruce Van Allen (who was a director until he stepped down from the Board with eff ect from 8 January 2009) participates in the Group’s Senior Executive Pension 

Plan for North America (the “Plan”). Benefi ts under the Plan are based on a fi ve-year averaging of compensation (including bonus payments), less amounts 

received from other Company-sponsored retirement plans in which the executive participates. In the case of death prior to retirement, the accrued benefi t 

reverts to the benefi ciary or benefi ciaries designated by the executive, and is paid in a lump sum.

  The Plan provides that upon achieving age 62, Bruce Van Allen is entitled to receive an unreduced Plan benefi t upon his retirement. In addition, he is 

entitled to a reduced benefi t under the Plan should he elect to take early retirement. Bruce Van Allen also participates in a retirement savings (401(k)) plan 

sponsored by the Group company that employs him. Details of the Company contributions made to the 401(k) plan to his benefi t are set out in Table 6. 

Table 6 – US Defined Contribution Scheme (audited)
         Company contributions

         2008 2009
         £000 £000

Bruce Van Allen         5 0.3*

*To date of resignation 8 January 2009.

Table 7 - US Defined Benefit Schemes (audited)
        Transfer value Increase
  Director’s Accrued Transfer Real   of real increase in transfer  Accrued Transfer
 Director’s contribution pension at value at increase in Increase in in pension values less  pension at value at
 age at to 8 Jan 31 Dec 31 Dec accrued accrued  (less director’s director’s 8 Jan 8 Jan
 8 Jan 2009 2008 2008 pension pension  contributions) contributions 2009 2009
 2009 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Bruce Van Allen 53 1 846 846 157 157 156 156 1,003 1,003

Additional notes
1 All accrued pension amounts shown for Bruce Van Allen are lump sums.

2  Bruce Van Allen resigned as a director on 8 January 2009. The accrued pension and transfer value amounts shown are calculated at his date of resignation, and converted to sterling using 

the average US dollar/sterling exchange rate for December 2009.

3  The increase in transfer value and accrued pension between 31 December 2008 and 8 January 2009 is due to a change in the US dollar/sterling exchange rate between 31 December 2008 

and 31 December 2009. Bruce Van Allen did not accrue any additional benefit between these dates.

4. Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration
The non-executive directors each have a letter of appointment which is 

available for inspection by shareholders at each AGM and during normal 

business hours at the Company’s registered offi  ce. No compensation would 

be payable for the early termination of the appointment of any non-executive 

director.

  The level of fees for non-executive directors is determined by the 

Board as a whole on the recommendation of the Group Chief Executive. Non-

executive directors’ fees were reviewed in December 2009, by reference to 

independent market surveys and benchmarking data, having last been 

reviewed 12 months earlier and, with eff ect from 1 January 2010, the annual 

supplement for the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee was increased 

to £9,500, refl ecting the increased demands placed on the Remuneration 

Committee Chairman. No other non-executive directors’ fees were increased 

and the next review will take place at the end of 2010. The annual supplement 

for the Chairman of the Audit Committee is £9,500, that for the Senior 

Independent Director £5,000 and the annual supplement for the CSR 

Responsible Director is £2,500. These supplements refl ect the increased 

commitments and demands placed upon each of the non-executive 

directors in performing their duties on the Board and its principal committees. 

  Details of the non-executive directors’ fees for 2009 are set out in 

Table 1 (page 57). 

The dates of appointment or subsequent re-appointment and unexpired 

term of the non-executive directors as at 24 February 2010 are set out below:

  Date of appointment/ Unexpired term as at
  re-appointment 24 February 2010

Michael Harper 18/02/10  40 months

Mark Harper 01/12/09  33 months

Nick Land 01/08/09  29 months

Peter Ratcliffe 09/01/09  22 months

John Roques 20/02/09  2 months

Hansel Tookes 19/02/10  35 months

Directors retiring and standing for re-election at the forthcoming AGM are 

shown on page 46.

The non-executive directors do not participate in the Company’s share option 

schemes, long-term incentive plan or pension arrangements.

Directors’ Remuneration Report approved by the Board on 24 February 2010 

and signed on its behalf by:

Mark Harper
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
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Going Concern

The Group has $1,075 million of banking facilities of which $752 million was 

drawn across them at 31 December 2009. These facilities are subject to cross-

default. Further details relating to these facilities are provided in note 16 to the 

Consolidated Financial Statements on page 80. The primary $900 million 

facility does not expire until 2012. The Group’s banking facilities are subject to 

two main fi nancial covenants: maximum net debt to underlying EBITDA of 3.5 

times and minimum net interest cover of 3.0 times. In the primary $900 million 

facility the Group has the option, having made acquisitions of more than 

$100 million in a given window, of increasing the net debt to EBITDA covenant 

to 4.25 times at the 31 December 2008 testing date and to 4.0 times at the 

30 June and 31 December 2009 dates respectively. Due to the acquisition of 

Hawker Beechcraft in 2008 this option was invoked. From 30 June 2010 the 

covenant will return to 3.5 times. This “acquisition spike” is not incorporated in 

the $175 million facility. In the event of a weakening of sterling against other 

currencies, the Group has the ability to test the net debt to EBITDA covenant 

at average exchange rates. The Directors expect the Group to comply with 

these covenants for the foreseeable future. Details of the Group’s fi nancial risk 

management policies are disclosed in note 17 to the Consolidated Financial 

Statements on page 81.

The principal risks and uncertainties to which the Group is exposed relate to 

the number of hours of fl ying activity, principally in B&GA, but also to a lesser 

extent in commercial and military aviation. Flying hours largely dictate the 

drivers of revenue, namely fuel volumes in Signature, aircraft movements in 

ASIG, engine overhaul cycles in ERO and demand for components in Legacy 

Support and APPH. Further details of these risks and uncertainties are 

provided on page 12.

  The directors have carried out a critical review of the Group’s 2010 

budget and medium-term plans, with due regard for the risks and 

uncertainties to which the Group is exposed, the uncertain economic climate 

and the impact that this could have on trading performance. The key 

assumptions used in constructing the budget were that:

  Signature and ASIG will see a return to a modest level of growth in 2010, with 

the later cycle ERO business not benefi ting from this growth for a further 

6-9 months;

  Legacy Support continues to grow supported by new licences and its 

exposure to the military sector; and

  APPH is relatively stable with no further weakening in business and general 

aviation activity or component MRO work.

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, Directors’ 

Remuneration Report and the fi nancial statements in accordance with 

applicable law and regulations.

  Company law requires the directors to prepare fi nancial statements 

for each fi nancial year. The directors are required by the IAS Regulation to 

prepare the Group fi nancial statements under International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. The Group 

fi nancial statements are also required by law to be properly prepared in 

accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

  International Accounting Standard 1 requires that IFRS fi nancial 

statements present fairly for each fi nancial year the Company’s fi nancial 

position, fi nancial performance and cash fl ows. This requires the faithful 

representation of the eff ects of transactions, other events and conditions in 

accordance with the defi nitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities, 

income and expenses set out in the International Accounting Standards 

Board’s “Framework for the preparation and presentation of fi nancial 

statements”. In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation will be achieved 

by compliance with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards. 

However, directors are also required to:

  properly select and apply accounting policies;

  present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides 

relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information; and

  provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specifi c 

requirements in IFRSs are insuffi  cient to enable users to understand the 

impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s 

fi nancial position and fi nancial performance.

The directors have elected to prepare the parent company fi nancial 

statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable 

law). The parent company fi nancial statements are required by law to give a 

true and fair view of the state of aff airs of the company. In preparing these 

fi nancial statements, the directors are required to:

  select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

  state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, 

subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the 

fi nancial statements.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that 

disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the fi nancial position of the 

Company and enable them to ensure that the parent company fi nancial 

statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible 

for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable 

steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

  The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity 

of the corporate and fi nancial information included on the Company’s 

website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 

dissemination of fi nancial statements may diff er from legislation in other 

jurisdictions.

  A procedure is in place to enable the directors to provide the 

confi rmation regarding audit information required under s418 of the 

Companies Act 2006. This confi rmation is set out on page 45 of the Directors’ 

Report – Additional Disclosures.

  The directors confi rm that to the best of their knowledge:

(a)  the fi nancial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable set 

of accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 

fi nancial position and profi t or loss of the Group and the undertakings 

included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and

(b)  the Directors’ Report includes a fair review of the development and 

performance of the business and the position of the Company and the 

undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together 

with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

Signed on behalf of the Board

Simon Pryce Andrew Wood
Group Chief Executive Group Finance Director

24 February 2010 24 February 2010
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We have audited the Consolidated Financial Statements of BBA Aviation plc We have audited the Consolidated Financial Statements of BBA Aviation plc 

for the year ended 31 December 2009 which comprise the Consolidated for the year ended 31 December 2009 which comprise the Consolidated 

Income Statement, the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Cash Income Statement, the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Cash 

Flow Statement and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income the Flow Statement and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income the 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the related notes 1 to 26. Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the related notes 1 to 26. 

The fi nancial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation The fi nancial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 

is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 

adopted by the European Union.adopted by the European Union.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in 

accordance with Chapter 3 part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work accordance with Chapter 3 part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work 

has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members 

those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for 

no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 

assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s 

members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 

have formed.have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the 

directors are responsible for the preparation of the Consolidated Financial directors are responsible for the preparation of the Consolidated Financial 

Statements and for being satisfi ed that they give a true and fair view. Our Statements and for being satisfi ed that they give a true and fair view. Our 

responsibility is to audit the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance responsibility is to audit the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance 

with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s 

(APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.(APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the fi nancial statements suffi  cient to give reasonable assurance that the the fi nancial statements suffi  cient to give reasonable assurance that the 

fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 

fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies 

are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances and have been consistently are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances and have been consistently 

applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of signifi cant applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of signifi cant 

accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of 

the fi nancial statements.the fi nancial statements.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the Consolidated Financial Statements:In our opinion the Consolidated Financial Statements:

—  give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s aff airs as at 31 December give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s aff airs as at 31 December 

2009 and of its profi t for the year then ended;2009 and of its profi t for the year then ended;

—  have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 

European Union; andEuropean Union; and

—  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 

Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs as issued by the IASB

As explained in note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Group in As explained in note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Group in 

addition to complying with its legal obligation to apply IFRSs as adopted by addition to complying with its legal obligation to apply IFRSs as adopted by 

the European Union, has also applied IFRSs as issued by the International the European Union, has also applied IFRSs as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB).Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

In our opinion the Consolidated Financial Statements comply with IFRSs as In our opinion the Consolidated Financial Statements comply with IFRSs as 

issued by the IASB. issued by the IASB. 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

to the members of BBA Aviation plc

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the fi nancial In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the fi nancial 

year for which the fi nancial statements are prepared is consistent with the year for which the fi nancial statements are prepared is consistent with the 

Consolidated Financial Statements.Consolidated Financial Statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following:We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our 

opinion:opinion:

—  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specifi ed by law are not certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specifi ed by law are not 

made; ormade; or

—  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for we have not received all the information and explanations we require for 

our audit.our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

—  the directors’ statement contained within the Directors’ Report on page the directors’ statement contained within the Directors’ Report on page 

60 in relation to going concern; and60 in relation to going concern; and

—  the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company’s the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company’s 

compliance with the nine provisions of the June 2008 Combined Code compliance with the nine provisions of the June 2008 Combined Code 

specifi ed for our review.specifi ed for our review.

Other matter

We have reported separately on the parent company fi nancial statements of We have reported separately on the parent company fi nancial statements of 

BBA Aviation plc for the year ended 31 December 2009 and on the information BBA Aviation plc for the year ended 31 December 2009 and on the information 

in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited. in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited. 

Nigel Mercer (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 

London, United KingdomLondon, United Kingdom

24 February 201024 February 2010
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      Exceptional 2009  Exceptional 2008
     Underlying*  Items Total Underlying*  Items Total
    Notes £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue      1   1,080.8   –   1,080.8   1,156.1   –   1,156.1 

Cost of sales     (875.5)  –  (875.5) (957.9)  –  (957.9)  
Gross profit      205.3   –   205.3   198.2   –   198.2 

Distribution costs     (18.3)  –  (18.3) (17.4)  –  (17.4)

Administrative expenses     (87.6) (3.8) (91.4) (74.9) (2.1) (77.0)

Other operating income      0.7   –   0.7   3.2   5.3   8.5 

Share of profit of associates      1.1   –   1.1   1.0   –   1.0 

Other operating expenses     (0.7) (8.0) (8.7) (0.4)  –  (0.4)

Restructuring costs      –  (6.0) (6.0)  –  (8.2) (8.2)

Loss on disposal of businesses      –  (0.4) (0.4)  –   –   – 

Operating profit     1,2   100.5  (18.2)  82.3   109.7  (5.0)  104.7 

Investment income     3   7.9   –   7.9   35.1   –   35.1 

Finance costs     3  (30.2)  –  (30.2) (55.6)  –  (55.6)

Profit before tax      78.2  (18.2)  60.0   89.2  (5.0)  84.2 

        

Tax      4  (17.0)  2.5  (14.5) (23.3)  2.0  (21.3)

Profit for the period      61.2  (15.7)  45.5   65.9  (3.0)  62.9 

        

Attributable to:        

Equity holders of the parent      61.1  (13.2)  47.9   66.1  (3.3)  62.8 

Minority interest      0.1  (2.5) (2.4) (0.2)  0.3   0.1 

       61.2  (15.7)  45.5   65.9  (3.0)  62.9 

        
Earnings per share      Adjusted    Unadjusted   Adjusted    Unadjusted 

 
Basic      6   14.6p    11.4p   16.1p    15.3p 

Diluted      6   14.4p    11.3p   16.0p    15.2p 

* Before exceptional items.

Exceptional items are items which are material or non-recurring in nature and the amortisation of acquired intangibles, as set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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         31 December 31 December
         2009  2008
        Notes £m £m

Non-current assets

Goodwill         8 474.9  526.8 

Licences and other intangible assets        8 98.1  112.3 

Property, plant and equipment        9 334.7  407.7 

Interests in associates        10 1.9  2.5 

Trade and other receivables        12 18.2  17.9 

         1 927.8  1,067.2 

Current assets

Inventories        11 137.9  171.8 

Trade and other receivables        12 194.2  279.6 

Cash and cash equivalents         115.4  98.4 

Tax recoverable         0.2  1.4 

          447.7  551.2 

Total assets        1 1,375.5  1,618.4 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables        13 (230.7) (277.2)

Tax liabilities         (45.6) (47.9)

Obligations under finance leases        14 (0.9) (0.7)

Bank overdrafts and loans        16 (33.1) (18.1)

Provisions        18 (0.8) (1.7)

          (311.1) (345.6)

Net current assets         136.6  205.6 

Non-current liabilities

Bank loans        16 (469.4) (600.2)

Other payables due after one year        13 (60.8) (127.4)

Retirement benefit obligations        19 (33.2) (23.3)

Obligations under finance leases        14 (3.6) (33.8)

Deferred tax liabilities        20 (29.9) (29.4)

Provisions        18 (20.4) (20.7)

          (617.3) (834.8)

Total liabilities        1 (928.4) (1,180.4)

Net assets        1 447.1  438.0 

Equity

Share capital        21 126.0  122.7 

Share premium account        21 343.4  346.4 

Other reserves        21 3.9  3.9 

Treasury reserve        21 (3.2) (3.4)

Capital reserve        21 19.8  18.8 

Hedging and translation reserves        21 10.4  10.9 

Retained earnings        21 (51.6) (62.1)

Equity attributable to shareholders of BBA Aviation plc        448.7  437.2 

Minority interest         (1.6) 0.8 

Total equity         447.1  438.0 

These fi nancial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2010 and signed on its behalf by

Simon Pryce Andrew Wood

Group Chief Executive Group Finance Director

Consolidated Balance Sheet
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         2009  2008
        Notes £m £m

Operating activities

Net cash flow from operating activities        23  178.8   126.4 

Investing activities

Dividends received from associates          1.2   0.8 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment         (14.2) (29.5)

Purchase of intangible assets         (13.6) (23.3)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment         0.7   1.1 

Acquisition of subsidiaries        24  –  (76.4)

Proceeds from disposal of businesses          3.7   0.4 

Investment in associates          –  (0.2)

Deferred consideration on prior year acquisitions        (2.0) (4.0)

Net cash outflow from investing activities         (24.2) (131.1)

Financing activities

Interest received          17.5   30.6 

Interest paid         (41.3) (49.6)

Interest element of finance leases paid         (0.7) (1.2)

Dividends paid         (21.9) (31.9)

Proceeds from realised foreign exchange contracts        (1.0)  – 

Net realised gain on cash and asset management swaps         –   34.3 

Purchase of own shares          –  (3.5)

(Decrease)/increase in loans         (78.6)  19.0 

Decrease in finance leases         (27.2) (0.5)

Increase/(decrease) in overdrafts          31.6  (84.2)

Net cash outflow from financing activities         (121.6) (87.0)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents         33.0  (91.7)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year         98.4   99.2 

Exchange adjustments         (16.0)  90.9 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year          115.4   98.4 

Net debt at beginning of year         (554.4) (368.6)

Decrease/(increase) in cash and cash equivalents         33.0  (91.7)

Decrease/(increase) in loans          78.6  (19.0)

Decrease in finance leases          27.2   0.5 

(Increase)/decrease in overdrafts         (31.6)  84.2 

Exchange adjustments          55.6  (159.8)

Net debt at end of year         (391.6) (554.4)
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         2009  2008
         £m £m

Profit for the period                 45.545.5 62.9  62.9 

Other comprehensive income:

Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations        (121.4) 353.9 

Gains/(losses) on net asset hedges         100.6  (283.5)

Fair value movements in foreign exchange cash flow hedges       6.9  (20.4)

Transfer to profit or loss from equity on foreign exchange cash flow hedges      5.6  5.5 

Fair value movements in interest rate cash flow hedges        0.1  (14.9)

Transfer to profit or loss from equity on interest rate cash flow hedges       7.7  2.8 

Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes        (13.4) (13.2)

Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income       (3.2) 6.4 

Total comprehensive income for the period         28.4  99.5 

Attributable to:

Shareholders of BBA Aviation plc         30.8  99.4 

Minority interests         (2.4) 0.1 

          28.4  99.5

     Share Share Retained Other Minority Total
     capital premium earnings reserves interests equity
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 1 January 2008      122.7   346.4  (86.5) (11.4)  0.7   371.9 

Total comprehensive income for the period      –   –   56.0   43.4   0.1   99.5 

Equity dividends      –   –  (31.6)  –   –  (31.6)

Movement on treasury reserve      –   –   –  (3.6)  –  (3.6)

Credit to equity for equity-settled share-based payments     –   –   –   1.8   –   1.8 

Balance at 31 December 2008      122.7   346.4  (62.1)  30.2   0.8   438.0 

Balance at 1 January 2009      122.7   346.4  (62.1)  30.2   0.8   438.0 

Total comprehensive income for the period      –   –   31.3  (0.5) (2.4)  28.4 

Equity dividends      –   –  (21.9)  –   –  (21.9)

Issue of share capital and scrip dividend      3.3  (3.0)  –   –   –   0.3 

Movement on treasury reserve      –   –   –  (0.2)  –  (0.2)

Credit to equity for equity-settled share-based payments     –   –   –   2.5   –   2.5 

Transfer to retained earnings      –   –   1.1  (1.1)  –   – 

Balance at 31 December 2009     126.0 343.4 (51.6) 30.9 (1.6) 447.1

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Goodwill on acquisitions, being the excess of the fair value of the consideration 

paid over the fair value of the identifi able assets and liabilities acquired, is 

capitalised and tested for impairment on an annual basis. Goodwill arising on 

acquisitions in the year ended 31 December 1997 and earlier periods was 

written off  to reserves in accordance with the accounting standards then 

in force. Goodwill arising on acquisitions between 1 January 1998 and 

31 December 2003 was amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful 

economic life, with a maximum life of 20 years, again in accordance with the 

accounting standards then in force. As permitted by current accounting 

standards, the goodwill previously written off  to reserves or amortised through 

the profi t and loss account has not been reinstated in the balance sheet.

  Associated undertakings are those investments other than 

subsidiary undertakings where the Group is in a position to exercise a 

signifi cant infl uence, typically through participation in the fi nancial and 

operating policy decisions of the investee. The consolidated fi nancial 

statements include the Group’s share of the post-acquisition reserves of all 

such companies.

Going Concern

The directors have, at the time of approving the fi nancial statements, a 

reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate 

resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus 

they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing 

the fi nancial statements. Further detail is contained in the directors’ statement 

of going concern on page 60 of the Directors’ Report.

Investments

In the Group’s fi nancial statements, investments in associated undertakings 

are stated at cost plus the Group’s share of post-acquisition reserves less 

provision for impairment.

Foreign Currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rate of 

exchange at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are recorded at 

the rates of exchange prevailing at that date. Any gain or loss arising from a 

change in exchange rates subsequent to the date of transaction is recognised 

in the income statement.

  The income statements of overseas operations are translated into 

sterling at the average exchange rates for the year and their balance sheets are 

translated into sterling at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. 

All exchange diff erences arising on consolidation are taken to equity. All other 

translation diff erences are taken to the income statement, with the exception 

of diff erences on foreign currency borrowing and derivative instruments to 

the extent that they are used to provide a hedge against the Group’s equity 

investments in overseas operations, which are taken to equity together with 

the exchange diff erence on the net investment in those operations.

  Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from the acquisition of a 

foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 

translated at the closing rate.

Operating Profit

Operating profi t is stated after charging exceptional items and after the share 

of results of associates but before investment income and fi nance costs.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting

Derivative fi nancial instruments utilised by the Group comprise interest rates 

swaps, cross-currency or basis swaps and foreign exchange contracts. All such 

instruments are used for hedging purposes to manage the risk profi le of an 

underlying exposure of the Group in line with the Group’s risk management 

policies. All derivative instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at fair 

value. Recognition of gains or losses on derivative instruments depends on 

whether the instrument is designated as a hedge and the type of exposure it 

is designed to hedge.

  The eff ective portion of gains or losses on cash fl ow hedges are 

deferred in equity until the impact from the hedged item is recognised in the 

income statement. The ineff ective portion of such gains and losses is 

recognised in the income statement immediately, and is included in the ‘other 

gains and losses’ line of the income statement.

Basis of Accounting

The fi nancial statements have been prepared using the historical cost 

convention adjusted for the revaluation of certain fi nancial instruments. The 

principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

  The fi nancial statements have been prepared on a going concern 

basis in accordance with the rationale set out in the directors’ statement of 

going concern on page 60 of the Directors’ Report.

  The fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted for use in the 

European Union and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation. 

They have also been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board.

  One new Standard, IFRS 8 Operating Segments, issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board is eff ective for the current period. 

The principle change introduced in this Standard was the use of a managerial 

approach to identifying segments rather than the risks and returns approach 

used by the predecessor standard, IAS 14 Segment Reporting. The adoption 

of this Standard has not led to any changes in the Group’s accounting policies 

or any material changes to the Group’s fi nancial statements.

  In addition, the following amendments to existing Standards are 

eff ective for the current period:

IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (Amended) Reclassifi cation of Financial Assets

IFRIC 9 and IAS 39 (Amended) Embedded Derivatives

IAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

IAS 1 and IAS 27 (Amended) Cost of Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly 

Controlled Entity or Associate

IAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs

IFRS 2 (Amended) Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

IFRS 7 (Amended) Financial Instruments: Disclosures

IAS 32 (Amended) Puttable Instruments and Obligations Arising 

on Liquidation 

The adoption of these Amendments has had no material impact on the 

Group’s fi nancial statements.

  Seven interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee are eff ective for the current period. The seven 

adopted in the current year are: IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share 

Transactions; IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements; IFRIC 13 Customer 

Loyalty Programmes; IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate; 

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation; IFRIC 17 

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners; and IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets 

from Customers. The adoption of these Interpretations has not led to any 

changes in the Group’s accounting policies.

  At the date of authorisation of these fi nancial statements, the 

following Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied in these 

fi nancial statements were in issue but not yet eff ective:

IFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

IAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible Hedged Items

IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and 

Interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the fi nancial 

statements of the Group, except for the impact on accounting for business 

combinations when the amendments to IFRS 3 become eff ective, which for 

the Group will be the year ending 31 December 2010.

Basis of Consolidation

The Group fi nancial statements incorporate the fi nancial statements of the 

parent company and all subsidiary undertakings under the acquisition 

method of accounting.

  The results of subsidiary undertakings acquired or sold during the 

year are included in the consolidated income statement from the eff ective 

date of acquisition or up to the eff ective date of disposal as appropriate. 

Control is achieved where the company has the power to govern the fi nancial 

and operating policies of an investee so as to obtain benefi ts from activities.
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Post-Retirement Benefits

Payments to defi ned contribution retirement benefi t schemes are charged as 

an expense as they fall due.

  For defi ned benefi t retirement benefi t schemes, the cost is 

determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method, with actuarial valuations 

being carried out annually on 31 December. Actuarial gains and losses are 

recognised in full in the period in which they occur. They are recognised 

outside profi t or loss and presented in the statement of comprehensive 

income.

  Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the 

benefi ts are already vested, and otherwise is amortised on a straight-line basis 

over the average period until the benefi ts become vested.

  The retirement benefi t obligation recognised in the balance sheet 

represents the present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation as adjusted for 

unrecognised past service costs, and reduced by the fair value of scheme 

assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to past service cost, 

plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future 

contributions to the plan.

  Retirement benefi t scheme contribution levels are determined by 

valuations undertaken by independent qualifi ed actuaries.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated in the balance sheet at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and provision for impairments. Depreciation is 

provided on the cost of property, plant and equipment less estimated residual 

value and is calculated on a straight-line basis over the following estimated 

useful lives of the assets:

Land not depreciated

Buildings 40 years maximum

Plant and machinery (including essential 

commissioning costs) 3-18 years

Tooling, vehicles, computer and offi  ce equipment are categorised within 

plant and machinery.

  Finance costs which are directly attributable to the construction of 

major items of property, plant and equipment are capitalised as part of those 

assets. The commencement of capitalisation begins when both fi nance costs 

and expenditures for the asset are being incurred and activities that are 

necessary to get the asset ready for use are in progress. Capitalisation ceases 

when substantially all the activities that are necessary to get the asset ready 

for use are complete.

Impairment of Assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying value of its 

tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication 

that those assets have suff ered an impairment loss. If any such indication 

exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine 

the extent of the impairment loss. Where the asset does not generate cash 

fl ows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

An intangible asset with an indefi nite life is tested for impairment annually and 

whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

  Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 

value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows are 

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that refl ects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to 

the asset for which the estimates of future cash fl ows have not been adjusted.

  If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is 

estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 

asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss is recognised immediately.

  Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 

amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate 

of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would not have been determined had no 

impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior 

years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, 

unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 

reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to 

cash fl ow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the 

eff ective portion of the hedge is recognised in equity in the foreign currency 

translation reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineff ective portion is 

recognised immediately, and is included in the operating profi t line of the 

income statement. Gains and losses deferred in the foreign currency translation 

reserve are recognised in profi t or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

  Changes in the fair value of the derivative fi nancial instruments 

classifi ed as fair value through profi t or loss (‘FVTPL’) and those that do not 

qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income statement as they 

arise, and are included in the operating profi t line of the income statement. 

Any interest earned or paid on fi nancial instruments at FVTPL is charged to net 

interest. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 17.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance 

sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument. Financial assets are accounted for at the trade date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deemed deposits, and 

other short-term highly-liquid investments that are readily convertible to a 

known amount of cash and are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes 

in value.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal value 

as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classifi ed according to the 

substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. An equity 

instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of 

the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Bank borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds 

received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, including premiums 

payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted 

for on an accrual basis to the profi t and loss account using eff ective interest 

method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent 

that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

Trade payables

Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds 

received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 

receivable, and represents amounts receivable for goods supplied and 

services provided by the Group excluding intercompany transactions, sales by 

associated undertakings and sales taxes.

  Within the engine overhauls business, turnover and associated 

profi t are recognised on a percentage of completion basis once the terms of 

the contract have been agreed with the customer and the ultimate 

profi tability of the contract can be determined with reasonable certainty. The 

percentage of completion is based on hours incurred.

Research and Development Expenditure

Research expenditure is charged against income in the year in which it is 

incurred. An internally-generated intangible asset arising from the Group’s 

development expenditure is recognised only if the asset can be separately 

identifi ed, it is probable that the asset will generate future economic benefi ts 

and the development costs of the asset can be measured reliably.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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Accounting Policies — continued basis over the shorter of the periods of the leases or the useful lives of the 

assets concerned. The capital elements of future leases are recorded as 

liabilities, while the interest elements are charged to the income statement 

over the period of the leases to produce a constant rate of charge on the 

balance of capital payments outstanding.

  For all other leases (operating leases) the rental payments are 

charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lives of 

the leases.

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises 

the cost of raw materials and an appropriate proportion of labour and 

overheads in the case of work in progress and fi nished goods. Cost is calculated 

using the fi rst in fi rst out method in the Flight Support segment, and weighted 

average method in the Aftermarket Services and Systems segment. Provision is 

made for slow-moving or obsolete inventory as appropriate.

Taxation 

The charge for taxation is based on the profi t for the year and takes into 

account taxation deferred due to temporary diff erences between the 

treatment of certain items for taxation and accounting purposes. Current tax 

is calculated at tax rates which have been enacted or substantially enacted at 

the balance sheet date.

  Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on 

diff erences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

fi nancial statements and the corresponding tax bases in the computation of 

taxable profi t, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.

  No provision is made for temporary diff erences on unremitted 

earnings of foreign subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates where the Group 

has control and the reversal of the temporary diff erence is not foreseeable.

  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each 

balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 

that suffi  cient taxable profi ts will be available to allow all or part of the asset to 

be recovered.

  Deferred tax is calculated at tax rates which have been enacted or 

substantially enacted at the balance sheet date and that are expected to apply 

in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is 

charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items 

charged or credited to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with 

in equity.

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of 

estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a signifi cant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

within the next fi nancial year, are discussed below. The judgements used by 

management in the application of the Group’s accounting policies in respect 

of these key areas of estimation are considered to be the most signifi cant.

Impairment of goodwill, intangible and tangible fi xed assets

Determining whether goodwill, intangible or tangible fi xed assets are 

impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating 

units to which the goodwill has been allocated or the individual assets. The 

value in use calculation requires the entity to estimate future cash fl ows 

expected to arise from the cash generating unit or asset and a suitable 

discount rate in order to calculate present value. The carrying amount of 

goodwill, intangible and tangible fi xed assets at the balance sheet date was 

£474.9 million, £98.1 million and £334.7 million respectively. Details regarding 

the goodwill and tangible fi xed asset carrying value and assumptions used in 

carrying out the impairment reviews are provided in notes 8 and 9.

Pensions and other post-retirement benefi ts

Determining the present value of future obligations of pension and other 

post-retirement benefi t schemes requires an estimation of future mortality 

rates, future changes in employee benefi ts and length of service. These 

assumptions are determined in association with qualifi ed actuaries. The net 

pension liability related to defi ned benefi t type schemes at the balance sheet 

date was £33.2 million. Details regarding the carrying value and assumptions 

used in arriving at the carrying values are provided in note 19.

Intangible Assets

Licences are shown at amortised cost. Amortisation provided on the cost of 

licences is calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the licences. 

Where a licence has an indefi nite life, the licence is not amortised until such 

time as the remaining life of the associated platform is estimated to be 

20 years, at which point amortisation commences over the remaining useful 

life of the licence.

  Where computer software is not an integral part of a related item of 

computer hardware, the software is treated as an intangible asset. Computer 

software is capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring 

to use the specifi c software. Amortisation is provided on the cost of software 

and is calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the software.

  The Group makes an assessment of the fair value of intangible assets 

arising on acquisitions. An intangible asset will be recognised as long as the 

asset is separable or arises from contractual or other legal rights, and its fair 

value can be measured reliably. Amortisation is provided on the fair value of 

the asset and is calculated on a straight-line basis over its useful life.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or 

constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be 

required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 

amount of the obligation.

  The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the 

consideration required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet 

date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 

obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash fl ows estimated to 

settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 

cash fl ows.

  When some or all of the economic benefi ts required to settle a 

provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is 

recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 

received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Restructurings

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has developed a 

detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in 

those aff ected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement 

the plan or announcing its main features to those aff ected by it. The 

measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct 

expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are 

both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the 

ongoing activities of the entity.

Onerous Contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and 

measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to exist where the 

Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the 

obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefi ts expected to be 

received under it.

Share-Based Payments

The Group operates a number of cash and equity-settled share-based 

compensation plans. The fair value of the compensation is recognised in the 

income statement as an expense. The total amount to be expensed over the 

vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options 

granted and calculated using the valuation technique most appropriate to 

each type of award. These include Black-Scholes calculations and Monte Carlo 

simulations. For cash-settled options, the fair value of the option is revisited at 

each balance sheet date. For both cash and equity-settled options, the Group 

revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to become 

exercisable at each balance sheet date.

Leases

Where assets are fi nanced by lease agreements that give rights similar to 

ownership (fi nance leases), the assets are treated as if they had been 

purchased and the leasing commitments are shown as obligations to the 

lessors. The capitalisation values of the assets are written off  on a straight-line 
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69Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Segmental information

Adoption of IFRS 8, Operating Segments

The Group has adopted IFRS 8 Operating Segments with eff ect from 1 January 2009. IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identifi ed on the basis of internal 

reports about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the Chief Executive to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their 

performance. Following the adoption of IFRS 8, there has been no change to the Group’s reportable segments as previously reported, and no requirement to 

restate the opening balance sheet position.

The Group provides information to the Chief Executive on the basis of components that are substantially similar within the segments in the following aspects:

—  the nature of the long-term fi nancial performance

—  the nature of the products and services

—  the nature of the production processes

—  the type of class of customer for the products and services

—  the nature of the regulatory environment

Based on the above, the primary reportable segments of the Group have been deemed to be Flight Support, which comprises Signature Flight Support and 

ASIG, and Aftermarket Services and Systems, which comprises Engine Repair and Overhaul, Legacy and APPH. The components of these two segments are 

substantially similar in the aspects above and are therefore deemed to be the primary segments of the Group.

The businesses within the Flight Support segment provide re-fuelling, ground handling and other services to the business, general and commercial 

aviation markets.

The businesses within the Aftermarket Services and Systems segment maintain, manufacture and support engines and aerospace components, sub-systems 

and systems.

Sales between segments are immaterial. 

       Aftermarket   
      Flight Services &   Unallocated Total
      Support  Systems Total Corporate Continuing
Business Segments      £m £m £m £m £m

2009

External revenue       643.8   437.0   1,080.8   –   1,080.8 

Underlying operating profit       61.8   48.5   110.3  (9.8)  100.5 

Exceptional items      (9.9) (5.1) (15.0) (3.2) (18.2)

Segment result*       51.9   43.4   95.3  (13.0)  82.3 

Underlying operating margin      9.6% 11.1% 10.2%  –  9.3%

*Segment result includes £1.1 million profit of associates within Flight Support.

Other information

Capital additions       11.0   16.7   27.7   0.1   27.8 

Depreciation and amortisation       30.8   11.6   42.4   0.2   42.6 

Balance sheet

Total assets      785.5 455.1 1,240.6 134.9  1,375.5 

Total liabilities      (120.4) (87.6) (208.0) (720.4) (928.4)

Net assets      665.1 367.5 1,032.6 (585.5) 447.1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — continued

1. Segmental information — continued
       Aftermarket   
      Flight Services &   Unallocated Total
      Support  Systems Total Corporate Continuing
Business Segments      £m £m £m £m £m

2008

External revenue       705.9   450.2   1,156.1   –   1,156.1 

Underlying operating profit       64.8   55.5   120.3  (10.6)  109.7 

Exceptional items      (1.4) (3.2) (4.6) (0.4) (5.0)

Segment result*       63.4   52.3   115.7  (11.0)  104.7 

Underlying operating margin      9.2% 12.3% 10.4%  –  9.5%

*Segment result includes £1.0 million profit of associates within Flight Support.

Other information

Capital additions       22.5   30.0   52.5   0.3   52.8 

Depreciation and amortisation       24.6   11.0   35.6   0.1   35.7 

Balance sheet

Total assets       880.6   556.2   1,436.8   181.6   1,618.4

Total liabilities      (174.8)  (106.4)  (281.2)  (899.2)  (1,180.4) 

Net assets      705.8 449.8 1,155.6 (717.6) 438.0 

       Revenue   Non
       by Revenue Capital current
       destination by origin additions assets
Geographical Segments       £m £m £m £m

2009

United Kingdom        125.1 191.5 4.0   104.6 

Mainland Europe       81.3 29.0 0.2   31.5 

North America       814.4  857.1 23.6  788.3 

Rest of World       60.0 3.2 –   3.4 

Total         1,080.8 1,080.8 27.8   927.8 

2008

United Kingdom        143.2 205.3 3.8   104.4 

Mainland Europe       82.8 28.5 0.5   35.2 

North America       868.2 918.7 48.4   920.6 

Rest of World       61.9  3.6 0.1 7.0 

Total        1,156.1 1,156.1 52.8   1,067.2 

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:
        Revenue from  Revenue from
        sales of goods  services

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £m £m £m £m

Flight support       343.1 404.3 300.7  301.6

Aftermarket service and systems       121.5 130.4 315.5 319.8

        464.6 534.7 616.2 621.4 

A portion of the Group’s revenue from the sale of goods and services denominated in foreign currencies is cash fl ow hedged. The amounts disclosed above for 

revenue from the sale of goods include the recycling of the eff ective amount of the foreign currency derivatives that are used to hedge foreign currency 

revenue. The amount included in revenue is a loss of £5.5 million (2008: gain £2.1 million).
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2. Profit for the year

Profi t for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Exceptional items

Exceptional items included within operating profi t amounted to a charge of £18.2 million (2008: £5.0 million). The main items included within this are:

2009: Administrative expenses of £3.8 million relating to amortisation of intangible assets acquired and valued in accordance with IFRS 3 and restructuring costs 

of £6.0 million relating to a number of restructuring initiatives, other operating expenses of £8.0 million which relate principally to an impairment of £5.5 million 

of our investment in ASIG Thailand and costs of £2.3 million relating to an onerous lease; and a net loss on the disposal of businesses of £0.4 million.

2008: Administrative expenses of £2.1 million relating to amortisation of intangible assets acquired and valued in accordance with IFRS 3; restructuring costs of 

£8.2 million relating to a number of restructuring initiatives; and, other operating income of £5.3 million relating to compensation from the US Department 

of Transport following the closure of Washington Reagan National Airport in 2001.

On the face of the income statement underlying profi t is shown before exceptional items because the directors consider that this gives a useful indication of 

underlying performance.

Other
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Net foreign exchange losses/(gains)          0.1  (1.6)

Research and development costs          1.2   1.6 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment         35.2   30.9 

Amortisation of intangible assets (included in administration expenses)       5.8   3.5 

Amortisation of intangible assets (included in cost of sales)        1.6   1.3 

Total depreciation and amortisation expense          42.6   35.7 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment         4.6  – 

Total employee costs          300.5   276.1 

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense          514.4  566.5 

The analysis of auditor’s remuneration is as follows:
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Group’s annual accounts      1.4   1.4 

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for other services to the Group 

The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation       0.1  0.1 

Total audit fees          1.5   1.5 

Other services pursuant to legislation

Tax services          0.1   – 

Other          –  0.1 

           0.1   0.1 

Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates in respect of associated pension schemes
Audit          –  0.1 

           –   0.1 

Total fees payable to the Company’s auditors          1.6   1.7 
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3. Investment income, finance costs and other gains and losses
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Interest on bank deposits          7.9   32.4 

Net finance income from pension schemes          –   2.4 

Fair value gains on interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges transferred from equity      –   0.3 

Total investment income          7.9   35.1 

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts         (19.8) (50.9)

Interest on obligations under finance leases         (0.7) (1.2)

Net finance expense from pension schemes         (1.5)  – 

Other finance costs         (0.9) (0.9)

Total borrowing costs         (22.9) (53.0)

Less amounts included in the cost of qualifying assets         0.4   0.5 

Fair value losses on interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges transferred from equity     (7.7) (3.1)

Total finance costs         (30.2) (55.6)

Borrowing costs included in the cost of qualifying assets during the year arose on the general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a capitalisation 

rate of 3.2% (2008: 5.6%) to expenditure on such assets, which represents the weighted average interest rate for currency in which expenditure has 

been made.

4. Income tax expense
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Current tax          11.5   17.8 

Adjustments in respect of prior years – current tax         0.7  (1.2)

Deferred tax (note 20)          3.9   7.6 

Adjustments in respect of prior years – deferred tax        (1.6) (2.9)

Income tax expense for the year          14.5   21.3 

Domestic income tax is calculated at 28% (2008: 28%) of the estimated assessable profi t for the year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates 

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The total charge for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profi t as follows:
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Profit before tax:          60.0   84.2 

Tax at the rates prevailing in the relevant tax jurisdictions 22.7% (2008: 32.2%)        13.6   27.1 

Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit       9.9   2.4 

Items on which deferred tax has not been recognised         (7.8)  (9.1)

Changes in tax legislation         –  2.5 

Difference in tax rates on overseas earnings         (0.3)  2.5 

Adjustments in respect of prior years         (0.9) (4.1)

Tax expense for the year          14.5   21.3 

The applicable tax rate of 22.7% (2008: 32.2%) represents a blend of the tax rates of the jurisdictions in which taxable profi ts have arisen. The change on prior year 

is due to a change in the proportion of taxable profi ts that have arisen in each jurisdiction and the benefi ts associated with a fi nancing structure implemented in 

August 2008.

In addition to the income tax expense charged to profi t or loss, a current tax charge of £1.7 million (2008: credit £2.2 million) and a deferred tax charge of 

£1.5 million (2008: credit £4.2 million) has been recognised in equity in the year. These changes primarily represent pension and foreign exchange movements 

recognised through equity.
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5. Dividends

On 22 May 2009, the 2008 fi nal dividend of 5.30p per share (total dividend £21.9 million) was paid to shareholders. The Company operates a Scrip Dividend 

Scheme which provides shareholders with the opportunity to receive their dividends in the form of new ordinary shares in the Company instead of cash. 

£6.1 million of the 2008 fi nal dividend was taken up in the form of shares under the Scrip Dividend Scheme. In May 2008, the 2007 fi nal dividend paid was 5.35p 

per share (total dividend £22.1 million).

On 6 November 2009, the 2009 interim dividend of 2.30p per share (total dividend £9.7 million) was paid to shareholders. £3.6 million of the 2009 interim 

dividend was taken up in the form of shares under the Scrip Dividend Scheme. In November 2008, the 2008 interim dividend paid was 2.30p per share (total 

dividend £9.5 million).

In respect of the current year, the directors propose that a fi nal dividend of 5.30p per share will be paid to shareholders on 21 May 2010. This dividend is subject to 

approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and in accordance with IAS 10 “Post Balance Sheet Events” has not been included as a liability in these 

fi nancial statements. The proposed dividend is payable to all shareholders on the Register of Members on 5 March 2010. The total estimated dividend to be paid 

is £22.4 million.

Accompanying this report is a separate circular setting out the terms and conditions of the Scrip Dividend Scheme. Mandate forms containing elections to join 

the Scrip Dividend Scheme must be received by the Company’s registrar no later than 22 April 2010 in order to be eff ective for the 2009 fi nal dividend.

Dividend payments to minority shareholders during the year totalled £0.1 million (2008: £0.3 million).

6. Earnings per share
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Basic:

Earnings

Profit for the period          45.5   62.9 

Minority interests          2.4  (0.1)

Basic earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders         47.9   62.8 

Exceptional items          13.2   3.3 

Adjusted earnings          61.1   66.1 

Diluted:

Earnings

Basic earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders         47.9   62.8 

Diluted earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders         47.9   62.8 

Exceptional items          13.2   3.3 

Adjusted diluted earnings           61.1   66.1 

Number of shares

Weighted average number of 2916/21p ordinary shares:

For basic earnings per share          418.4   411.1 

Exercise of share options          2.5   0.8 

For diluted earnings per share          420.9   411.9 

Earnings per share 

Basic:

Adjusted          14.6p  16.1p 

Unadjusted         11.4p  15.3p 

Diluted:

Adjusted          14.4p  16.0p 

Unadjusted         11.3p  15.2p 

Adjusted earnings per share is shown calculated on earnings before exceptional items because the directors consider that this gives a useful indication of 

underlying performance.
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7. Employees
         2009 2008
         number number

Average monthly number (including Executive Directors)

By segment

Flight Support          7,793   8,435 

Aftermarket Services & Systems          1,901   2,178 

           9,694   10,613 

By region 

United Kingdom          2,005   2,066 

Mainland Europe          153   143 

North America          7,485   8,350 

Rest of World          51   54 

           9,694   10,613 

         £m £m

Employment costs

Wages and salaries          268.9   246.2 

Social security costs          23.7   22.4 

Pension costs          7.9   7.5 

           300.5   276.1

8. Intangible assets
     Goodwill Licences Total Goodwill Licences Total
      & Other   & Other 
     2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost

Beginning of year      526.8   137.0   663.8   340.2   55.0   395.2 

Exchange adjustments      (50.9)  (12.9)  (63.8)  129.9   30.5   160.4 

Acquisitions      –   –   –   56.6   22.8   79.4 

Additions       –   5.9   5.9   –   28.1   28.1 

Disposals       –   (1.0)  (1.0)  –   (0.1)  (0.1)

Disposals of businesses      –   (2.3)  (2.3)  –   –   – 

Transfers from/(to) other asset categories      –   0.3   0.3   (0.2)  0.7   0.5 

Acquisitions in prior years      (1.0) –  (1.0)  0.3   –   0.3 

End of year       474.9   127.0   601.9   526.8   137.0   663.8 

Amortisation

Beginning of year      –   (24.7)  (24.7)  –   (14.9)  (14.9)

Exchange adjustments      –   2.2   2.2   –   (5.0)  (5.0)

Amortisation charge for the year      –   (7.4)  (7.4)  –   (4.8)  (4.8)

Disposals       –   1.0   1.0   –   –   – 

Disposals of businesses      –   0.2   0.2   –   –   – 

Transfers from other asset categories      –   (0.2)  (0.2)  –   –   – 

 End of year       –   (28.9)  (28.9)  –   (24.7)  (24.7)

Carrying amount

End of year      474.9   98.1   573.0   526.8   112.3   639.1 

Licenses are amortised over the period to which they relate, which is on average 18 years (2008: 18 years). Where a licence has an indefi nite life, the licence is not 

amortised until such time as the remaining life of the associated platform is estimated to be 20 years, at which point amortisation commences over the 

remaining useful life of the licence. Other intangible assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives which is on average 10 years.

The £1.0 million decrease to goodwill on acquisitions in prior years (2008: £0.3 million increase) arises as a result of the fi nalisation of fair value exercises.
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8. Intangible assets — continued

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefi t from the business 

combination. The carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as follows:

         2009 2008
         £m £m

Flight Support

ASIG US           91.7   102.5

Signature US          216.5   241.9

Signature UK          16.3   16.3

Other – (several CGUs)          30.3   33.2

Aftermarket Services & Systems

Dallas Airmotive          52.0   58.1

H+S Aviation          10.7   10.7

Ontic Engineering & Manufacturing          26.0   29.1

Other – (several CGUs)          31.4   35.0

           474.9   526.8

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

Goodwill relating to Executive Beechcraft, which was previously identifi ed as a separate CGU, has now been included within Signature US, since the business has 

been integrated into Signature US and is therefore part of the same CGU.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding 

the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs during the period. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax 

rates that refl ect current market assessments of the time value of money and any risks specifi c to the CGUs. The growth rates are based on industry growth 

forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

The key assumptions in constructing the 2010-2012 plans were that:

—  Signature and ASIG will see a return to a modest level of growth in 2010 and further improvement thereafter, with the later cycle Engine Repair & Overhaul 

business not benefi ting from their growth for a further six to nine months;

—  Legacy Support continues to grow supported by new licences and its exposure to the military sector; and

—  APPH will be relatively stable in 2010 with no further weakening in business and general aviation activity or component MRO work, before a slow and gradual 

recovery commences during 2011.

The Group prepares cash fl ow forecasts derived from the most recent fi nancial budgets approved by management for the next three years and extrapolates 

cash fl ows for the following years based on an estimated growth rate of 5.0% in the initial two years and 3.0% thereafter. This rate is well below the average long-

term growth rate for the relevant markets. In the case of ASIG US, value in use would be broadly equal to carrying value in the event that the estimated growth 

rate fell to 2.0%. With the exception of ASIG US management believes that there are no reasonably possible changes which would result in the carrying amount 

of the CGUs exceeding the recoverable amounts. The rate used to discount the forecast cash fl ows for all CGUs is 10.2% and this approximates to the Group’s 

weighted average cost of capital which is deemed applicable for all CGUs.
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9. Property, plant and equipment
      Land and Fixtures and  Land and Fixtures and 
      buildings equipment Total buildings equipment Total
      2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008
      £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost or valuation

Beginning of year      405.9   307.6   713.5   288.9   240.9   529.8 

Exchange adjustments      (40.1)  (24.9)  (65.0)  104.4   66.7   171.1 

Transfers from/(to) other asset categories      0.1   (18.8)  (18.7)  –   (8.8) (8.8)

Acquisition of businesses      –   –   –   5.5   0.1   5.6 

Additions       4.4  13.2   17.6   8.0   22.2   30.2 

Disposals       (0.8)  (3.4)  (4.2)  (0.3)  (4.7) (5.0)

Asset write downs      (2.7)  (6.9)  (9.6)  (0.6)  (8.8) (9.4)

Disposals of businesses      (0.6)  (0.3)  (0.9)  –   –   – 

End of year      366.2   266.5   632.7   405.9   307.6   713.5 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Beginning of year      140.7   165.1   305.8   90.9   128.5   219.4 

Exchange adjustments      (14.6)  (13.3)  (27.9)  36.2   34.4   70.6 

Transfers (to)/from other asset categories      –   (7.3)  (7.3)  (0.1)  (5.8) (5.9)

Depreciation charge for the year      16.5   18.7   35.2   14.1   16.8   30.9 

Disposals       (0.8)  (2.4)  (3.2)  (0.2)  (3.8) (4.0)

Asset write downs      (0.5)   (3.4)  (3.9)   (0.2)  (5.0) (5.2)

Disposals of businesses      (0.5)  (0.2)   (0.7)  –   –   – 

End of year      140.8   157.2   298.0   140.7   165.1   305.8 

Carrying amount

End of year      225.4   109.3   334.7   265.2   142.5   407.7 

Capital commitments
            2009 2008
            £m £m

Capital expenditure contracted but not provided for        2.5 3.0

The carrying amount of the Group’s fi xtures and equipment includes an amount of £8.9 million (2008: £8.1 million) in respect of assets held under fi nance leases.

Where assets have been written down or impaired the recoverable amount has been determined by reference to its value in use, estimated using the forecast 

cash fl ows over the remaining life of the asset and discounted using a rate of 10.2% which approximates to the Group’s weighted average cost of capital.

10. Investments in associates
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Cost of investment in associates          0.8   1.2 

Share of post-acquisition profit, net of dividends received         1.1   1.3 

Group share of net assets of associates          1.9   2.5 

The investments in associates relates to a number of small investments within the Flight Support segment.

            2009 2008
Aggregated amounts relating to associates         £m £m

Total assets          12.9   17.3 

Total liabilities          (9.2) (13.7)

Net assets          3.7   3.6 

         2009 2008
            £m £m

Revenue           109.4   159.4 

Profit for the year          3.1   2.6 

Group’s share of profit for the year          1.1   1.0 
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11. Inventories

         2009 2008
         £m £m

Raw materials          95.8   117.8 

Work-in-progress          13.1   17.8 

Finished goods          29.0   36.2 

           137.9   171.8 

12. Other financial assets
         2009  2008
Trade and other receivables        Note £m £m

Amounts due within one year

Trade receivables         134.8  183.8 

Other receivables, prepayments and accrued income        58.3  74.9 

Derivative financial instruments        17 1.1  20.9 

Trade and other receivables due within one year        194.2  279.6 

Amounts due after one year

Trade and other receivables         16.8  17.9 

Derivative financial instruments        17 1.4  – 

Trade and other receivables due after one year        18.2  17.9 

          212.4  297.5

Trade receivables

An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods and services of £3.1 million (2008: £5.1 million). This allowance has 

been determined by reference to past default experience and current expectations.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances are debtors with a carrying amount of £36.4 million (2008: £40.2 million) which are past due at the reporting 

date for which the Group has not provided as there has not been a signifi cant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. 

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these receivables is 61 days (2008: 60 days).

         2009 2008
         £m £m

Ageing of past due but not impaired receivables

30 – 60 days         24.8  27.4 

60 – 90 days         7.1  7.8 

90 – 120 days          1.0  2.5 

over 120 days         3.5  2.5 

          36.4  40.2 

         2009 2008
         £m £m

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

Beginning of year         (5.1)  (2.3)

Exchange adjustments         0.5  (1.3)

Disposals/demergers of businesses         0.2  – 

Amounts written off as uncollectible         1.3  1.4 

Charged          –  (2.9)

End of year         (3.1) (5.1)

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was 

initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated. Accordingly, the 

directors believe that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts. The directors consider that the carrying amount 

of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

         2009 2008
         £m £m

Ageing of impaired trade receivables

90 – 120 days          0.6  1.9 

over 120 days         0.2  0.9 

          0.8  2.8
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12. Other financial assets — continued

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. The carrying 

amount of these assets approximates their fair value.

Credit risk

The Group’s principal fi nancial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables, fi nance lease receivables and investments.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative fi nancial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by 

international credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and fi nance lease receivables. The amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for 

doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made where there is an identifi ed loss event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of 

a reduction of the cash fl ows.

The Group has no signifi cant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.

13. Trade and other payables
         2009  2008
        Note £m £m

Amounts due within one year

Trade payables          99.9   104.0 

Other taxation and social security          4.8   4.7 

Other payables          32.7   66.2 

Accruals and deferred income          89.7   89.5 

Derivative financial instruments        17  3.6   12.8 

           230.7   277.2 

Amounts due after one year

Trade and other payables          6.6   11.3 

Derivative financial instruments        17  54.2   116.1 

           60.8   127.4 

           291.5   404.6 

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates their fair value.

The average age of trade creditors was 42 days (2008: 32 days).
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14. Obligations under finance leases
        Present value of
       Minimum lease minimum lease
       payments payments

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       £m £m £m £m

Amounts payable under finance leases

Within one year       1.2  1.8  0.9  0.7 

In the second to fifth years inclusive       4.2  6.8  3.6  2.7 

After five years       – 37.9  – 31.1 

        5.4  46.5  4.5  34.5 

Less: future finance charges       (0.9) (12.0) N/A N/A

Present value of lease obligations       4.5  34.5  4.5  34.5 

Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months (shown under current liabilities)      (0.9) (0.7)

          3.6  33.8 

It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its fi xtures and equipment under fi nance leases. The average lease term is fi ve years for equipment and 20 years for FBO 

leasehold improvements. For the year ended 31 December 2009, the average eff ective borrowing rate for continuing operations was 8.2% (2008: 3.5%). Interest 

rates are fi xed at the contract date or vary based on prevailing interest rates.

All of the Group’s fi nance lease obligations are denominated in US Dollars.

The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations approximates their carrying amount.

The Group’s obligations under fi nance leases are secured by the lessors’ charges over the leased assets.

During the period, the Group purchased $46.8 million (£31.2 million) of its own Industrial Revenue Bonds and now holds these with a view to remarketing them 

in the future. As a result of this, drawings under the Group’s loan facilities increased by $46.8 million (£31.2 million), and amounts payable under fi nance leases 

decreased by $43.7 million (£29.1 million) and other borrowings decreased by $3.1 million (£2.1 million).

15. Operating lease arrangements

The Group as lessee
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense in the year     51.2 40.0

At the balance sheet date, the Group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

         2009 2008
         £m £m

Within one year         56.0  56.5 

In the second to fifth years inclusive         189.8  195.2 

After five years         457.5  513.0 

          703.3  764.7 

Operating lease payments represent amounts payable by the Group for certain of its offi  ce properties, plants, FBOs, and equipment. Leases are negotiated for 

an average term of nine years for offi  ce properties, four years for plants and warehouses, 26 years for FBOs, and fi ve years for equipment. Rentals are generally 

fi xed or adjusted based on infl ation.

The total future minimum sub-lease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable sub-leases at 31 December 2009 were £37.6 million 

(2008: £36.4 million).
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16. Bank overdraft and loans
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Bank overdrafts         31.7  14.8 

Bank loans         468.9  598.6 

Loans other than from banks         1.9  4.9 

          502.5  618.3 

The borrowings are repayable as follows:

On demand or within one year          33.1   18.1 

In the second year          67.8   2.4 

In the third to fifth years inclusive          401.4   597.6 

After five years          0.2   0.2 

           502.5   618.3 

Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months (shown under current liabilities)       (33.1) (18.1)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months          469.4   600.2 

The fair value of the Group’s borrowings are not materially diff erent from their carrying values.

A signifi cant proportion of the increase in bank overdrafts and loans relates to movements in exchange rates.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

      Sterling US Dollar Euro Other Total
      £m £m £m £m £m

31 December 2009

Bank overdrafts       20.1   7.9   2.9   0.8   31.7 

Bank loans       10.0   457.1   –   1.8   468.9 

Loans other than from banks       0.2   1.5   –   0.2   1.9 

        30.3   466.5   2.9   2.8   502.5 

31 December 2008

Bank overdrafts       7.7   5.3   1.2   0.6   14.8 

Bank loans       16.9   579.1   –   2.6   598.6 

Loans other than from banks       0.2   4.5   –   0.2   4.9 

        24.8   588.9   1.2   3.4   618.3 

The average floating interest rates on borrowings are as follows:
         2009 2008

Sterling          1.6% 5.4%

US Dollar          1.7% 3.8%

Euros          1.3% 4.5%

All borrowings are arranged at fl oating rates exposing the Group to cash fl ow interest rate risk. This cash fl ow interest rate risk is managed by the use of interest 

rate swaps in accordance with pre-agreed policies and authority limits. As at 31 December 2009, 65% of the Group’s borrowings were fi xed at a weighted 

average interest rate of 3.3% for a weighted average period of 2.7 years. The Group’s cash fl ow interest rate exposure also includes fi nance leases and cross 

currency swaps and as at 31 December 2009 60% of the Group’s total interest rate exposure was fi xed.

Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand. All bank loans are unsecured. 

The eff ective interest rates on borrowings are not materially diff erent from their nominal interest rates.

The Group has two bank loan facilities totalling $1,075.0 million (2008: $1,175.0 million). The primary facility is a multicurrency revolving credit facility dated 

7 September 2007 for $900.0 million which is due to expire in September 2012. In addition, the Group has a $175.0 million multicurrency revolving credit facility 

dated 27 August 2008 which is due to expire in August 2011. These facilities are unsecured committed bank facilities and are subject to cross-default.

At 31 December 2009, the Group had available $322.9 million (2008: $315.4 million) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of which all conditions 

precedent had been met.
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17. Derivative financial instruments

Categories of financial instruments

The table below details the categories of fi nancial instruments across the Group and the carrying values of each category:

         2009 2008
         Carrying Carrying
         value value
         £m £m

Financial assets:

Fair value through profit and loss – held for trading†         0.1   20.5

Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships        2.4   0.4 

Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents)        251.3   293.1

           253.8   314.0

Financial liabilities 

Fair value through profit and loss – held for trading†         (0.1) (1.4)

Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships        (57.7) (127.5)

Amortised cost          (617.0) (786.1)

           (674.8) (915.0)

†  The amounts detailed above as fair value through profit and loss – held for trading do not relate to speculative transactions. They relate to foreign exchange contracts which are not designated in 

a formal hedging relationship and are used to hedge foreign currency flows through the BBA Aviation plc Company bank accounts and to ensure that the Group is not exposed to foreign exchange 

risk through the management of its international cash management structure.

Derivative financial instruments

The fair values of all derivative fi nancial instruments shown in the table below are based on market values of equivalent instruments at the balance sheet date and 

are held as assets and liabilities within other receivables and other payables. The notional amounts of the derivative fi nancial instruments detailed in the table 

below are based on the contractual gross amounts as at the balance sheet date. The fair values of all derivative fi nancial instruments in the table below are 

categorised within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy as confi rmation that the fair values have been calculated based on quoted prices in active markets for identical 

assets or liabilities. The Group does not have any derivative fi nancial instruments which would be categorised as level 2 or level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Financial assets measured at fair value
        2009  2008

       Notional Fair value Notional Fair value
       amount  amount 
       £m £m £m £m

Cash flow hedges

Interest rate swaps        (124.2)  1.3   –   – 

Foreign exchange forward contracts        (9.3)  1.1   1.7   0.4

Net investment hedges

Cross currency swaps        –   –   –   – 

Derivatives not in a formal hedge relationship

Foreign exchange forward contracts        18.6   0.1   228.9   20.5

         (114.9)  2.5   230.6   20.9

Financial liabilities measured at fair value
        2009  2008

       Notional Fair value Notional Fair value
       amount  amount 
       £m £m £m £m

Cash flow hedges

Interest rate swaps        (205.0)  (6.6)  (402.8) (13.1)

Foreign exchange forward contracts        (41.7)  (3.4)  (76.1) (16.7)

Net investment hedges

Cross currency swaps        (292.7)  (47.7)  (430.5) (97.7)

Derivatives not in a formal hedge relationship 

Foreign exchange forward contracts        36.3   (0.1)  (49.8) (1.4)

         (503.1)  (57.8)  (959.2) (128.9)
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17. Derivative financial instruments — continued

The maturity of derivative fi nancial instruments is as follows:
        2009  2008

       Asset Liability Asset Liability
       Fair value Fair value Fair value Fair value
       £m £m £m £m

Current

Less than 1 year        1.1   (3.6)  20.9  (12.8)

Total current        1.1   (3.6)  20.9  (12.8)

Non-current

1–2 years         0.1   (25.0)  –  (8.8)

2–3 years         –   (16.8)  –  (98.2)

3–4 years         –   (12.4)  –  (0.3)

4–5 years         1.3   –   –  (8.6)

More than 5 years        –   –   –  (0.2)

Total non-current        1.4   (54.2)  –  (116.1)

         2.5   (57.8)  20.9  (128.9)

Collateral

As part of the Group’s management of its insurable risks a proportion of this risk is managed through self insurance programmes operated by its captive 

insurance company, BBA Aviation Insurances Limited, based in the Isle of Man. This company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group and premiums paid are 

held to meet future claims. The cash balances held by the Company are reported on the balance sheet within cash and cash equivalents. As is usual practice for 

captive insurance companies some of this cash is used as collateral against contingent liabilities (standby letters of credit) that have been provided to certain 

external insurance companies.

The table below details the contractual amount and maturity of the cash balances that have been pledged as collateral for these contingent liabilities:

       2009   2008

     US Dollar Sterling Total US Dollar Sterling Total
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

BBA Aviation Insurances Limited      7.6   1.0   8.6   8.5   1.0  9.5 

Total       7.6   1.0   8.6   8.5   1.0   9.5 

Current

Less than 1 year      7.6   1.0   8.6   8.5   1.0   9.5 

Total current      7.6   1.0   8.6   8.5   1.0   9.5

The standby letters of credit have been issued via bank facilities that BBA Aviation Insurances Limited has in place. The amount of these facilities correspond to 

the amounts pledged as detailed in the table above. The amounts pledged are usually for less than one year and are currently secured by a general counter 

indemnity and a letter of set-off  in the bank’s standard form over the cash balances of the captive insurance company. The form of the cash pledge is currently 

under review with the letter of set-off  arrangement due to be replaced by a legal charge to the bank. 

Financial Risk Factors

Our activities expose us to a variety of fi nancial risks: market risk (including currency risk and cash fl ow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Overall our 

risk management policies and procedures focus on the uncertainty of fi nancial markets and seeks to manage and minimise potential fi nancial risks through the 

use of derivative fi nancial instruments. The Group does not undertake speculative transactions for which there is no underlying fi nancial exposure. 

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department under policies approved by the Board of Directors of BBA Aviation plc. This department 

identifi es, evaluates and hedges fi nancial risks in close co-operation with our subsidiaries. The treasury policies cover specifi c areas such as foreign exchange risk, 

interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative fi nancial instruments and the investment of excess liquidity. These policies are outlined further as described on 

page 43.

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders 

through the optimisation of the debt to equity balance. The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to 

equity holders of the parent comprising capital, reserves and retained earnings.

The Group’s policy is to borrow centrally to meet anticipated funding requirements. These borrowings, together with cash generated from the operations, are 

on-lent or contributed as equity to subsidiaries at market-based interest rates and on commercial terms and conditions.

The Group is subject to two fi nancial covenant requirements under its two main credit facilities: maximum net debt to underlying EBITDA of 3.5 times and 

minimum net interest cover of 3.0 times. The Group complied with these covenants during the year. In the primary $900 million facility the Group has the option 

of relaxing the fi nancial covenants for a period of time if certain acquisition criteria are met. Following the acquisition of Hawker Beechcraft in 2008 these criteria 

were met and the Group exercised this option to increase the net debt to EBITDA covenant to 4.25 times at the 31 December 2008 testing date and to 4.0 times 

at the 30 June and 31 December 2009 testing dates. From 30 June 2010 this covenant will revert to 3.5 times. This acquisition spike is not incorporated, and 

therefore not available, under the $175 million facility.
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17. Derivative financial instruments — continued

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of adverse fi nancial impact due to changes in fair values or future cash fl ows of fi nancial instruments from fl uctuations in foreign currency 

exchange rates and interest rates. The Group has well defi ned policies for the management of these risks and the management of these risks includes the use of 

derivative fi nancial instruments.

(i) Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group has signifi cant overseas businesses whose revenues, cash fl ows, assets and liabilities are mainly denominated in the currency in which the operations 

are located. The Group is, therefore, exposed to foreign currency translation risk from the translation of these overseas operations’ fi nancial statements into 

sterling. During 2009 the Board reviewed its foreign currency translation policy and identifi ed the protection of the net debt to EBITDA fi nancial ratio as a priority 

rather than minimising volatility in shareholders’ funds. It was therefore decided that in future the balance sheet foreign currency translation exposure will only 

be hedged using borrowings and new derivative fi nancial instruments will not be used. The Board also approved a transition plan to ensure that the existing 

cross currency swap book is being actively managed. The Board decided that the income statement translation exposure should remain unhedged, since such 

hedges have only a temporary eff ect.

As at 31 December 2009 the majority of the Group’s net borrowings were denominated in US Dollars as detailed in the table below:

     2009     2008

 US Dollar Euros Sterling Other Total US Dollar Euros Sterling Other Total
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents  66.8   11.6   35.5   1.5   115.4   57.2   11.0   28.7   1.5   98.4 

Debt and finance leases  (471.0)  (2.9)  (30.3)  (2.8)  (507.0)  (623.4)  (1.2)  (24.8)  (3.4) (652.8)

Net debt   (404.2)  8.7   5.2   (1.3)  (391.6)  (566.2)  9.8   3.9   (1.9) (554.4)

At the end of 2009 the Group had outstanding $400 million (2008: $550 million) and €50 million (2008: €50 million) of cross currency swaps. During 2009 

$150 million of cross currency swaps were closed out early at a cash cost of £2.9 million. The fair value of currency derivatives that are designated and eff ective as 

net investment hedges at the 2009 year end amounting to a payable of £47.7 million (2008: payable £97.7 million) has been deferred in equity.

The Group manages its transactional foreign currency risk by hedging signifi cant currency exposures in accordance with foreign exchange policies that our 

subsidiaries have in place which have been pre-agreed between Group Treasury and the subsidiary. Each foreign exchange policy is individually tailored to the 

foreign exchange exposures within the relevant subsidiary. Transaction currency risk is managed through the use of spot and forward foreign exchange 

contracts. All committed exposures are fully hedged 100% and where signifi cant foreign currency exposures exist then we generally will also cover a percentage 

of the projected foreign currency fl ows depending on the certainty of these cash fl ows.

The transaction foreign exchange risk is measured by each subsidiary submitting monthly reports to Group Treasury which detail the foreign currency exposure 

reported on the balance sheet as committed exposures and, for those subsidiaries with signifi cant foreign exchange transaction exposures, an additional report 

detailing the future projected foreign currency cash fl ows over the life of the policy. The pre-determined policy margin is shown against the projected exposures 

to determine whether there is a net exposure which needs to be hedged. If this is the case, then foreign exchange spot or forward contract(s) will be undertaken 

by Group Treasury on behalf of the relevant subsidiary with our relationship banks.

      2009    2008

    US Dollar Euros Other Total US Dollar Euros Other Total
   £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Net foreign exchange transaction cash flow exposure   53.2   3.9   (0.6)  56.5   69.0   5.8   –   74.8

Derivative effect – foreign exchange contracts 

spot/forwards    (52.2)  (3.9)  0.6   (55.5)  (68.4)  (5.8)  –  (74.2)

Net Asset position excluding intercompany debt 

post hedging effect    1.0   –   –   1.0   0.6   –   –   0.6 

The fair value of currency derivatives that are designated and eff ective as cash fl ow hedges amounting to £(2.3) million (2008: £(16.3) million) has been deferred 

in equity. A loss of £5.7 million (2008: loss £5.5 million) has been transferred to the income statement in respect of contracts that matured during the period. 

Foreign exchange contracts that are not designated as cash fl ow hedges are used to hedge foreign currency fl ows through the BBA Aviation plc company bank 

accounts and to ensure that the Group is not exposed to foreign exchange risk through the management of its international cash pooling structure.

Changes in the fair value of foreign exchange contracts which have not been designated as cash fl ow hedges amounting to £17.8 million (2008: £74.1 million) 

have been transferred to administrative expenses in the income statement in the year. The net impact on the Group’s result for the period is immaterial, since the 

balances which these contracts relate to have had a similar but opposite eff ect on administrative expenses.

(ii) Cash Flow Interest Rate Risk

The majority of the Group’s debt and cash balances are based on fl oating interest rates which expose the Group to cash fl ow interest rate risk. A very small 

proportion of the Group’s borrowings (£2.8 million) is issued at fi xed interest rates and, therefore, overall the Group is not exposed to fair value interest rate risk. 

The Group’s policy is to use a combination of debt and derivative instruments to fi x proportions of the exposure for varying periods based upon the maturity 

profi le and the expectation of future interest rates. The Group uses interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to the movements on these fl oating interest rates.
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During 2009 and 2008, net debt was managed using derivative instruments to hedge cash fl ow interest rate risk as follows:

       2009   2008

     Fixed Floating Net Fixed Floating Net
     rate rate debt rate rate debt
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents      –   115.4   115.4   –   98.4  98.4

Bank overdrafts      –   (31.7)  (31.7)  –   (14.8) (14.8)

Borrowings      –   (470.8)  (470.8)  (3.7)  (599.8) (603.5)

Finance leases      (2.8)  (1.7)  (4.5)  –   (34.5) (34.5)

Net Debt      (2.8)  (388.8)  (391.6)  (3.7)  (550.7) (554.4)

Derivative effect – cross-currency swaps      –   (47.7)  (47.7)  –   (97.7) (97.7)

Derivative effect – cash flow interest rate swaps*     (329.2)  323.9   (5.3)  (402.8)  389.7  (13.1)

Net debt post derivative effect      (332.0)  (112.6)  (444.6)  (406.5)  (258.7) (665.2)

* Mark-to-market value has been included within the floating rate amount. This is not booked to net debt but is recorded as a net loss in reserves.

The fair value of interest rate swaps are designated and eff ective as cash fl ow hedges and the fair value loss of £5.3 million (2008: £13.1 million) has been deferred 

in equity. A charge of £7.7 million (2008: charge £2.8 million) has been booked against hedged interest payments made in the period.

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative fi nancial instruments and deposits with banks and fi nancial institutions, as well as credit exposures 

to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. As part of the Group’s operations, cash management and risk management 

activities the Group is exposed to counterparty risk arising on the fi nancial assets that we have and the credit risk on outstanding derivative fi nancial 

instruments. 

Treasury Related Credit Risk

The Group aims to reduce counterparty risk by dealing with counterparties of strong credit standing as measured by fi nancial credit ratings. All Treasury related 

activity is concentrated with relationship banks that provide unsecured committed facilities to the Group. Across the subsidiaries, wherever possible and where 

services can be provided effi  ciently and cost eff ectively, bank accounts, surplus cash and any hedging activity are concentrated and undertaken with 

relationship banks.

Each counterparty that the Group uses for derivatives, bank account activity and the investment of surplus cash is assigned a maximum credit limit dependent 

upon the counterparty’s credit rating. This limit gives a maximum permitted amount of cash and derivatives that can be held or undertaken with each 

counterparty. All counterparties must also have a short term rating of A1/P1. Deposits are generally for short-term maturity of less than three months.

As at 31 December 2009 and 2008 the Group had a number of exposures to individual counterparties. These are within the maximum limits permissible under 

our policy and these exposures are continually monitored and reported. No individual exposure is considered signifi cant in the ordinary course of treasury 

management activity and the Group does not expect any signifi cant losses from non-performance by these counterparties.

Commercial Related Credit Risk

The Group’s exposure to commercial related credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and fi nance lease receivables and the amounts presented in the 

balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. Sales to customers are settled by a number of diff erent ways including cash, credit cards, cheques 

and electronic payment methods. A customer or potential customer is assessed on a case-by-case basis to determine whether credit terms will be provided. 

The Group does not expect any signifi cant losses of receivables that have not been provided for as shown in note 12.

Liquidity Risk

The Group manages its liquidity requirements through the use of short-term and long-term cash fl ow forecasts. In addition to strong cash generation in the 

businesses the Group maintains unsecured committed borrowing facilities from a range of highly rated banks to mitigate this risk further. Headroom on our 

facilities is regularly evaluated and consistently monitored to ensure that the Group has adequate headroom and liquidity. The Group’s committed facilities are a 

$175 million revolving credit facility maturing in 2011 and a $900 million revolving credit facility maturing in 2012.

The following table provides an analysis of the contractual undiscounted cash fl ows payable under the fi nancial liabilities as at the balance sheet date:

          2009

      Non-derivative Derivative 
    Bank Finance Other Trade financial financial 
    loans leases loans creditors liabilities liabilities Total
    £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Due within one year     36.7   1.2   0.8   103.4   142.1   3.6   145.7

Due between one and two years     70.7   1.1   0.8   0.3   72.9   25.0   97.9 

Due between two and three years     403.2   1.1   0.1   –   404.4   16.8   421.2 

Due between three and four years     –   1.0   –   –   1.0   12.4   13.4 

Due between four and five years     –   1.0   –   –   1.0   –   1.0 

Due in more than five years     –   –   0.2   6.3   6.5   –   6.5 

Total      510.6   5.4   1.9   110.0   627.9   57.8   685.7 
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17. Derivative financial instruments — continued
          2008

        Non-derivative Derivative 
    Bank Finance Other Trade financial financial 
    loans leases loans creditors liabilities liabilities Total
    £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Due within one year     28.9   1.8   3.4   122.1   156.2   12.8   169.0 

Due between one and two years     15.0   1.7   1.1   3.8   21.6   8.8   30.4 

Due between two and three years     87.4   1.7   –   0.4   89.5   98.2   187.7

Due between three and four years     529.6   1.7   0.1   –   531.4   0.3   531.7

Due between four and five years     –   1.7   0.2   –   1.9   8.6   10.5

Due in more than five years     –   37.9   0.2   7.0   45.1   0.2   45.3

Total      660.9   46.5   5.0   133.3   845.7   128.9   974.6

The maturity profi le of the Group’s fi nancial derivatives using undiscounted cash fl ows is as follows:
        2009  2008

       Payable Receivable Payable Receivable
       £m £m £m £m

Due within one year        (103.7)  101.2   (242.9)  250.9 

Due between one and two years        (167.6)  142.7   (30.3)  21.5

Due between two and three years        (115.7)  98.9   (433.1)  335.0

Due between three and four years        (38.9)  26.5   (2.0)  1.7

Due between four and five years        –   1.3   (8.6)  – 

Due in more than five years        –   –   (0.2)  – 

Total         (425.9)  370.6   (717.1)  609.1

Sensitivity Analysis as at 31 December 2009

Financial instruments aff ected by market risk are derivative fi nancial instruments. The following analysis is intended to illustrate the sensitivity to changes in 

foreign exchange rates and interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared on the basis that the derivative portfolio and the proportion of derivatives hedging foreign exchange risk and cash 

fl ow interest rate risk are all constant and on the basis of hedge designations in place at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008, respectively. As a 

consequence, this sensitivity analysis relates to the position at these dates and is not representative of the year then ended. 

The following assumptions were made in calculating the sensitivity analysis:

  the balance sheet sensitivity to interest rates relates only to derivative instruments as cash and debt balances are carried at amortised cost and so their carrying 

value does not change as interest rates move; 

  changes in the carrying value of derivative fi nancial instruments designated as cash fl ow hedges or net investment hedges are assumed to be recorded fully 

in equity; 

  the sensitivity of accrued interest to movements in interest rates is calculated on net fl oating rate exposures on debt, cash and derivative instruments;

  changes in the carrying value of derivative fi nancial instruments not in hedging relationships only aff ect the income statement; 

  all other changes in the carrying value of derivative fi nancial instruments designated as hedges are fully eff ective with no impact on the income statement; 

  all debt is fl oating rate for the accrued interest part of the calculation; 

  the fl oating rate leg of any swap or any fl oating rate debt is treated as not having any interest rate already set, therefore a change in the interest rates aff ects 

a full 12-month period for the accrued interest portion of the sensitivity calculations;

  the sensitivity of foreign exchange rates only looks at the outstanding foreign exchange forward book and the currency bank account balances at plc 

company only as at the balance sheet date and assumed this is the position for a full 12-month period;

  the sensitivity of a 10% movement in foreign exchange rates has been used due to the fact that historically rates can move by approximately 10% per 

annum; and

  the sensitivity of a 1% movement in interest rates has been used as over the last three years fl oating $ interest rates have moved by on average 1% per annum.

Using the above assumptions the following table shows the illustrative eff ect on the income statement and equity that would result from reasonably possible 

movements in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, before the eff ects of tax.
        2009  2008

       Income  Income 
       statement Equity statement Equity
       -/+ £m -/+ £m -/+ £m -/+ £m

£/$ FX rates – £ strengthens 10%        –   26.9   0.2  40.9

£/$ FX rates – £ weakens 10%        –   (32.9)  (0.2) (50.0)

£/Euro FX rates – £ strengthens 10%        –   4.4   –  5.0 

£/Euro FX rates – £ weakens 10%        –   (5.4)  –  (6.1)

Interest rates +1.00%        (2.6)  7.7   (2.6) 7.5

Interest rates –1.00%        3.4   (8.1)  2.6  (7.8)

The foreign exchange analysis in the sensitivity table above illustrates the impact of movements in foreign exchange rates on foreign currency transactional 

exposures and does not include the impact on the translation of the Group’s overseas income statement and balance sheet. The translation impact on profi t 

before tax in the Group’s income statement from the movement in exchange rates is approximately £0.35 million for each 1 cent movement in the £/$ 

exchange rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — continued

18. Provisions
       Exchange   
      Beginning rate Charged Utilised End
      of year adjustments in year in year of year
      £m £m £m £m £m

Restructuring provisions       1.7  (0.2)  0.6  (1.3)  0.8 

Discontinued operations        19.2  (0.1)  2.6  (1.8)  19.9 

Environmental provisions       1.5  (0.1)  0.2  (1.1)  0.5 

        22.4  (0.4)  3.4  (4.2)  21.2 

Restructuring provisions represents costs provided in relation to commitments made at the balance sheet date for reorganisations which are expected to occur 

within one year of the balance sheet date. The charges to the restructuring provision relate principally to the closure of a number of commercial cargo handling 

operations.

Discontinued operations represents a provision for environmental and other liabilities relating to businesses that have been disposed of by the Group in prior 

years. The liabilities have been assessed over a remaining period of 25 years. The provision of £19.9 million is partially off set by expected recoveries from third 

parties of £12.9 million (2008: £13.3 million), which are included within trade and other receivables due after one year in note 12.

Environmental provisions relate to environmental liabilities within businesses that have been acquired by the Group. The liabilities have an expected life of up to 

fi ve years.
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Analysed as:

Current liabilities          0.8   1.7 

Non-current liabilities          20.4   20.7 

           21.2   22.4

19. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

The Group operates a number of plans worldwide, of both the funded defi ned benefi t type and the defi ned contribution type. The normal pension cost for the 

Group, including early retirement costs, was £7.9 million (2008: £7.5 million) of which £4.0 million (2008: £3.4 million) was in respect of foreign schemes. This 

includes £4.5 million (2008: £4.0 million) relating to defi ned contribution schemes. The pension costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent 

qualifi ed actuaries, where practicable, using a variety of methods and assumptions and otherwise, in respect of certain foreign schemes, in accordance with 

local regulations.

The Group’s main UK pension commitments are contained within a fi nal salary defi ned benefi t scheme with assets held in a separate trustee-administered fund. 

Contributions to the scheme are made and the pension cost is assessed using the projected unit method. The latest actuarial valuation of the scheme was as at 

31 March 2007. During 2008, the Trustees of the UK defi ned benefi t plan purchased from Legal & General Group plc an annuity to match the liabilities associated 

with pensioner members. The annuity is an investment of the UK plan, and all pension liabilities and responsibility for future pension payments remain with the 

plan. The income from the annuity matches the payments to be made to members who were pensioners at the time the annuity was purchased, and removes 

mortality risk in relation to those members which are the subject of the annuity purchase.

The UK defi ned benefi t BBA Income and Protection Plan (“IPP”) was closed to new members in 2002. During the second half of 2009, the Company consulted 

with the active members of the IPP with a view to changing the benefi ts payable to members to address the defi cit expected to arise out of the 2009 valuation, 

and also to restrict the increasing cost of providing defi ned benefi t pensions and thereby place the plan on a more secure fi nancial footing and make provision 

of benefi ts more sustainable in the future. The principal changes being adopted are the change in the basis of future service pension accrual from 

a fi nal salary defi ned benefi t pension to a career average re-valued earnings (CARE) defi ned benefi t pension and the removal of the link between increases 

to fi nal salary benefi ts already accrued and increases to members’ salaries. These changes are expected to have an immediate impact in reducing the 

ongoing cost of pension provision and reducing BBA Aviation’s net liability to the pension plan, and are expected to be taken into account in the fi nalisation of 

the 2009 valuation.

The Group’s foreign pension schemes mainly relate to a number of funded fi nal salary defi ned benefi t pension arrangements in North America. Pension costs 

have been calculated by independent qualifi ed actuaries, using the projected unit method and assumptions appropriate to the arrangements 

in place.

The Group also operates a number of plans in North America which principally cover healthcare and life assurance benefi ts for its retirees. The costs of these 

other post-retirement benefi ts are assessed by independent qualifi ed actuaries.

In accordance with IAS 19, and subject to materiality, the latest actuarial valuations of the Group’s defi ned benefi t pension schemes and healthcare plan have 

been reviewed and updated as at 31 December 2009. The following weighted average fi nancial assumptions have been adopted:

      United Kingdom    North America 

     2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

p.a. (%)

Discount rate      5.5   6.4  5.8  5.8   6.0  6.0

Rate of increase to pensionable salaries      3.9   3.5  4.7  4.0   4.0  4.0

Price inflation      3.4   2.5  3.2  2.2   2.0  2.8

Rate of increase to pensions in payment      3.2   2.5  3.2  –   –   –
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19. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits — continued

For the UK plan, the mortality assumptions are based on the recent actual mortality experience of members within the plan and the assumptions also allow for 

future mortality improvements. The life expectancy assumptions applying to the UK plan as at 31 December 2009 are as follows:

         Male Female

Life expectancy for a current 65 year old (years)         21.6   22.6

Life expectancy for a 65 year old in 15 years (years)         23.8   25.2

For the US post retirement medical plan, the immediate trend rate for medical benefi ts was 9.0%, which is assumed to reduce by 0.5% per annum to 5% in 

2018 onwards.

The fair value of the assets and liabilities of the schemes at each balance sheet date were:

   United Kingdom   North America   Total

  2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Assets

Equities    78.9   56.9   139.4   7.2   10.8   11.8   86.1   67.7   151.2 

Government bonds   9.8   8.2   160.0   –   7.2   7.2   9.8   15.4   167.2 

Corporate bonds   23.1   25.2   90.0   3.1   1.6   1.3   26.2   26.8   91.3 

Property    18.8   23.0   44.4   –   –   –   18.8   23.0   44.4 

Insurance policies   279.2   221.6   2.5   –   –   –   279.2   221.6   2.5 

Cash    1.4   8.3   20.3   10.5   1.0   1.2   11.9   9.3   21.5 

Total fair value of scheme assets   411.2   343.2   456.6   20.8   20.6   21.5   432.0   363.8   478.1 

Present value of defined benefit obligations 425.4   338.1   391.0   39.8   43.9   31.8   465.2   382.0   422.8 

Asset not recognised  –  5.1   65.6  –  –   –   –   5.1   65.6 

Liability recognised on the balance sheet  (14.2)  –   –  (19.0) (23.3) (10.3) (33.2) (23.3) (10.3)

The funding policy for the United Kingdom and majority of the North American schemes is reviewed on a systematic basis in consultation with the independent 

scheme actuary in order to ensure that the funding contributions from sponsoring employers are appropriate to meet the liabilities of the schemes over the 

long term.

Included within other receivables in the balance sheet are £4.0 million (2008: £4.0 million) of listed investments which are held in trust for the benefi t of members 

of the North American schemes. These amounts are not included within the assets shown in the table above as they are not controlled by the pension schemes 

in question.

A 1% increase in assumed medical cost trend rates would increase the aggregate charge in the income statement by £nil and increase the net liability by 

£0.1 million. A 1% decrease in assumed medical cost trend rates would reduce the aggregate charge in the income statement by £nil and reduce the net liability 

by £0.1 million.

A 0.25% decrease in the assumed discount rates on the UK plan would increase the net defi cit by £8.8 million to £22.2 million. A 0.25% increase in the assumed 

discount rate on the UK plan would change the position from a £13.4 million net defi cit to a £5.0 million net defi cit. The sensitivity of the defi cit to a 0.25% 

increase in the assumed rate of future price infl ation would be broadly similar to a 0.25% decrease in the assumed discount rate. Similarly, the sensitivity of the 

defi cit to a 0.25% decrease in the assumed rate of future price infl ation would be broadly similar to a 0.25% increase in the assumed discount rate.

      United Kingdom    North America 

     2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Long-Term Expected Return on Assets (%)

Equities       8.8   8.1   8.3   9.0   8.1   8.3

Government Bonds      4.5   3.9   4.5   –  2.8   4.5

Corporate Bonds      5.5   5.6   5.0  4.5   4.8   5.0

Other       5.7   6.5   6.8   3.3   1.4   4.7

The expected rates of return refl ect the Group’s best estimate of the investment returns (net of tax and expenses) that will be earned on each asset class over the 

long term. The long-term rates of return on bonds and other investments are set in line with market yields available at the balance sheet date. The long-term rate 

of return on equities is derived from considering current “risk free” rates of return with the addition of a future “risk premium”. The overall expected return on 

assets in the analysis of the income statement is based on weighted average returns using the above rates for each asset class, and taking into account the asset 

allocation in each plan. Included within Other returns in 2009 for the UK scheme are the expected returns on the Legal & General insurance annuity. These are 

set by reference to the discount rate used to calculate the present value of the corresponding defi ned benefi t obligation.
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19. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits — continued
      United Kingdom  North America  Total

     2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Analysis of income statement charge

Current service cost      1.9   3.3   0.2   0.2   2.1   3.5

Interest cost      21.0   22.2   2.3   1.9   23.3   24.1

Expected return on assets     (21.1) (25.4) (0.7) (1.1) (21.8) (26.5)

Gain due to settlements/curtailments and terminations    –  –   0.3   0.2   0.3   0.2 

Expense recognised in income statement      1.8   0.1   2.1   1.2   3.9   1.3 

Current and past service costs have been recognised in the income statement within administrative expenses. Net interest income has been recognised within 

investment income. Settlement losses have been recognised within other operating expenses and curtailment gains have been recognised within other 

operating income. 

      United Kingdom  North America  Total

     2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Changes to the present value of the defined benefit obligation during the year

Defined benefit obligation at beginning of year     338.1   391.0   43.9   31.8   382.0   422.8 

Current service cost      1.9   3.3   0.2   0.2   2.1   3.5 

Interest cost      21.0   22.2   2.3   1.9   23.3   24.1 

Contributions by plan participants      0.6   0.7   –   –   0.6   0.7 

Actuarial gains/(losses) on scheme liabilities*      86.5  (55.8)  0.9  (0.5)  87.4  (56.3)

Net benefits paid out     (22.7) (23.3) (3.1) (1.8) (25.8) (25.1)

Gains due to settlements and curtailments      –   –   0.3   0.2   0.3   0.2

Foreign currency exchange rate changes      –   –  (4.7)  12.1  (4.7)  12.1 

Defined benefit obligation at end of year     425.4 338.1 39.8 43.9 465.2 382.0

* Includes changes to the actuarial assumptions.

      United Kingdom  North America  Total

     2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Changes to the fair value of scheme assets during the year

Fair value of scheme assets at beginning of year     343.2   456.6   20.6   21.5   363.8   478.1 

Expected return on assets      21.1   25.4   0.7   1.1   21.8   26.5 

Actual employer contributions      3.2   6.8   1.7   0.7   4.9   7.5 

Contributions by plan participants      0.6   0.7   –   –   0.6   0.7 

Net benefits paid out     (22.7) (23.3) (3.1) (1.8) (25.8) (25.1)

Actuarial gains/(losses) on assets      65.8  (123.0)  3.1  (7.1)  68.9  (130.1)

Foreign currency exchange rate changes (if applicable)     –   –  (2.2)  6.2  (2.2)  6.2 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year      411.2   343.2   20.8   20.6   432.0   363.8 

      United Kingdom  North America  Total

     2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Actual return/(loss) on scheme assets      86.9  (97.6)  3.8  (6.0)  90.7  (103.6)

The prior year actual loss on scheme assets includes approximately £43 million in relation to the purchase of the annuity from Legal & General Group plc which 

arose due to the amount paid to the insurer being higher than the corresponding liabilities insured valued on an IAS 19 basis. On a funding basis, the amount 

paid was lower than the corresponding liabilities and therefore improved the funding position.

      United Kingdom  North America  Total

     2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Analysis of amounts recognised in SOCIE

Total actuarial (losses)/gains recognised in year    (20.7) (67.2)  2.2  (6.6) (18.5) (73.8)

Asset not recognised      5.1  (5.1)  –   –   5.1  (5.1)

      (15.6) (72.3)  2.2  (6.6) (13.4) (78.9)

Cumulative amount of (losses) recognised in SOCIE    (39.5) (18.8) (18.9) (21.1) (58.4) (39.9)

Cumulative losses of £3.8 million have been recognised in the SOCIE in relation to pension schemes outside of the UK and North America. These schemes 

related to businesses which have since been disposed of by the Group.
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19. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits — continued

History of Asset Values, Defi ned Benefi ts Obligation, Surplus/Defi cits in Schemes and Experience Gains and Losses

     United Kingdom     North America

 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Fair value of assets  411.2   343.2   456.6   452.9   436.8   20.8   20.6   21.5   24.2   62.7 

Defined benefits obligation  425.4   338.1   391.0   464.2   452.2   39.8   43.9   31.8   34.0   101.5 

(Deficit)/surplus (14.2)  5.1   65.6  (11.3) (15.4) (19.0) (23.3) (10.3) (9.8) (38.8)

Experience gains/(losses) on 

scheme assets  65.8  (123.0) (22.2)  1.4   37.5   3.1  (7.1) (0.4)  1.1   – 

Experience gains/(losses) on 

scheme liabilities  18.9  (5.0)  60.4  (0.6) (0.2)  0.3   0.5  (0.5) (1.9) (2.4)

     Rest of World     Total

 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Fair value of assets  –   –   –   –   0.6   432.0   363.8   478.1   477.1   500.1 

Defined benefits obligation  –   –   –   –   11.0   465.2   382.0   422.8   498.2   564.7 

(Deficit)/surplus  –   –   –   –  (10.4) (33.2) (18.2)  55.3  (21.1) (64.6)

Experience gains/(losses) on 

scheme assets  –   –   –   0.1   0.1   68.9  (130.1) (22.6)  2.6   37.6 

Experience gains/(losses) on

scheme liabilities  –   –   –   0.1  (2.8)  19.2  (4.5)  59.9  (2.4) (5.4)

        United North 
        Kingdom America Total

Employer contributions for 2010 are estimated to be as follows:      £2.5m £2.7m £5.2m

20. Deferred tax
    Fixed  Other Goodwill & Tax losses & Retirement Share-based 
     assets assets intangibles tax credits benefits payments Total
    £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Beginning of year    (27.0)  20.8  (35.7)  1.3   11.2   –  (29.4)

Charged in year     8.0  (8.5) (6.6)  5.1  (0.3)  –  (2.3)

Recognised directly in equity     –   –   –   –  (1.5)  –  (1.5)

Acquisitions/disposals     –   0.3  (0.3)  –   –   –   – 

Exchange adjustments     2.3  (1.8)  4.0  (0.2) (1.0)  –   3.3 

End of year    (16.7)  10.8  (38.6)  6.2  8.4  – (29.9)

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been off set. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after off set) for fi nancial reporting purposes:

         2009 2008
         £m £m

Deferred tax liabilities         (32.4) (32.6)

Deferred tax assets          2.5   3.2

          (29.9) (29.4)

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unrecognised deferred tax assets relating to tax losses and other temporary diff erences of £251.2 million (2008: 

£123.4 million) available for off set against future profi ts. These assets have not been recognised as the precise incidence of future profi ts in the relevant countries 

and legal entities cannot be accurately predicted at this time. Included in the unrecognised deferred tax asset is £0.6 million (2008: £0.3 million) which relates to 

losses which will expire by 2014. Other losses may be carried forward indefi nitely under current tax legislation. 

At the balance sheet date, the aggregate amount of temporary diff erences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities 

have not been recognised was £nil (2008: £36.6 million). No liability has been recognised in respect of these diff erences because the Group is in a position to 

control the timing of the reversal of the temporary diff erences and it is probable that such diff erences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Temporary diff erences arising in connection with interests in associates and joint ventures are insignifi cant.
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21. Share capital and reserves
        Allotted, called  
        up and fully paid  Authorised

       2009 2008 2009 2008
       millions millions millions millions

Share capital

Number of shares

Ordinary 2916/21p shares        423.3   412.5   756.0   504.0 

5% Cumulative preference £1 shares        0.2   0.2   0.2   0.2 

        £m   £m   £m   £m 

Nominal value of shares

Equity shares

Ordinary 2916/21p shares        126.0   122.7   225.0   150.0 

Non-equity shares

5% Cumulative preference £1 shares        0.2   0.2   0.2   0.2 

         0.2   0.2   0.2   0.2 

         126.2   122.9   225.2   150.2 

Issue of share capital

During the year, the Group issued 202,127 ordinary 2916/21p shares to satisfy the vesting of share awards under the BBA 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan and 1,613 

ordinary 2916/21p shares to satisfy options exercised under the BBA 2004 Savings-Related Share Option Scheme. The consideration of shares issued in respect of 

share options was £919.41.

During the year the Group issued 10,601,035 shares to satisfy subscriptions under the Scrip Dividend Scheme.
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Reserves attributable to equity interests

Share premium account

Beginning of year          346.4   346.4 

Issue of share capital and scrip dividend         (3.0)  – 

End of year          343.4   346.4 

Other reserves

Beginning and end of year          3.9   3.9 

Treasury reserve

Beginning of year         (3.4)  – 

Purchase of own shares         (0.2) (3.6)

Transfer to retained earnings          0.4   0.2 

End of year         (3.2) (3.4)

Capital reserve

Beginning of year          18.8   17.2 

Credit to equity for equity-settled share-based payments         2.5   1.8 

Transfer to retained earnings on exercise of equity-settled share-based payments      (1.5) (0.2)

End of year          19.8   18.8 

Hedging reserve

Beginning of year         (28.2) (1.2)

Increase/(decrease) in fair value of cash flow hedging derivatives        7.0  (35.3)

Transfer to income          13.3   8.3 

End of year         (7.9) (28.2)

Translation reserve

Beginning of year          39.1  (31.3)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations        (20.8)  70.4 

End of year          18.3   39.1 

Total other          30.9   30.2 

Retained earnings

Beginning of year         (62.1) (86.5)

Transfer from capital reserve on exercise of equity-settled share-based payments       1.5   0.2 

Transfer from treasury reserve         (0.4) (0.2)

Tax on items taken directly to reserves         (3.2)  6.4 

Actuarial losses         (13.4) (13.2)

Dividends paid         (21.9) (31.6)

Profit for the year          47.9   62.8 

          (51.6) (62.1)
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21. Share capital and reserves — continued

At 31 December 2009, 13,882 ordinary 2916/21p shares (2008: 13,882 shares) with a nominal value of £4,132 (2008: £4,132) and a market value of £22,766 (2008: 

£9,579) were held in the BBA Employee Benefi t Trust, a trust set up in 2006. EES Trustees International Limited, the trustees of the BBA Employment Benefi t Trust, 

has agreed to waive its dividend entitlement in certain circumstances. At 31 December 2009, 2,202,365 ordinary 2916/21p shares (2008: 2,126,445) with a nominal 

value of £655,466 (2007: £632,871) and a market value of £3,611,879 (2008: £1,467,247) were also held in the 1995 BBA Group Employee Share Trust. This included 

26,162 shares, being shares received on 6 November 2009 under the Scrip Dividend Scheme.

Rights of non-equity interests

5% Cumulative preference £1 shares:

i.  entitle holders, in priority to holders of all other classes of shares, to a fi xed cumulative preferential dividend at a rate of 5.0% per annum per share payable 

half yearly in equal amounts on 1 February and 1 August. 

ii.  on a return of capital on a winding up, or otherwise, will carry the right to repayment of capital together with a premium of 12.5p per share and a sum equal 

to any arrears or defi ciency of dividend; this right is in priority to the rights of the ordinary shareholders;

iii.  carry the right to attend and vote at a general meeting of the Company only if, at the date of the notice convening the meeting, payment of the dividend to 

which they are entitled is six months or more in arrears, or if a resolution is to be considered at the meeting for winding-up the Company or reducing its 

share capital or sanctioning the sale of the undertakings of the Company or varying or abrogating any of the special rights attaching to them.

Rights of equity interests

2916/21p Ordinary shares:

i.  carry no right to fi xed income.

ii.  on a return of capital on a winding up, or otherwise, will carry the right to repayment of capital; this right is subordinate to the rights of the preference 

shareholders.

iii.  carry the right to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company.

22. Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments

(i) Share options

The Group plan provides for a grant price equal to the average of the middle market price of a BBA Aviation share up to fi ve dealing days prior to the date of grant. 

The vesting period is generally three to four years. If the options remain unexercised after a period of 10 years from the date of grant, the options expire. 

Furthermore, options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before the options vest.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:
        2009  2008

        Weighted  Weighted
       Number average Number average
       of share exercise of share exercise
       options price options price

Outstanding at the beginning of the year        8,003,784   253p   10,184,446   258p 

Granted during the year        7,248,294   57p   –   – 

Exercised during the year       (96,297)  224p  (22,600)  153p 

Lapsed during the year       (2,410,874)  205p  (2,158,062)  278p 

Outstanding at the end of the year        12,744,907   149p   8,003,784   253p 

Exercisable at the end of the year        5,728,409   257p   7,259,995   258p 

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was 224p. The options outstanding at 31 December 2009 

had weighted average remaining contractual life of 43 months and an exercise price range of £1.53 to £3.71. Options over 7,248,294 shares were granted in the 

year as part of a save as you earn scheme implemented in the year.

The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted and calculated using the valuation 

technique most appropriate to each type of award. These include Black-Scholes calculations and Monte Carlo simulations. The inputs into the models were 

as follows:
        2009  2008

       Issued in  Issued in 
       March 2003 Others March 2003 Others

Weighted average share price (pence)       153 129 153 271

Weighted average exercise price (pence)       153 120 153 184

Expected volatility       39.8% 34.9% 12.0% 20.3%

Expected life (months)       13 38 10 25

Risk-free rate       2.8% 2.5% 4.1% 4.7%

Expected dividends       6.4% 5.7% 4.5% 3.4%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over the period of time equivalent to the remaining 

contractual life of the option. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the eff ects of non-

transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements — continued

22. Share-based payments — continued

Other share-based payment plan

The Company’s savings-related share option scheme is open to all eligible UK employees. Options are granted at a price equal to the average three-day middle 

market price of a BBA Aviation ordinary share prior to the date of grant, less 20%. Options are granted under three or fi ve-year SAYE contracts. The maximum 

overall employee contribution is £250 per month. Pursuant to this plan, the Group issued 1,613 ordinary shares in 2009 (2008: nil shares). 

(ii) Conditional shares

Details of the conditional share awards outstanding during the year are as follows:
         2009 2008
         Number  Number
         of shares  of shares

Outstanding at the beginning of the year          8,531,812   5,017,995 

Granted during the year          13,941,031   4,341,219 

Exercised during the year         (587,128) (95,833)

Lapsed during the year         (2,351,174) (731,569)

Outstanding at the end of the year          19,534,541   8,531,812

The awards outstanding at 31 December 2009 had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 12 months. The weighted average fair value of options 

granted in the year was 50p.

The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the shares granted and calculated using the valuation 

technique most appropriate to each type of award. These include Black-Scholes calculations and Monte Carlo simulations. The inputs into the model were 

as follows:
        2009  2008

       Issued in  Issued in 
       March 2009 Others March 2008 Others

Weighted average share price at issue (pence)       73   276   174   278 

Expected volatility       43.0% 21.9% 24.0% 21.4%

Expected life (months)        36   3   27   9 

Risk-free rate       1.8% 5.1% 3.8% 5.0%

Expected dividend yield       6.0% 3.7% 4.4% 3.9%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over the period of time equivalent to the remaining 

contractual life of the option. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the eff ects of non-

transferability, exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations.

(iii) Expense charged to income statement

The Group recognised total expenses of £2.7 million (2008: £1.5 million) related to equity-settled share-based payment transactions during the year.

(iv) Cash-settled share-based payments

The Group issues to certain employees share appreciation rights (SARs) that require the Group to pay the intrinsic value of the SAR to the employee at the date of 

exercise. The fair value of the SARs is determined using the valuation technique most appropriate to each type of award. These include Black-Scholes calculations 

and Monte Carlo simulations and use the assumptions noted in the above tables. The Group has recorded liabilities of £0.2 million (2008: £0.1 million) and a total 

credit of £0.2 million (2008: credit £0.8 million). The total intrinsic value of vested SARs at 31 December 2009 was £0.1 million (2008: £nil).
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23. Cash flow from operating activities
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Operating profit          82.3   104.7 

Share of profit from associates         (1.1) (1.0)

Profit from operations          81.2   103.7 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment         35.2   30.9 

Amortisation of intangible assets          7.4   4.8 

Profit/(loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment         0.2  (0.1)

Share-based payment expense          2.5   1.5 

Decrease in provisions         (0.7) (1.8)

Pension scheme payments         (2.7) (4.0)

Other non-cash items          1.9  –

Unrealised foreign exchange movements          1.7  –

Non-cash impairments          5.4   4.2 

Gain on disposal of businesses          0.4  –

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital        132.5   139.2 

Decrease in working capital          57.9   3.8 

Cash generated by operations          190.4   143.0 

Income taxes paid         (11.6) (16.6)

Net cash flow from operating activities          178.8   126.4 

Dividends received from associates          1.2   0.8 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment         (14.2) (29.5)

Purchase of intangible assets†         (4.5) (1.4)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment         0.7   1.1 

Interest received          17.5   30.6 

Interest paid         (41.3) (49.6)

Interest element of finance leases paid         (0.7) (1.2)

Free cash flow          137.5   77.2 

†  Purchase of intangible assets excludes £9.1 million (2008: £21.9 million) paid in relation to Ontic licences since the directors believe these payments are more akin to expenditure in relation to 

acquisitions, and are therefore outside of the Group’s definition of free cash flow. These amounts are included within purchase of intangible assets on the face of the cash flow statement.

24. Acquisition and disposal of businesses

There were no acquisitions in 2009.

In the prior year, on 8 April 2008, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Flygiene Limited, and on 6 June 2008 acquired 90% of the issued share 

capital of MES Handling GmbH & Co KG. During 2008 the Group also acquired the assets of Hawker Beechcraft Services Inc’s Line Service Operations. The 

purchase of six of the seven bases comprised within those operations was completed on 24 July 2008. The purchase of the seventh base at Van Nuys was 

completed on 3 October 2008. The total initial cash consideration for these businesses amounted to £76.4 million, with a maximum deferred cash consideration 

of £2.2 million. The directors performed an exercise to establish the fair value of the assets and liabilities of these acquisitions.

Two businesses were disposed of during the year. On 17 March 2009, a small propeller repair and overhaul facility based in Portsmouth, England was disposed of 

for a consideration of £0.4 million and incurred a loss of disposal of £1.5 million. On 21 August 2009 an FBO based in Indianapolis, Indiana was also disposed of for 

a consideration of £3.3 million and which made a profi t on disposal of £1.1 million.
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25. Contingent liabilities

The Group is party to legal proceedings and claims which arise in the normal course of business, including specifi c product liability and environmental claims. 

Any liabilities are likely to be mitigated by legal defences, insurance, reserves and third party indemnities.

Additionally, the Group has previously owned businesses that manufactured products containing asbestos. No BBA company has manufactured or sold any 

products or materials containing asbestos for many years. A small number of former BBA companies have been named as defendants to asbestos-related claims. 

When these companies were sold, BBA retained certain obligations to indemnify the purchasers against such claims. Notwithstanding such indemnity 

arrangements, the costs incurred by BBA in dealing with claims made against these former BBA companies have been immaterial to BBA. During the period 1989 

to 31 December 2009, BBA’s aggregate costs of defending and disposing of all asbestos-related claims, net of insurance coverage, were approximately £6.6 

million. BBA maintains a portfolio of insurance coverage in respect of the majority of such claims, including legal defence costs and liability cover. State operated 

compensation programmes have also provided coverage. On the basis of its past claims experience, BBA does not anticipate any material increase in the cost to 

it of resolving such claims.

Whilst the outcome of these claims are, by their nature, uncertain, the directors do not currently anticipate that the outcome of the proceedings and claims set 

out above either individually, or in aggregate, will materially exceed the insurance coverage or amounts provided as shown in note 18, and are not expected to 

have a material adverse eff ect upon the Group’s fi nancial position. 

26. Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. 

Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are detailed below.

Compensation of key management personnel

Key management are the directors and members of the Executive Committee.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

         2009 2008
         £m £m

Short-term benefits         6.0  4.1 

Post-employment benefits          0.7   0.5 

Share-based payments          0.7  (0.2)

          7.4  4.4 

Post-employment benefi ts include contributions of £0.3 million (2008: £0.3 million) in relation to defi ned contribution schemes.

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market 

trends. The directors’ remuneration is disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 52 to 59.

Other related party transactions

During the year, Group companies entered into the following transactions with related parties who are not members of the Group:

     Amounts owed by Amounts owed to
   Sales of goods Purchases of goods related parties related parties

   2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
   £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Associates   2.3 2.6 80.8 129.0 0.3 0.5 6.6 5.5

Purchases were made at market price discounted to refl ect the quantity of goods purchased and the relationships between the parties.

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or received.

At the balance sheet date, Group companies had loan receivables from an associated undertaking of £1.4 million (2008: £1.5 million). The loans are unsecured 

and will be settled in cash, and were made on terms which refl ect the relationships between the parties.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

to the members of BBA Aviation plc

We have audited the parent company fi nancial statements of BBA Aviation plc We have audited the parent company fi nancial statements of BBA Aviation plc 

for the year ended 31 December 2009 which comprise the Balance Sheet and for the year ended 31 December 2009 which comprise the Balance Sheet and 

the related notes 1 to 12. The fi nancial reporting framework that has been the related notes 1 to 12. The fi nancial reporting framework that has been 

applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 

Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in 

accordance with Chapter 3 part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work accordance with Chapter 3 part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work 

has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members 

those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for 

no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 

assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s 

members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 

have formed.have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the 

directors are responsible for the preparation of the parent company fi nancial directors are responsible for the preparation of the parent company fi nancial 

statements and for being satisfi ed that they give a true and fair view. Our statements and for being satisfi ed that they give a true and fair view. Our 

responsibility is to audit the parent company fi nancial statements in responsibility is to audit the parent company fi nancial statements in 

accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK 

and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 

Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the fi nancial statements suffi  cient to give reasonable assurance that the the fi nancial statements suffi  cient to give reasonable assurance that the 

fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 

fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies 

are appropriate to the parent company’s circumstances and have been are appropriate to the parent company’s circumstances and have been 

consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 

signifi cant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall signifi cant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall 

presentation of the fi nancial statements.presentation of the fi nancial statements.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the parent company fi nancial statements:In our opinion the parent company fi nancial statements:

—  give a true and fair view of the state of the parent company’s aff airs as at give a true and fair view of the state of the parent company’s aff airs as at 

31 December 2009;31 December 2009;

—  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; andGenerally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

—  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 

Companies Act 2006.Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion:In our opinion:

—  the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been 

properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; andproperly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and

—  the information given in the Directors’ Report for the fi nancial year for the information given in the Directors’ Report for the fi nancial year for 

which the fi nancial statements are prepared is consistent with the parent which the fi nancial statements are prepared is consistent with the parent 

company fi nancial statements.company fi nancial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the 

Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

—  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, 

or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches 

not visited by us; ornot visited by us; or

—  the parent company fi nancial statements and the part of the Directors’ the parent company fi nancial statements and the part of the Directors’ 

Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the 

accounting records and returns; oraccounting records and returns; or

—  certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specifi ed by law are not certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specifi ed by law are not 

made; ormade; or

—  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for we have not received all the information and explanations we require for 

our audit.our audit.

Other matter

We have reported separately on the Group fi nancial statements of BBA We have reported separately on the Group fi nancial statements of BBA 

Aviation plc for the year ended 31 December 2009.Aviation plc for the year ended 31 December 2009.

  

Nigel Mercer (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 

London, United KingdomLondon, United Kingdom

24 February 201024 February 2010
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Company Balance Sheet

         2009 2008
        Notes £m £m

Non-current assets                    

Tangible assets      

Land and buildings        3 Land and buildings        3  0.2  0.3   0.3 

Plant and machinery        3 Plant and machinery        3  0.1   0.1    0.1 

Investments        4          4  2,314.7   2,288.8   2,288.8 

Debtors due after one year        5         5  4.0  –  – 

Deferred tax asset                   2.6   3.5    3.5 

                      2,321.6   2,292.7    2,292.7 

Current assets      

Debtors due within one year        5 Debtors due within one year        5  634.0   1,207.2    1,207.2 

Cash at bank and in hand        7  Cash at bank and in hand        7  11.8   26.8    26.8 

                    645.8   1,234.0   1,234.0

Current liabilities      

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year      

Borrowings and finance leases        6 Borrowings and finance leases        6 (20.5) (4.5) (4.5)

Others         6 Others         6 (1,515.2) (1,867.7) (1,867.7)

Net current liabilities                  (889.9) (638.2) (638.2)

Total assets less current liabilities                    1,431.7  1,654.5   1,654.5 

Long-term liabilities      

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year      

Borrowings and finance leases        7, 8 Borrowings and finance leases        7, 8 (467.3) (596.4) (596.4)

Others         8 Others         8 (54.2) (116.1) (116.1)

Provisions for liabilities and charges         Provisions for liabilities and charges         (2.3) –  – 

Total net assets                   907.9   942.0   942.0 

Capital and reserves      

Called up share capital        10 Called up share capital        10  126.0   122.7   122.7 

Share premium account        10 Share premium account        10  343.3   346.4   346.4 

Revaluation reserve        10 Revaluation reserve        10  3.5   3.5   3.5 

Other         10 Other         10  243.2   234.3   234.3 

Profit and loss account        10  Profit and loss account        10  191.9   235.1   235.1 

Equity shareholders’ funds                   907.9   942.0   942.0 

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2010 and signed on its behalf byThese financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 24 February 2010 and signed on its behalf by

Simon Pryce Andrew Wood

Group Chief Executive Group Finance Director

In accordance with the exemptions permitted by s408 of the Companies Act 2006, the profi t and loss account of the Company has not been presented. The loss In accordance with the exemptions permitted by s408 of the Companies Act 2006, the profi t and loss account of the Company has not been presented. The loss 

for the fi nancial year in the accounts of the Company, after dividends from subsidiary undertakings, amounted to £22.5 million (2008: loss £149.0 million).for the fi nancial year in the accounts of the Company, after dividends from subsidiary undertakings, amounted to £22.5 million (2008: loss £149.0 million).

The auditors’ remuneration for audit and other services is disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated fi nancial statements.The auditors’ remuneration for audit and other services is disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated fi nancial statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet.The accompanying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet.
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Accounting policies

Basis of Accounting

The fi nancial statements have been prepared using the historical cost convention adjusted for the revaluation of certain fi xed assets and in accordance The fi nancial statements have been prepared using the historical cost convention adjusted for the revaluation of certain fi xed assets and in accordance 

with applicable United Kingdom accounting standards.with applicable United Kingdom accounting standards.

The fi nancial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with the rationale set out in the Directors’ statement of going concern on The fi nancial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with the rationale set out in the Directors’ statement of going concern on 

page 60 of the Directors’ report.page 60 of the Directors’ report.

The principal accounting policies are set out below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the year and preceding year.The principal accounting policies are set out below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the year and preceding year.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained in FRS 1 “Cash Flow Statements” and has not produced a cash fl ow statement.The Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained in FRS 1 “Cash Flow Statements” and has not produced a cash fl ow statement.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained in FRS 8 “Related Party Transactions” and has not reported transactions with fellow The Company has taken advantage of the exemption contained in FRS 8 “Related Party Transactions” and has not reported transactions with fellow 

Group undertakings.Group undertakings.
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Investments

In the Company’s fi nancial statements, investments in subsidiary and associated undertakings are stated at cost less provision for impairment.In the Company’s fi nancial statements, investments in subsidiary and associated undertakings are stated at cost less provision for impairment.

Treasury

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at that date. Any gain or loss arising from a change in exchange in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at that date. Any gain or loss arising from a change in exchange 

rates subsequent to the date of transaction is recognised in the income statement.rates subsequent to the date of transaction is recognised in the income statement.

Derivative fi nancial instruments utilised by the Group comprise interest rates swaps, cross currency or basis swaps and foreign exchange contracts. All such Derivative fi nancial instruments utilised by the Group comprise interest rates swaps, cross currency or basis swaps and foreign exchange contracts. All such 

instruments are used for hedging purposes to manage the risk profi le of an underlying exposure of the Group in line with the Group’s risk management policies. instruments are used for hedging purposes to manage the risk profi le of an underlying exposure of the Group in line with the Group’s risk management policies. 

All derivative instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. Recognition of gains or losses on derivative instruments depends on whether the All derivative instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. Recognition of gains or losses on derivative instruments depends on whether the 

instrument is designated as a hedge and the type of exposure it is designed to hedge.instrument is designated as a hedge and the type of exposure it is designed to hedge.

The eff ective portion of gains or losses on cash fl ow hedges are deferred in equity until the impact from the hedged item is recognised in the income statement. The eff ective portion of gains or losses on cash fl ow hedges are deferred in equity until the impact from the hedged item is recognised in the income statement. 

The ineff ective portion of such gains and losses is recognised in the income statement immediately.The ineff ective portion of such gains and losses is recognised in the income statement immediately.

Gains or losses on the qualifying part of net investment hedges are recognised in equity together with the gains and losses on the underlying net investment. Gains or losses on the qualifying part of net investment hedges are recognised in equity together with the gains and losses on the underlying net investment. 

The ineff ective portion of such gains and losses is recognised in the income statement immediately.The ineff ective portion of such gains and losses is recognised in the income statement immediately.

Changes in the fair value of the derivative fi nancial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income statement Changes in the fair value of the derivative fi nancial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the income statement 

as they arise.as they arise.

Pensions and other Post-Retirement Benefits

The Company provides pension arrangements to the majority of full-time employees through the Company’s defi ned benefi t scheme. It is not possible to The Company provides pension arrangements to the majority of full-time employees through the Company’s defi ned benefi t scheme. It is not possible to 

identify the share of underlying assets and liabilities in this scheme which is attributable to the Company on a consistent and reasonable basis. Therefore the identify the share of underlying assets and liabilities in this scheme which is attributable to the Company on a consistent and reasonable basis. Therefore the 

Company has applied the provisions in FRS17 to account for the scheme as if it was a defi ned contribution scheme.Company has applied the provisions in FRS17 to account for the scheme as if it was a defi ned contribution scheme.

The costs of pension plans and other post-retirement benefi ts are charged to the profi t and loss account so as to spread the costs over employees’ working lives The costs of pension plans and other post-retirement benefi ts are charged to the profi t and loss account so as to spread the costs over employees’ working lives 

within the Company. The contribution levels are determined by valuations undertaken by independent qualifi ed actuaries.within the Company. The contribution levels are determined by valuations undertaken by independent qualifi ed actuaries.

Share-Based Payments

The Company operates a number of cash and equity-settled share-based compensation plans. The fair value of the compensation is recognised in the income The Company operates a number of cash and equity-settled share-based compensation plans. The fair value of the compensation is recognised in the income 

statement as an expense. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted and statement as an expense. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted and 

calculated using the valuation technique most appropriate to each type of award. These include Black-Scholes calculations and Monte Carlo simulations. For calculated using the valuation technique most appropriate to each type of award. These include Black-Scholes calculations and Monte Carlo simulations. For 

cash-settled options, the fair value of the option is revisited at each balance sheet date. For both cash and equity-settled options, the Company revises its cash-settled options, the fair value of the option is revisited at each balance sheet date. For both cash and equity-settled options, the Company revises its 

estimates of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable at each balance sheet date.estimates of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable at each balance sheet date.

Tangible Fixed Assets

Plant and machinery, with the exception of tooling and motor vehicles, was professionally valued at 31 December 1988 on an existing use basis. Additions after Plant and machinery, with the exception of tooling and motor vehicles, was professionally valued at 31 December 1988 on an existing use basis. Additions after 

that date are stated in the balance sheet at cost. Land and buildings are stated at cost or valuation (performed in 1988). Other tangible fi xed assets are stated in that date are stated in the balance sheet at cost. Land and buildings are stated at cost or valuation (performed in 1988). Other tangible fi xed assets are stated in 

the balance sheet at cost. Depreciation is provided on the cost or valuation of tangible fi xed assets less estimated residual value and is calculated on a straight- the balance sheet at cost. Depreciation is provided on the cost or valuation of tangible fi xed assets less estimated residual value and is calculated on a straight- 

line basis over the following estimated useful lives of the assets:line basis over the following estimated useful lives of the assets:

Land       not depreciatedLand       not depreciated

Buildings       40 years maximumBuildings       40 years maximum

Plant and machinery (including essential commissioning costs) 3 – 18 years Plant and machinery (including essential commissioning costs) 3 – 18 years 

Tooling, vehicles, computer and offi  ce equipment are categorised within plant and machinery in note 3 of the accounts.Tooling, vehicles, computer and offi  ce equipment are categorised within plant and machinery in note 3 of the accounts.

The revaluation reserve consists of the surpluses on the revaluation of land and buildings to their market value for existing use and on the revaluation of plant The revaluation reserve consists of the surpluses on the revaluation of land and buildings to their market value for existing use and on the revaluation of plant 

and machinery to net current replacement cost. The directors are not aware of any material change to the value of these assets since the last revaluation.and machinery to net current replacement cost. The directors are not aware of any material change to the value of these assets since the last revaluation.

  

Leases

Where assets are fi nanced by lease agreements that give rights similar to ownership (fi nance leases), the assets are treated as if they had been purchased and the Where assets are fi nanced by lease agreements that give rights similar to ownership (fi nance leases), the assets are treated as if they had been purchased and the 

leasing commitments are shown as obligations to the lessors. The capitalisation values of the assets are written off  on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the leasing commitments are shown as obligations to the lessors. The capitalisation values of the assets are written off  on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the 

periods of the leases or the useful lives of the assets concerned. The capital elements of future lease obligations are recorded as liabilities, while the interest periods of the leases or the useful lives of the assets concerned. The capital elements of future lease obligations are recorded as liabilities, while the interest 

elements are charged to the profi t and loss account over the period of the leases to produce a constant rate of charge on the balance of capital payments elements are charged to the profi t and loss account over the period of the leases to produce a constant rate of charge on the balance of capital payments 

outstanding.outstanding.

For all other leases (operating leases) the rental payments are charged to the profi t and loss account on a straight-line basis over the lives of the leases.For all other leases (operating leases) the rental payments are charged to the profi t and loss account on a straight-line basis over the lives of the leases.

Taxation

The charge for taxation is based on the profi t for the year and takes into account taxation deferred due to timing diff erences between the treatment of certain The charge for taxation is based on the profi t for the year and takes into account taxation deferred due to timing diff erences between the treatment of certain 

items for taxation and accounting purposes. Deferred tax is provided in full on all liabilities. In accordance with FRS 19, deferred tax assets are recognised to the items for taxation and accounting purposes. Deferred tax is provided in full on all liabilities. In accordance with FRS 19, deferred tax assets are recognised to the 

extent it is regarded that it is more likely than not that they will be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities have not been discounted. Deferred tax is not extent it is regarded that it is more likely than not that they will be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities have not been discounted. Deferred tax is not 

provided on timing diff erences arising from the sale or revaluation of fi xed assets unless, at the balance sheet date, a binding commitment to sell the asset has provided on timing diff erences arising from the sale or revaluation of fi xed assets unless, at the balance sheet date, a binding commitment to sell the asset has 

been entered into and it is unlikely that any gain will qualify for rollover relief. been entered into and it is unlikely that any gain will qualify for rollover relief. 

Accounting policies — continued
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1. Dividends

On 22 May 2009, the 2008 fi nal dividend of 5.30p per share (total dividend £21.9 million) was paid to shareholders. £6.1 million of the 2008 fi nal dividend was 

taken up in the form of shares under the Scrip Dividend Scheme. In May 2008, the 2007 fi nal dividend paid was 5.35p per share (total dividend £22.1 million).

On 6 November 2009, the 2009 interim dividend of 2.30p per share (total dividend £9.7 million) was paid to shareholders. £3.6 million of the 2009 interim 

dividend was taken up in the form of shares under the Scrip Dividend Scheme. In November 2008, the 2008 interim dividend paid was 2.30p per share (total 

dividend £9.5 million).

In respect of the current year, the directors propose that a fi nal dividend of 5.30p per share will be paid to shareholders on 21 May 2010. This dividend is subject to 

approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and in accordance with FRS 21 ”Events after the Balance Sheet Date” has not been included as a liability 

in these fi nancial statements. The proposed dividend is payable to all shareholders on the Register of Members on 5 March 2010. The total estimated dividend to 

be paid is £22.4 million.

The Company operates a Scrip Dividend Scheme which provides shareholders with the opportunity to receive their dividends in the form of new ordinary 

shares in the Company instead of cash. Accompanying this report is a separate circular setting out the terms and conditions of the Scrip Dividend Scheme. 

Mandate forms containing elections to join the Scrip Dividend Scheme must be received by the Company’s registrar no later than 22 April 2010 in order to be 

eff ective for the 2009 fi nal dividend.

2. Directors

Emoluments and interests

Details of directors’ emoluments and interests are provided within the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 52 to 59.

         2009 2008
Employees         Number Number

Average monthly number (including Executive Directors)        29 35

         £m £m

Employment costs

Wages and salaries          5.9   5.6 

Social security costs          0.5   0.6 

Pension costs          0.4   0.9 

           6.8   7.1

3. Tangible fixed assets
     Land and Plant and  Land and Plant and
     buildings machinery Total buildings machinery Total
     2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008
     £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost or valuation

Beginning of year     0.6 0.9 1.5  0.5 0.9 1.4

Additions      – 0.1 0.1  0.1 0.1  0.2

Asset write-downs     – – – – (0.1) (0.1)

End of year     0.6 1.0 1.6  0 .6 0.9 1.5

Accumulated depreciation

Beginning of year     0.3 0.8 1.1  0.2 0.8 1.0

Provided during the year      0.1  0.1 0.2  0.1  0.1  0.2

Asset write-downs     – – – – (0.1) (0.1)

End of year     0.4 0.9 1.3  0.3 0.8 1.1

Net book value end of year

Owned assets     – 0.1 0.1  – 0.1 0.1

Leased assets     0.2  – 0.2  0.3  –  0.3

      0.2 0.1 0.3  0.3 0.1 0.4

         2009 2008
         £m £m

Land and buildings

Short leasehold          0.2   0.3 

           0.2   0.3
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4. Fixed asset investments
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Subsidiary undertakings

Cost of shares

Beginning of year          2,239.7   2,170.5 

Additions          –   69.2 

End of year          2,239.7   2,239.7 

Provisions

Beginning of year         (54.3) (54.3)

Reversal of impairment loss          25.9  –

End of year         (28.4) (54.3)

Net book value end of year          2,211.3   2,185.4 

Loans to subsidiary undertakings

Beginning and end of year          103.4   103.4 

Total

Fixed asset investments          2,314.7   2,288.8 

5. Debtors
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Trade debtors

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings          620.2   1,145.5 

Other debtors, prepayments and accrued income        13.8  61.7 

Debtors due within one year          634.0   1,207.2 

Other debtors due after one year          4.0  – 

6. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Borrowings (note 7)

Bank loans and overdrafts          20.5   4.5 

           20.5   4.5 

Others

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings          1,501.1   1,830.7 

Other taxation and social security           0.1   0.2 

Other creditors         7.5  14.5 

Accruals and deferred income          6.5  22.3 

           1,515.2   1,867.7 

Creditor days for the Company for the year were an average of 37 days (2008: 29 days).
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7. Borrowings
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Borrowings summary

Medium-term loans

Repayable between two and five years          467.3   596.4 

           467.3   596.4 

Short-term

Overdrafts, borrowings and finance leases repayable within one year        20.5   4.5 

Total borrowings and finance leases          487.8   600.9 

Cash at bank and in hand         (11.8) (26.8)

Net borrowings and finance leases          476.0   574.1 

Borrowings analysis:

Unsecured

Bank loans and overdrafts

Sterling           24.2   21.7 

US dollar           463.0   579.2 

Euro           0.3  –

Canadian dollar          0.3  – 

Total borrowings and finance leases          487.8   600.9 

Cash at bank and in hand         (11.8) (26.8)

Net borrowings and finance leases          476.0   574.1 

The interest rates on unsecured loans range from 0.5% to 2.3% per annum and repayments are due at varying dates up to 2012.

Operating Lease Commitments

Land and buildings

Within one year          0.5   0.5 

One to five years          0.7   1.2 

           1.2   1.7 

Contingent liabilities

Guarantees of subsidiary undertakings’ overdrafts or loans and other guarantees       17.3   46.9 

Additional detail of contingent liabilities are provided within note 25 to the consolidated fi nancial statements.

Foreign currency contracts

At 31 December 2009, the Group had £124.6 million (2008: £356.2 million) of forward contracts to buy/sell foreign currency.

8. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Borrowings (note 7)

Bank loans          467.3   596.4 

Others

Other creditors          54.2   116.1 

           521.5   712.5
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9. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
         2009 2008
         £m £m

Loss for the period         (22.5) (149.0)

Equity dividends         (21.8) (31.6)

          (44.3) (180.6)

Fair value movements in interest rate cash flow hedges        – (14.9)

Credit to equity for equity-settled share-based payments         2.5   1.8 

Movement on treasury reserve         (0.2) (3.6)

Tax on items recognised directly in equity         –  1.5 

Transfer to profit or loss from equity on interest rate hedges       7.7  2.8 

Issue of shares         0.2 – 

Net movement in shareholders’ funds for the period        (34.1) (193.0)

Shareholders’ funds at beginning of period          942.0   1,135.0 

Shareholders’ funds at end of period          907.9   942.0

10. Capital and reserves

Details of Company Share Capital are provided within note 21 to the consolidated fi nancial statements.
         2009 2008
          £m   £m 

Reserves attributable to equity interests

Share premium account

Beginning of year          346.4   346.4 

Issue of share capital and scrip dividend         (3.1) – 

End of year         343.3   346.4 

Revaluation reserve

Beginning and end of year          3.5   3.5 

Other

Merger reserve

Beginning and end of year          99.3   99.3 

Capital reserve

Beginning of year          151.6   150.0 

Credit to equity for equity-settled share-based payments         2.5   1.8 

Transfer to retained earnings on exercise of equity-settled share-based payments      (1.5) (0.2)

End of year          152.6   151.6 

Treasury reserve

Beginning of year         (3.4) –

Purchase of own shares         (0.2) (3.6)

Transferred to Profit and Loss account          0.4   0.2 

End of year         (3.2) (3.4)

Hedging reserve

Beginning of year         (13.2) (1.1)

Decrease in fair value of interest rate cash flow hedging derivatives       – (14.9)

Transfer to income          7.7   2.8 

End of year         (5.5) (13.2)

Total other          243.2   234.3 

Profit and loss account

Beginning of year          235.1   414.2 

Transfer from capital reserve on exercise of equity-settled share-based payments       1.5   0.2 

Transfer from treasury reserve          (0.4) (0.2)

Tax on items recognised directly in equity         –  1.5 

Loss for the period         (22.5) (149.0)

Equity dividends         (21.8) (31.6)

End of year          191.9   235.1 

At 31 December 2009, 13,882 ordinary 2916⁄21p shares (2008: 13,882 shares) with a nominal value of £4,132 (2008: £4,132) and a market value of £22,766 (2008: 

£9,579) were held in the BBA Employee Benefi t Trust, a trust set up in 2006. EES Trustees International Limited, the trustees of the BBA Employment Benefi t Trust, 

has agreed to waive its dividend entitlement in certain circumstances. At 31 December 2009, 2,202,365 ordinary 2916⁄21p shares (2008: 2,126,445) with a nominal 

value of £655,466 (2008: £632,871) and a market value of £3,611,879 (2008: £1,467,247) were also held in the 1995 BBA Group Employee Share Trust. This included 

26,162 shares, being shares received on 6 November 2009 under the Scrip Dividend Scheme.
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements — continued

11. Share-based payments

Details of share-based payments are provided within note 22 to the consolidated fi nancial statements.

12. Pension and other post-retirement benefits

The Company operates a defi ned benefi t pension scheme in the United Kingdom, assets are held in a separate trustee-administered fund. Contributions to the 

scheme are made and pension cost is assessed using the projected unit method.

Details of the UK Scheme are provided within note 19 to the consolidated fi nancial statements.

Principal Subsidiary Undertakings

The following is a list of the principal subsidiary undertakings of the Group at 31 December 2009, each of which is wholly-owned unless otherwise stated. 

A complete list of subsidiary and associated undertakings is fi led with the Company’s Annual Return.     
         Country of incorporation
         and principal operation

Signature Flight Support Paris SA         France

APPH Limited         United Kingdom

APPH Aviation Services Limited         United Kingdom

ASIG Limited         United Kingdom

Balderton Aviation Holdings Limited*         United Kingdom

H+S Aviation Limited*         United Kingdom

Signature Flight Support London Luton Limited        United Kingdom

Signature Flight Support Heathrow Limited         United Kingdom

Signature Flight Support UK Regions Limited         United Kingdom

Aircraft Service International Group Incorporated        USA

APPH Wichita Incorporated         USA

APPH Houston Incorporated         USA

Barrett Turbine Engine Company         USA

Dallas Airmotive Incorporated         USA

Executive Beechcraft Incorporated         USA

International Governor Services LLC         USA

Ontic Engineering and Manufacturing Incorporated        USA

Signature Flight Support Corporation         USA

*Shares held by BBA Aviation plc. 
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      2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
      £m £m £m £m £m

Income Statement     

Revenue       1,080.8   1,156.1   979.4   950.1   875.1 

Underlying operating profit (continuing operations)      100.5   109.7   105.7   102.8   83.0 

Exceptional items      (18.2) (5.0)  24.4  (8.0) (23.8)

Interest (net)      (22.3) (20.5) (19.3) (24.6) (20.9)

Profit before tax       60.0   84.2   110.8   70.2   38.3 

Tax       (14.5) (21.3) (23.6) (20.7) (7.1)

Profit for the period from continuing operations      45.5   62.9   87.2   49.5   31.2 

(Loss)/profit after tax from discontinued operations     – – – (76.2)  22.6 

Profit/(loss) on disposal of disposed businesses     – – –  16.5   21.5 

Profit/(loss) for the period       45.5   62.9   87.2  (10.2)  75.3 

Minority interests       2.4  (0.1)  0.2  (0.1) (0.2)

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders      47.9   62.8   87.4  (10.3)  75.1 

Earnings per share

Basic:

Adjusted       14.6p 16.1p  15.4p  14.9p  18.4p 

Unadjusted      11.4p  15.3p  21.2p  (2.2)p  15.9p 

Diluted:     

Adjusted        14.4p 16.0p  15.3p  14.9p  18.2p 

Unadjusted      11.3p  15.2p  21.1p  (2.1)p  15.8p 

Dividends     

Dividends per ordinary share      7.6p  7.6p  7.6p  8.5p  11.8p 

     

Balance sheet     

Employment of capital     

Non-current assets       927.8   1,067.2   709.2   689.0   1,233.3 

Net current assets       136.6   205.6   165.7   199.2   318.6 

Total assets less current liabilities       1,064.4   1,272.8   874.9   888.2   1,551.9 

Non-current liabilities      (567.0) (784.7) (461.6) (527.2) (692.9)

Provisions for liabilities and charges      (50.3) (50.1) (41.4) (38.5) (122.9)

        447.1   438.0   371.9   322.5   736.1 

Capital employed     

Called up share capital       126.0   122.7   122.7   122.5   121.6 

Reserves        322.7  314.5   248.5   199.2   614.2 

Shareholders’ funds       448.7   437.2   371.2   321.7   735.8 

Minority interests      (1.6)  0.8   0.7   0.8   0.3 

        447.1   438.0   371.9   322.5   736.1 

Capital expenditure       18.7   30.9   39.8   91.8   73.3 

Number of employees, end of year       9,540   10,557   10,317   10,757   14,070

Five Year Summary
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Shareholder Information

Analysis of shareholdings

     % of
 Number of % of  Number of share
 shareholders total   shares capital

Size of holding

Ordinary 

shareholdings

at 31 December 

2009

1–1,000 2,079 47.60  835,529 0.20

1,001–5,000 1,530 35.04  3,385,720 0.80

5,001–10,000 257 5.89  1,824,540 0.43

10,001–50,000 202 4.63  4,422,074 1.04

50,001–100,000 52 1.19  3,761,869 0.89

100,001–

upwards 247 5.65  409,027,902 96.64

  4,367 100.00  423,257,634 100.00

Holders

Individuals 3,426 78.45  10,209,669 2.41

Pension funds 6 0.14  27,794 0.01

Nominee 

and other 

companies 894 20.47  411,623,979 97.26

Others 41 0.94  1,396,192 0.33

  4,367 100.00  423,257,634 100.00

Scrip Dividend Scheme

The Company operates a Scrip Dividend Scheme which provides shareholders 

with the opportunity to receive their dividends in the form of new ordinary 

shares in the Company instead of cash. Further details can be obtained from 

the Company’s registrars.

Share dealing service

A share dealing service is available for UK shareholders from Capita Share 

Dealing Services to either sell or buy BBA Aviation plc shares. For further 

information on this service, please contact: www.capitadeal.com (on-line 

dealing) or 0871 664 0445 (telephone dealing). Calls cost 10p per minute plus 

network charges. Lines are open 8.30 am – 5.30 pm Mon – Fri.

ShareGift

Shareholders with a small number of shares, the value of which makes it 

uneconomical to sell, may wish to consider donating them to charity through 

ShareGift a registered charity (charity no. 1052686). Further information is 

available by visiting www.sharegift.org or by telephoning ShareGift on 

020 7930 3737.

Individual Savings Accounts

The Company offers an Individual Savings Account (ISA) through Barclays 

Stockbrokers Limited for BBA Aviation plc shares and other qualifying shares 

and cash. In the tax year ending 5 April 2010, the annual subscription 

allowance is £7,200 of which a maximum of £3,600 can be held in cash. 

However, with effect from 6 October 2009 any person aged 50 on or before 

5 April 2010 can subscribe a maximum of £10,200 of which a maximum of 

£5,100 can be held in cash. To register and receive an information pack, please 

call 0845 6013000. Calls are charged at local rates; you can only use this 

number if you are calling from the UK. For clients’ security, calls may be 

recorded and randomly monitored.

  Barclays Stockbrokers is the Group name for the business of: Barclays 

Stockbrokers Limited, a member of the London Stock Exchange and PLUS, 

Registered No 1986161; Barclays Sharedealing, Registered No 2092410; 

Barclays Bank Trust Company Limited, Registered No 920880. Registered VAT 

no. 243 8522 62. All companies are registered in England and the registered 

address is: 1 Churchill Place, London E14 5HP. All companies are authorised 

and regulated by the Financial Services Authority.

Key dates     Date payable

Financial calendar

Dividend and interest payments

Ordinary shares:

 final 2009   May

 interim 2010   November

5% cumulative preference shares  February and August

    Date announced

Announcement of Group results

Half year result   August

Annual results   February

Report and accounts  Posted March

Interim Management Statements  April and November

Share price information

The price of the Company’s shares is available from the voice-activated 

Financial Times Cityline Service: BBA Aviation plc ordinary shares – telephone: 

09058 171 690 then say BBA Aviation. Calls are charged at 75p per minute from 

a BT landline. Average call duration will be one minute for one stock quote. 

Cost from other networks and mobile phones may be higher.

  For the purpose of Capital Gains Tax calculations, the base cost of 

the old BBA Group plc shares held immediately before the demerger on 

17 November 2006 has to be apportioned between BBA Aviation plc shares 

and Fiberweb plc shares. The ratio is BBA Aviation plc shares 84.73%: Fiberweb 

plc shares 15.27%. This is based on the respective market values on 

17 November 2006, determined according to CGT rules at that time, of 

281.155p for BBA Aviation plc shares and 170.5p for Fiberweb plc shares. This 

information is provided as indicative guidance. Any person wishing to 

calculate their Capital Gains Tax should take their own financial advice from 

their accountant or other authorised financial adviser and if they are in any 

doubt about their taxation position they should obtain professional advice.

Registered office

20 Balderton Street, London W1K 6TL

Telephone: 020 7514 3999 Fax: 020 7408 2318

http://www.bbaaviation.com

Web enquiries to: info@bbaaviation.com

Registered in England

Company number: 53688

Company’s registrars

Capita Registrars, Northern House, Woodsome Park,

Fenay Bridge, Huddersfield HD8 0GA

Telephone: 0871 664 0300 (calls cost 10p per minute plus network charges). 

Lines are open 8.30 am – 5.30 pm Mon – Fri.

From outside the UK: +44 20 8639 3399

e-mail shareholder.services@capitaregistrars.com

http://www.capitaregistrars.com

  Please contact the registrars directly if you wish to advise a change 

of name, address or dividend mandate or wish to participate in the Scrip 

Dividend Scheme.

  You can access general shareholder information and personal 

shareholding details from our registrars’ website. Our registrars provide a 

share portal through which you can view up to date information and manage 

your shareholding. You can register for this service via www.capitashareportal.

com. You will require your unique holder code, which can be found on your 

share certificate or dividend tax voucher, to register for the share portal service 

or to access other information from the registrar’s website.

  Beneficial owners of shares who have been nominated by the 

registered holder of those shares to receive information rights under section 

146 of the Companies Act 2006 are required to direct all communications to 

the registered holder of their shares, not to the Company’s registrars, Capita 

Registrars, or to the Company.
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This Annual Report is addressed solely to members of BBA Aviation plc as a body. Neither the Company nor its directors accept 
or assume responsibility to any person for this Annual Report beyond the responsibilities arising from the production of this 
Annual Report under the requirements of applicable English company law. Sections of this Annual Report, including the 
Directors’ Report and Directors’ Remuneration Report contain forward-looking statements including, without limitation, 
statements relating to: future demand and markets of the Group’s products and services; research and development relating 
to new products and services; liquidity and capital; and implementation of restructuring plans and efficiencies. These forward-
looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that will or may 
occur in the future.

Accordingly, actual results may differ materially from those set out in the forward-looking statements as a result of a variety of 
factors including, without limitation: changes in interest and exchange rates, commodity prices and other economic conditions; 
negotiations with customers relating to renewal of contracts and future volumes and prices; events affecting international 
security, including global health issues and terrorism; changes in regulatory environment; and the outcome of litigation. The 
Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise. Pages 3 to 60 inclusive consist of a directors’ report and directors’ remuneration report 
that have been drawn up and presented in accordance with and in reliance upon applicable English company law 
and the liabilities of the directors in connection with that report shall be subject to the limitations and restrictions provided by 
such law.
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Covers and pages 1-40 are printed on Marazion Ultra paper. Marazion Ultra is produced using chemical woodfree pulp, it is 
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Dioxide and not Chlorine gas. This production method produces Elemental Chlorine Free (ECF) pulp which is less harmful to 
the environment. The inks used are all vegetable oil based.

Pages 41-104 are printed on Tauro Offset paper. Tauro Offset is fully recyclable and biodegradable, produced at a mill that holds 
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